Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: October 2, 2017 REVISED: January 12, 2018 ACCEPTED: January 14, 2018 PUBLISHED: January 22, 2018

# The holographic dual of the Penrose transform

# Yasha Neiman

Okinawa Institute of Science and Technology, 1919-1 Tancha, Onna-son, Okinawa 904-0495, Japan

E-mail: yashula@gmail.com

ABSTRACT: We consider the holographic duality between type-A higher-spin gravity in  $AdS_4$  and the free U(N) vector model. In the bulk, linearized solutions can be translated into twistor functions via the Penrose transform. We propose a holographic dual to this transform, which translates between twistor functions and CFT sources and operators. We present a twistorial expression for the partition function, which makes global higher-spin symmetry manifest, and appears to automatically include all necessary contact terms. In this picture, twistor space provides a fully nonlocal, gauge-invariant description underlying both bulk and boundary spacetime pictures. While the bulk theory is handled at the linear level, our formula for the partition function includes the effects of bulk interactions. Thus, the CFT is used to solve the bulk, with twistors as a language common to both. A key ingredient in our result is the study of ordinary spacetime symmetries within the fundamental representation of higher-spin algebra. The object that makes these "square root" spacetime symmetries manifest becomes the kernel of our boundary/twistor transform, while the original Penrose transform is identified as a "square root" of CPT.

KEYWORDS: AdS-CFT Correspondence, Higher Spin Symmetry, Higher Spin Gravity, Conformal Field Theory

ARXIV EPRINT: 1709.08050



# Contents

| 1        | Introduction                   |   |    |  |  |  |
|----------|--------------------------------|---|----|--|--|--|
| <b>2</b> | Summary of results             |   |    |  |  |  |
|          | 2.1                            | Penrose transform   | 3  |  |  |  |
|          | 2.2                            | Holographic dual of the Penrose transform                                       | 4  |  |  |  |
|          | 2.3                            | 3 Avoiding contact terms  |    |  |  |  |
| 3        | Spa                            | Spacetime and twistor geometry  |    |  |  |  |
|          | 3.1                            | Spacetime   | 7  |  |  |  |
|          |                                | 3.1.1 Bulk and boundary   | 7  |  |  |  |
|          |                                | 3.1.2 Massless scalars and conserved currents on the boundary                   | 8  |  |  |  |
|          | 3.2                            | Twistors  | 10 |  |  |  |
|          |                                | 3.2.1 Index-free notation   | 11 |  |  |  |
|          |                                | 3.2.2 Twistor integrals   | 11 |  |  |  |
|          | 3.3                            | Bulk spinors  |    |  |  |  |
|          | 3.4                            | Boundary spinors  | 14 |  |  |  |
|          |                                | 3.4.1 Boundary currents in spinor form  | 15 |  |  |  |
|          |                                | 3.4.2 More on the bulk-to-boundary limit  | 16 |  |  |  |
|          | 3.5                            | Bulk and boundary spinor spaces on an equal footing                             | 17 |  |  |  |
|          |                                | 3.5.1 Integrals over spinor spaces  | 18 |  |  |  |
| 4        | Higher-spin algebra            |   |    |  |  |  |
|          | 4.1                            | 4.1 Spacetime-independent structure   |    |  |  |  |
|          | 4.2                            | Structure at a bulk point   |    |  |  |  |
|          | 4.3                            | Structure at a boundary point   | 23 |  |  |  |
|          | 4.4                            | Structure at two and more points  | 25 |  |  |  |
|          |                                | 4.4.1 The general two-point product   | 25 |  |  |  |
|          |                                | 4.4.2 Properties of the boundary-boundary product                               | 26 |  |  |  |
| <b>5</b> | Linearized higher-spin gravity |   |    |  |  |  |
|          | 5.1                            | Free massless fields in $EAdS_4$  | 27 |  |  |  |
|          | 5.2                            | The Penrose transform   | 28 |  |  |  |
|          | 5.3                            | Unfolded formulation and the higher-spin-covariant perspective                  | 30 |  |  |  |
|          | 5.4                            | Antipodal symmetry  | 32 |  |  |  |
| 6        | Hig<br>trai                    | Higher-spin representation of spacetime symmetries and the Penrose<br>transform |    |  |  |  |
|          | 6.1                            | Clifford algebra  | 34 |  |  |  |
|          | 6.2                            | Higher-spin algebra   | 36 |  |  |  |
|          |                                | 6.2.1 Rotations by $2\pi$ and the antipodal map                                 | 38 |  |  |  |
|          | 6.3                            | The null limit  | 39 |  |  |  |
|          | 6.4                            | Manifest $SO(1, 4)$ in the higher-spin fundamental                              | 40 |  |  |  |
|          |                                |   |    |  |  |  |

| _            |
|--------------|
| Ч            |
| H            |
| E            |
| Д            |
| $\bigcirc$   |
| $\vdash$     |
| $\frown$     |
| $\mathbb{N}$ |
| $\bigcirc$   |
| $\vdash$     |
| $\odot$      |
| $\smile$     |
| $\vdash$     |
| $\bigcirc$   |
| $\bigcirc$   |

| 7 | The   | e CFT  | in higher-spin-covariant twistor language             | 41         |  |  |
|---|---|--|---|------------|--|--|
|   | 7.1 Overview  |  |   |            |  |  |
|   | <ul><li>7.2 Local language</li><li>7.3 Bilocal language</li></ul> |  |   | $42 \\ 43$ |  |  |
|   |   |  |   |            |  |  |
|   | 7.4   | Twistor language   |   | 45         |  |  |
|   |   | 7.4.1  | From bilocals to twistor functions                    | 45         |  |  |
|   |   | 7.4.2  | The partition function in twistor language            | 46         |  |  |
|   |   | 7.4.3  | The single-trace currents in twistor space            | 47         |  |  |
| 8 | Holography  |  |   |            |  |  |
|   | 8.1   | 1 The basic dictionary   |   |            |  |  |
|   | 8.2   | 50   |   |            |  |  |
|   |   | 8.2.1  | Spin 0  | 50         |  |  |
|   |   | 8.2.2  | Spin $\geq 1$ : chiral field strengths                | 52         |  |  |
|   |   | 8.2.3  | Spin $\geq 1$ : electric and magnetic field strengths | 54         |  |  |
|   | 8.3   | Electric fields at infinity from a bilocal boundary source             |   |            |  |  |
|   | 8.4   | Boundary currents from a bilocal source                                |   |            |  |  |
|   | 8.5   | General boundary currents and the extent of the holographic dictionary |   |            |  |  |
| 9 | Discussion  |  |   |            |  |  |

# 1 Introduction

Quantum spacetime is infamously difficult to address directly. This leads one to search for alternative geometric frameworks, which may survive the breakdown of locality at the Planck scale. The most productive approach to date is AdS/CFT [1-3] — a retreat from the bulk spacetime onto its asymptotic boundary. There, one can operate with a fixed classical geometry, since the Planck length effectively vanishes due to an infinite warp factor. AdS/CFT relates two spacetime pictures, with two different notions of locality: an approximate locality in the higher-dimensional bulk, and a precise locality on the lower-dimensional boundary. The duality itself is of necessity non-local. Furthermore, the bulk and boundary pictures each contain a different set of gauge redundancies — the well-known price of locality — which are absent in the dual picture. A question then suggests itself: is there some third geometric framework, completely divorced from spacetime locality, underlying both the bulk and boundary descriptions? To find such a framework, one must focus on nonlocal, gauge-invariant objects in both bulk and boundary. Such is arguably the strategy behind the study of Ryu-Takayanagi surfaces [4], kinematic space in the context of MERA [5], and other such relations between quantum-informational quantities and bulk geometry.

At the same time, there exists a much older proposal for a geometric framework to replace spacetime: Penrose's twistor theory [6, 7]. There, we effectively trade locality for causality as the fundamental principle, replacing points with twistors — the "maximally

lightlike" extended shapes in spacetime. Originally conceived as a framework for quantum General Relativity, twistor theory has now become a workhorse for scattering amplitude calculations in maximally supersymmetric Yang-Mills [8] and supergravity [9]. Might it be possible, then, to use twistor space as a basis for the non-local description underlying both bulk and boundary in AdS/CFT?

In the present paper, we answer this question in the affirmative, in the context of one simple model — the duality [10] between type-A higher-spin gravity in  $AdS_4$  and a free U(N) vector model on its 3d boundary. Higher-spin gravity [11, 12] is an interacting theory of infinitely many massless fields, in this case one for each integer spin. On the boundary, these fields are dual to an infinite tower of conserved currents in the free CFT. The simplicity of this holographic model stems from its infinite-dimensional higher-spin symmetry — similar in some ways to supersymmetry, but stronger. We must note that, in this simple version, higher-spin gravity is highly unrealistic: while it does contain a massless spin-2 "graviton", its interactions are nothing like those of GR, and in fact appear to be non-local at the cosmological scale. In this sense, we are dealing with a toy model. On the other hand, higher-spin gravity has the virtue of being formulated in four bulk dimensions, and is easily compatible with a positive cosmological constant.

A crucial simplifying feature of our higher-spin model is that it allows us to deal exclusively with free theories. In the bulk, we consider the linearized version of higher-spin gravity, i.e. free massless fields of all spins, which can be mapped into twistor space via the Penrose transform. On the boundary, we have the free CFT, which we map into twistor space using a novel "holographic dual" of the Penrose transform. This boundary version of the transform is more powerful than its bulk counterpart, since the correlators of the free CFT encode not only the linearized bulk theory, but also the bulk interactions. Thus, we're essentially using the boundary CFT to solve the bulk theory, using twistor space as a common language between the two.

Note that twistor theory is a dimension-specific tool: it was originally constructed for massless 4d theories, subject either to conformal 4d symmetry (e.g. Yang-Mills) or to 4d isometries (e.g. GR or higher-spin gravity). On the other hand, AdS/CFT exploits the relation between conformal symmetry in d dimensions and isometries in d + 1 dimensions. Thus, the intersection between twistor theory and holography will naturally take place in either AdS<sub>5</sub>/CFT<sub>4</sub> or AdS<sub>4</sub>/CFT<sub>3</sub>. The AdS<sub>5</sub>/CFT<sub>4</sub> case was discussed in [13], and has the promise of general applicability: since the 4d boundary theory is conformal, one can always think of it as "massless". In contrast, in the AdS<sub>4</sub>/CFT<sub>3</sub> case considered in this paper, we expect that twistor methods will be relevant only in the special setup of higher-spin theory, since it's only there that the 4d bulk fields are all massless.

The rest of the paper is structured as follows. In section 2, we summarize the main results, with only a cursory explanation of the notations. Section 3 is a geometric introduction to twistor space and its relation to bulk and boundary spinor spaces. Our geometry is carried out in 5d flat spacetime, within which both bulk and boundary are embedded. In section 4, we introduce the higher-spin algebra, including structures that arise when focusing on a bulk or boundary point. In section 5, we formulate the linearized bulk theory and the Penrose transform. In section 6, we resume our discussion of higher-spin algebra, focusing on the representation of ordinary spacetime symmetries within the higher-spin adjoint and fundamental. This will lead us to a geometric viewpoint on the Penrose transform, which in turn will suggest its boundary dual. In section 7, we discuss the boundary CFT in a bilocal language, and present the holographic dual of the Penrose transform. In section 8, we establish the holographic relationship between the bulk and boundary pictures, by calculating expectation values of local boundary currents. An analogous matching for the local field strengths of boundary sources is left for later work. Section 9 is devoted to discussion and outlook.

Throughout the paper, we consider for simplicity Euclidean spacetime, i.e. the bulk is Euclidean Anti de Sitter space (EAdS<sub>4</sub>). However, as discussed in section 9, we envision an eventual application to Lorentzian de Sitter ( $dS_4$ ).

# 2 Summary of results

#### 2.1 Penrose transform

In some ways, higher-spin gravity is the most natural application of twistor theory, more so than Yang-Mills or General Relativity. In Yang-Mills and GR, twistors serve "merely" as the spinor representation of isometries or conformal transformations in 4d spacetime. In higher-spin theory, we utilize a greater power of these objects, using them to generate an infinite-dimensional extension of spacetime symmetries — the higher-spin (HS) group. The role of twistors in higher-spin algebra is identical to the role of vectors in Clifford algebra:

Clifford algebra: 
$$\{\gamma_{\mu}, \gamma_{\nu}\} = -2\eta_{\mu\nu};$$
 Higher-spin algebra:  $[Y_a, Y_b]_{\star} = 2iI_{ab},$  (2.1)

where  $Y_a$  are twistor coordinates, and  $I_{ab}$  is the twistor metric. In both cases (2.1), the ordinary action of spacetime symmetries (realized as rotations in a higher-dimensional flat space) is implemented by the algebra's adjoint representation, i.e. by multiplication on both sides. This should raise a curiosity about the *fundamental* representation: what if we multiply by the group element on one side only? In the case of Clifford algebra, this leads one to discover spinors. In the case of higher-spin algebra, it leads to the Penrose transform! Specifically, the Penrose transform is a CPT reflection in the fundamental representation of the higher-spin group. In other words, the Penrose transform is a square root of CPT:

$$\delta_x(Y) \star F(Y) \star \delta_x(Y) = F(\text{CPT of } Y \text{ around origin } x); \qquad (2.2)$$

$$\pm F(Y) \star i\delta_x(Y) \equiv C(x;Y) = \text{Penrose transform of } F(Y) \text{ at the point } x.$$
 (2.3)

Here, F(Y) is a spacetime-independent twistor function, x is a bulk point, C(x;Y) is a master field encoding a solution to the free massless field equations, and  $\delta_x(Y)$  is a certain x-dependent delta function in twistor space. One may think of  $\delta_x(Y)$  as a "twistor-bulk propagator". The factor of  $\pm i$  in (2.3) is for later convenience.

We should point out that the statement (2.3) is both old and new. On one hand, it was always clear that the twistor formalism of higher-spin theory is closely related to the Penrose transform (for a relatively recent treatment, see [14]). Also, right-multiplication by a deltafunction as in (2.3) has long been recognized [15–19] as an important operation, relating the adjoint and "twisted adjoint" representations of higher-spin algebra, and allowing the construction of higher-spin invariants, as well as some explicit solutions to the Vasiliev equations. However, to our knowledge, it was never quite spelled out that this operation literally *is* the Penrose transform, i.e. that it relates free massless fields to *spacetime-independent* twistor functions. The reason for this is that the standard formulation of higher-spin theory works with "twistors" made up of spinors within a local orthonormal frame on a featureless base manifold. In such a framework, spacetime-independent twistor functions simply don't arise as a natural object.

In contrast, in this paper, we work with global, spacetime-independent, Penrose-style twistors, associated with a background  $AdS_4$  spacetime. Specifically, our approach to higher-spin theory is a linearized version of the reformulation [20] of the *full non-linear* Vasiliev equations on a fixed  $AdS_4$  background. At the linearized level, the existence and utility of such a formulation is not surprising. At the non-linear level, the reformulation [20] is a less trivial matter, as it manages to avoid complicating the field equations, and retains the full higher-spin gauge symmetry. This is possible in higher-spin theory (as opposed to GR), because spacetime translations are contained in the local gauge group along with rotations, *independently from diffeomorphisms*. This in turn is related to the unfolded language of higher-spin theory, which bundles the fields' spacetime derivatives together with the fields themselves.

# 2.2 Holographic dual of the Penrose transform

Coming back to eqs. (2.2)–(2.3), the next question is: can we find a context in which the  $\sqrt{\text{CPT}}$  nature of the Penrose transform becomes manifest? It turns out that the answer is yes, and that it is intimately related to another "square root" relation — the fact that fundamental higher-spin fields in the bulk are dual to *quadratic* operators in the boundary CFT. In fact, the free vector model on the boundary is best expressed in a *bilocal* language, in which the relatively complicated local operators  $\phi(\ell) \overleftrightarrow{\nabla} \dots \overleftrightarrow{\nabla} \phi(\ell)$  are replaced by the simple product  $\phi(\ell) \overline{\phi}(\ell')$ , where  $\ell, \ell'$  are boundary points. Consider, then, a boundary-bilocal object in the higher-spin algebra — a "twistor-boundary-boundary propagator":

$$K(\ell, \ell'; Y) = \frac{\sqrt{-2\ell \cdot \ell'}}{4\pi} \,\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta'_{\ell}(Y) \,. \tag{2.4}$$

On this object, it turns out that the Penrose transform acts explicitly as a "square root" of CPT, by applying CPT to *one of the two* boundary points:

$$i\delta_x(Y) \star K(\ell, \ell'; Y) = \pm K(\text{CPT of } \ell \text{ around origin } x, \ell'; Y);$$
  

$$K(\ell, \ell'; Y) \star i\delta_x(Y) = \pm K(\ell, \text{ CPT of } \ell' \text{ around origin } x; Y).$$
(2.5)

This property applies not only to CPT reflections, but to all of SO(1, 4), since the latter can be constructed (in (A)dS, but not in flat spacetime!) by combining CPT reflections around different origins. Thus, while SO(1, 4) is manifestly realized on arbitrary functions f(Y) in the *adjoint* representation of the HS algebra, it is also manifestly realized in the *fundamental* representation when acting on  $K(\ell, \ell'; Y)$ , by transforming one of the two boundary points  $\ell, \ell'$ . In particular, for the infinitesimal SO(1, 4) generators  $M_{\mu\nu} = (-i/8)Y\gamma_{\mu\nu}Y$ , we have:

$$M_{\mu\nu} \star K(\ell, \ell'; Y) = \ell_{\mu} \frac{\partial K}{\partial \ell^{\nu}} - \ell_{\nu} \frac{\partial K}{\partial \ell^{\mu}};$$
  
-K(\ell, \ell'; Y) \times M\_{\mu\nu} = \ell\_{\mu} \frac{\partial K}{\partial \ell'^{\nu}} - \ell\_{\nu} \frac{\partial K}{\partial \ell'^{\mu\nu}}. (2.6)

The  $\sqrt{-\ell \cdot \ell'}$  prefactor in (2.4) is necessary for eqs. (2.5)–(2.6) to hold, and it gives  $K(\ell, \ell'; Y)$  the appropriate conformal weight for a two-point function of massless scalars on the boundary. The numerical factor in (2.4) is irrelevant to eqs. (2.5)–(2.6), but is necessary for the CFT results below. As we will see, the sign ambiguities in (2.5) are inherent to the HS algebra.

Moving on now from geometry to physics, our main result is that while  $\delta_x(Y)$  solves the linearized bulk theory,  $K(\ell, \ell'; Y)$  solves the boundary CFT! Specifically, we begin with the CFT action with U(N) singlet, single-trace sources, written in the spirit of [21] in a bilocal form:

$$S_{\rm CFT}[\Pi(\ell',\ell)] = -\int d^3\ell \,\bar{\phi}_I \Box \phi^I - \int d^3\ell' d^3\ell \,\bar{\phi}_I(\ell') \Pi(\ell',\ell) \phi^I(\ell) \,. \tag{2.7}$$

We then define a "holographic dual of the Penrose transform", which packages the sources  $\Pi(\ell, \ell')$  into a twistor function F(Y):

$$F(Y) = \int d^{3}\ell \, d^{3}\ell' K(\ell, \ell'; Y) \,\Pi(\ell', \ell) \,.$$
(2.8)

This allows us to write the partition function in the manifestly higher-spin-invariant form:

$$Z_{\rm CFT}[F(Y)] \sim \exp\left(-\frac{N}{4} \operatorname{tr}_{\star} \ln_{\star}[1+F(Y)]\right) \equiv \left(\det_{\star}[1+F(Y)]\right)^{-N/4}, \qquad (2.9)$$

where "tr<sub>\*</sub>" stands for the HS-invariant trace operation tr<sub>\*</sub> F(Y) = F(0). From (2.9), we can extract the expectation value of the bilocal operator  $\phi^{I}(\ell)\bar{\phi}_{I}(\ell')$  in the presence of sources:

$$\left\langle \phi^{I}(\ell)\bar{\phi}_{I}(\ell')\right\rangle = \frac{N}{4}\operatorname{tr}_{\star}\left(K(\ell',\ell;Y)\star\left[-1+F(Y)+\ldots\right]\right)\,,\tag{2.10}$$

where the dots indicate higher orders in the source F(Y). This twistor formulation of the CFT makes global HS symmetry manifest, while doing away with the gauge redundancy of the sources  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$ .

Crucially, we will see that, up to some subtleties involving discrete symmetries, the twistor functions F(Y) in the bulk and boundary pictures can be identified with each other. Specifically, we will show that, away from sources, the asymptotic boundary data of the linearized bulk solution (2.3) reproduces the linearized expectation values (2.10) of the CFT operators, once the latter are translated into local currents. Thus, the 2-point correlators (more precisely, the 2-bilocal correlators) of the partition function (2.9) are directly associated with the linearized bulk solution. The higher-point functions in (2.9) can then be interpreted as encoding the effects of bulk interactions.

We note that the relation between conformal 3d fields  $\phi^{I}(\ell)$ ,  $\bar{\phi}_{I}(\ell')$  and the fundamental HS representation (2.6) was realized from different points of view in [22, 23]. The partition function in a form similar to (2.9) was obtained previously in [24]. On the CFT side, the main difference between our approach and that of [24] is that the latter operates directly with the current operators, while we are making contact with the fundamental fields  $\phi^{I}(\ell)$ ,  $\bar{\phi}_{I}(\ell')$ , i.e. with the underlying local structure of the boundary theory.

# 2.3 Avoiding contact terms

In the HS holography literature, when one calculates the correlation functions  $\langle j(\ell_1) \dots j(\ell_n) \rangle$  of local CFT operators, the calculation is usually restricted to separated points, i.e.  $\ell_1, \dots, \ell_n$  are all taken to be distinct. By themselves, these are not enough to capture the value of  $Z_{CFT}$  for a general finite configuration of sources. Indeed, to calculate such values, we would need integrals of the form  $d^3\ell_1 \dots d^3\ell_n$ , where some of the points  $\ell_1, \dots, \ell_n$  may coincide, though only on lower-dimensional submanifolds of the integration domain. Thus, the full partition function at the single-trace level requires also some knowledge of the correlators' behavior at coincident points. This extra requirement is similar to, but weaker than, a knowledge of the *multi-trace* correlators: the latter are equivalent to simply making single-trace insertion points coincide, as opposed to the coincidence appearing as a lower-dimensional possibility in a larger integral. This distinction is a consequence of the simplicity of our particular CFT: if the source-free action contained any multi-trace couplings, we would have no choice but to always take multi-trace insertions into account.

To be more specific, there are two kinds of problems that we can encounter on coincident-point submanifolds. First, the separated-point correlator may not be integrable through these submanifolds. Second, the answer may violate gauge invariance, or, equivalently, current conservation. Fixing such problems requires regularization, as well as adding contact terms both in the action and in the definition of the currents. For example, when a charge current  $\mathbf{j} = i\phi \nabla \bar{\phi}$  (suppressing U(N) indices) is coupled to a gauge potential  $\mathbf{A}$ , the current's expectation value is divergent at points where  $\mathbf{A}$  is nonzero. Specifically, the relevant 2-point function has a non-integrable  $\sim 1/r^4$  short-distance singularity, which becomes  $\sim 1/r^{2s+2}$  in the spin-s case. This divergence is directly related to the fact that the true conserved current contains an extra contact term  $\mathbf{A}\phi\bar{\phi}$ ; in other words, the derivative in the definition of  $\mathbf{j}$  must be gauge-covariantized. The  $\mathbf{A}\phi\bar{\phi}$  term has its own short-distance singularity, which cancels the previous one and leaves us with a finite & conserved current.

Most of these issues are resolved automatically by switching to the bilocal language (2.7). There, we only ever find-short distance singularities of the form  $\sim 1/r$  (the fundamental propagator of the  $\phi$  fields), which is integrable, and therefore doesn't require regularization. From the local point of view, the bilocal language can be viewed as an extreme form of point-split regularization. Conversely, from the bilocal point of view, the local language corresponds to a singular choice of gauge, where the source  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$  is distributional with support on  $\ell = \ell'$ .

That being said, the bilocal language does not solve everything. In particular, given some values of the bilocal source, we may still wish to know the expectation value of a local current. It turns out that upon naive calculation, the resulting current isn't locally conserved: the two points in the bilocal  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$  act as a source/sink pair (as one can see by examining eq. (8.55) below). Thus, the need for contact terms arises whenever we're interested in a local expectation value, even if the sources are bilocal.

Finally, we come to the fully nonlocal twistor formulation (2.9) of the partition function. Here, we find that the need for contact terms seems to disappear entirely. This should not be too surprising, if we put two facts together:

- 1. The points at which the (local or bilocal) sources are non-vanishing are gaugedependent. In particular, at any given point, one can gauge away the value of a spin-s gauge potential and its first 2s - 2 derivatives.
- 2. The twistor language does away with both locality and gauge redundancy.

Specifically, as we'll discuss in section 8.5, the currents that can be derived from a twistorial expression of the form (2.9) are always automatically conserved.

# 3 Spacetime and twistor geometry

In this section, we present some elements of geometry in the  $EAdS_4$  bulk, its 3d boundary, and twistor space. Throughout, we view the bulk and boundary as embedded in a flat 5d spacetime. Similar embedding-space approaches to higher-spin theory and holography may be found e.g. in [25, 26], in the context of general dimensions. Those approaches employ a tensor formalism, while our emphasis will be on spinors and twistors. In particular, this section will focus on the embedding of bulk and boundary spinor spaces within the global twistor space.

#### 3.1 Spacetime

#### 3.1.1 Bulk and boundary

We define  $EAdS_4$  as the hyperboloid of future-pointing unit timelike vectors in flat 5d Minkowski space  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$ :

$$EAdS_4 = \left\{ x^{\mu} \in \mathbb{R}^{1,4} \, | \, x_{\mu} x^{\mu} = -1, \, x^0 > 0 \right\} \,. \tag{3.1}$$

The metric  $\eta_{\mu\nu}$  of  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$  has signature (-, +, +, +, +). We use indices  $(\mu, \nu, ...)$  for  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$  vectors, which we raise and lower using  $\eta_{\mu\nu}$ . The isometry group of EAdS<sub>4</sub> is just the rotation group O(1,4) in the 5d spacetime (more precisely — the component  $O^{\uparrow}(1,4)$  that preserves time orientation).

The tangent space at a point  $x \in EAdS_4$  consists simply of the vectors  $v^{\mu}$  that satisfy  $x \cdot v = 0$ . The EAdS<sub>4</sub> metric at x can be identified with the projector onto this tangent space:

$$q_{\mu\nu}(x) = \eta_{\mu\nu} + x_{\mu}x_{\nu} \,. \tag{3.2}$$

The covariant derivative of vectors in  $EAdS_4$  can be defined as the flat  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$  derivative, followed by a projection back onto the hyperboloid:

$$\nabla_{\mu}v_{\nu} = q^{\rho}_{\mu}(x) q^{\sigma}_{\nu}(x) \partial_{\rho}v_{\sigma} \,. \tag{3.3}$$

In addition to the ambient  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$  picture, it is sometimes useful to use an intrinsic coordinate system for EAdS<sub>4</sub>. Of particular interest are the Poincare coordinates:

$$x^{\mu}(z,\mathbf{r}) = \frac{1}{z} \left( \frac{1+z^2+r^2}{2}, \mathbf{r}, \frac{1-z^2-r^2}{2} \right) , \qquad (3.4)$$

where  $\mathbf{r}$  is a flat 3d coordinate, and the metric reads:

$$dx_{\mu}dx^{\mu} = \frac{dz^2 + d\mathbf{r} \cdot d\mathbf{r}}{z^2} \,. \tag{3.5}$$

The asymptotic boundary of EAdS<sub>4</sub> is the conformal 3-sphere of future-pointing null directions in  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$ . Thus, we represent boundary points by null vectors  $\ell^{\mu}$ , with the equivalence  $\ell^{\mu} \cong \lambda \ell^{\mu}$ . The O(1,4) symmetry group then becomes the conformal symmetry of the boundary. The limit where a bulk point x approaches the boundary can be represented as an extreme boost in  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$ , where the unit vector  $x^{\mu}$  approaches a null direction  $\ell^{\mu}$  as:

$$x^{\mu} \to \ell^{\mu}/z , \quad z \to 0.$$
 (3.6)

One can fix the conformal frame on the boundary by choosing a section of the  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$  lightcone. Perhaps the most convenient is the flat section:

$$\ell^{\mu}(\mathbf{r}) = \left(\frac{1+r^2}{2}, \mathbf{r}, \frac{1-r^2}{2}\right), \qquad (3.7)$$

which can be viewed as the bulk-to-boundary limit (3.6) of the Poincare coordinates (3.4). The section (3.7) can be defined as the intersection of the lightcone  $\ell \cdot \ell = 0$  with the null hyperplane:

$$\ell \cdot n = -\frac{1}{2}; \quad n^{\mu} = \left(\frac{1}{2}, \mathbf{0}, -\frac{1}{2}\right)$$
 (3.8)

The metric on the flat section (3.7) is simply  $d\ell_{\mu}d\ell^{\mu} = d\mathbf{r} \cdot d\mathbf{r}$ . In particular, the  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$  scalar product  $\ell \cdot \ell'$  is directly related to the 3d Euclidean distance in the frame (3.7):

$$\ell \cdot \ell' = -\frac{1}{2} \left( \mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}' \right)^2 \,. \tag{3.9}$$

#### 3.1.2 Massless scalars and conserved currents on the boundary

Boundary quantities with conformal weight  $\Delta$  are represented by functions  $f(\ell)$  on the lightcone, subject to the homogeneity condition  $f(\lambda \ell) = \lambda^{-\Delta} f(\ell)$ , or, equivalently:

$$\ell^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial \ell^{\mu}} f(\ell) = -\Delta f(\ell) \,. \tag{3.10}$$

In particular, a free massless scalar on the 3d boundary has conformal weight  $\Delta = 1/2$ . Scalars with this weight admit a conformally covariant Laplacian  $\Box$ , which in the  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$  language is given simply by [27]:

$$\Box \phi(\ell) = \frac{\partial \phi(\ell)}{\partial \ell_{\mu} \partial \ell^{\mu}}.$$
(3.11)

Here, it's assumed that we've extended the function  $\phi(\ell)$  into non-null values of  $\ell^{\mu}$ , where it remains subject to the homogeneity condition (3.10). The Laplacian (3.11) does not otherwise depend on this artificial extension of  $\phi(\ell)$  into  $\ell \cdot \ell \neq 0$ , as it vanishes for any function that is zero at  $\ell \cdot \ell = 0$ :

$$\Box \left( (\ell \cdot \ell) f(\ell) \right) = 0 \text{ at } \ell \cdot \ell = 0, \text{ for any } f(\ell) \text{ with weight } \Delta = 5/2.$$
(3.12)

One can verify explicitly that eq. (3.11) defines the usual 3d Laplacian on the flat section (3.7).

Boundary currents of various spin and their conservation laws are also easy to describe in the O(1, 4)-covariant framework. A spin-*s* current is represented by a totally symmetric and traceless tensor  $j^{\mu_1...\mu_s}$ . To bring the tensor's indices from  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$  down to the boundary's 3d tangent space, we impose a constraint and an equivalence relation:

$$\ell_{\mu_1} j^{\mu_1 \mu_2 \dots \mu_s} = 0; \qquad (3.13)$$

$$j^{\mu_1\mu_2...\mu_s} \cong j^{\mu_1\mu_2...\mu_s} + \ell^{(\mu_1}\theta^{\mu_2...\mu_s)}, \qquad (3.14)$$

where  $\theta^{\mu_1...\mu_{s-1}}$  is a totally symmetric and traceless tensor satisfying  $\ell_{\mu_1}\theta^{\mu_1\mu_2...\mu_{s-1}} = 0$ . The presence of tensor indices makes the notion of conformal weight a bit subtle. In this paper, our tensor indices lie in the  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$  ambient space, and we define the conformal weight  $\Delta$  via  $j^{\mu_1...\mu_s}(\lambda \ell) = \lambda^{-\Delta} j^{\mu_1...\mu_s}(\ell)$ . For the corresponding tensor with indices in the boundary's tangent or cotangent bundle, this implies a conformal weight  $\Delta = s + 1$ , one can define a conformally covariant divergence:

$$(\operatorname{div} j)^{\mu_1\dots\mu_{s-1}} = \frac{\partial j^{\mu_1\dots\mu_{s-1}\mu_s}}{\partial \ell^{\mu_s}}, \qquad (3.15)$$

where we again extend  $j^{\mu_1...\mu_s}(\ell)$  away from  $\ell \cdot \ell = 0$ , while maintaining the constraint (3.13) and the homogeneity condition  $j^{\mu_1...\mu_s}(\lambda \ell) = \lambda^{-s-1} j^{\mu_1...\mu_s}(\ell)$ . To see that the result doesn't otherwise depend on this artificial extension, we note that eq. (3.15) can be rewritten in terms of the derivative  $\ell \wedge (\partial/\partial \ell)$ , which only acts tangentially to the  $\ell \cdot \ell = 0$  lightcone:

$$\left(\ell_{\nu}\frac{\partial}{\partial\ell^{\mu_s}} - \ell_{\mu_s}\frac{\partial}{\partial\ell^{\nu}}\right)j^{\mu_1\dots\mu_{s-1}\mu_s} = (\operatorname{div} j)^{\mu_1\dots\mu_{s-1}}\ell_{\nu} + j^{\mu_1\dots\mu_{s-1}}{}_{\nu}.$$
(3.16)

It remains to verify that the formula (3.15) is consistent with the equivalence relation (3.14). It is here that the conformal weight  $\Delta = s + 1$  will be important. One must be careful to extend eq. (3.14) away from  $\ell \cdot \ell = 0$  in a way that doesn't conflict with the constraint (3.13). To do this, we introduce a fixed null vector  $n \neq \ell$ , and replace  $\ell^{\mu}$  in (3.14) with:

$$\tilde{\ell}^{\mu} = \ell^{\mu} - \frac{\ell \cdot \ell}{\ell \cdot n} n^{\mu} \,. \tag{3.17}$$

One then finds that the divergence (3.15) is indeed consistent with (3.14), via:

$$\delta j^{\mu_1\dots\mu_s} = \tilde{\ell}^{(\mu_1}\theta^{\mu_2\dots\mu_s)} \implies \delta(\operatorname{div} j)^{\mu_1\dots\mu_{s-1}} = \frac{s-1}{s} \ell^{(\mu_1}\frac{\partial}{\partial\ell^{\nu}}\theta^{\mu_2\dots\mu_{s-1})\nu} \,. \tag{3.18}$$

#### 3.2 Twistors

Here, we introduce spinors and twistors in  $EAdS_4$  from the viewpoint described in [28]. Our focus here is on algebraic properties; see [28] for a more detailed geometric perspective.

The twistors of EAdS<sub>4</sub> are just the 4-component Dirac spinors of the isometry group SO(1,4). We use indices (a, b, ...) for twistors. The twistor space is equipped with a symplectic metric  $I_{ab}$ , which is used to raise and lower indices via:

$$U_a = I_{ab}U^b; \quad U^a = U_b I^{ba}; \quad I_{ac}I^{bc} = \delta^b_a.$$
 (3.19)

Tensor and twistor indices are related through the gamma matrices  $(\gamma_{\mu})^{a}{}_{b}$ , which satisfy the Clifford algebra  $\{\gamma_{\mu}, \gamma_{\nu}\} = -2\eta_{\mu\nu}$ . These 4+1d gamma matrices can be realized as the usual 3+1d ones, with the addition of  $\gamma_{5}$  (in our notation,  $\gamma_{4}$ ) for the fifth direction in  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$ . In 2 × 2 block notation, the matrices  $I_{ab}$  and  $(\gamma_{\mu})^{a}{}_{b}$  can be represented e.g. as:

$$I_{ab} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i\sigma_2 \\ -i\sigma_2 & 0 \end{pmatrix};$$
  
 $(\gamma^0)^a{}_b = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}; \quad (\gamma^4)^a{}_b = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}; \quad (\gamma^k)^a{}_b = \begin{pmatrix} -i\sigma^k & 0 \\ 0 & i\sigma^k \end{pmatrix},$ 
(3.20)

where  $\sigma^k$  with k = 1, 2, 3 are the Pauli matrices. The representation (3.20) is geared to simplify the "null" matrices  $\gamma_0 \pm \gamma_4$ . An alternative representation, which simplifies the "timelike" matrix  $\gamma_0$ , reads:

$$I_{ab} = \begin{pmatrix} -i\sigma_2 & 0\\ 0 & i\sigma_2 \end{pmatrix};$$

$$(\gamma^0)^a{}_b = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}; \quad (\gamma^4)^a{}_b = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1\\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}; \quad (\gamma^k)^a{}_b = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & i\sigma^k\\ i\sigma^k & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.21)

The matrices  $\gamma_{ab}^{\mu}$  are antisymmetric and traceless in their twistor indices. We define the antisymmetric product of gamma matrices as:

$$\gamma_{ab}^{\mu\nu} \equiv \gamma_{ac}^{[\mu} \gamma^{\nu]c}{}_b \,. \tag{3.22}$$

The  $\gamma_{ab}^{\mu\nu}$  are symmetric in their twistor indices. We use the matrices  $\gamma_{\mu}^{ab}$  to convert between 4+1d vectors and traceless bitwistors as:

$$\xi^{ab} = \gamma^{ab}_{\mu}\xi^{\mu}; \quad \xi^{\mu} = -\frac{1}{4}\gamma^{\mu}_{ab}\xi^{ab}.$$
 (3.23)

Similarly,  $\gamma^{ab}_{\mu\nu}$  can be used to convert between bivectors and symmetric twistor matrices:

$$f^{ab} = \frac{1}{2} \gamma^{ab}_{\mu\nu} f^{\mu\nu}; \quad f^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{4} \gamma^{\mu\nu}_{ab} f^{ab}.$$
(3.24)

Useful identities include:

$$\begin{split} \gamma^{\mu}_{ab}\gamma^{ab}_{\nu} &= -4\delta^{\mu}_{\nu}; \qquad \gamma^{\mu\nu}_{ab}\gamma^{ab}_{\rho\sigma} = 8\delta^{[\mu}_{[\rho}\delta^{\nu]}_{\sigma]}; \qquad \gamma^{ab}_{\mu}\gamma^{\mu}_{cd} = I^{ab}I_{cd} - 4\delta^{[a}_{[c}\delta^{b]}_{d]}; \qquad \gamma^{ab}_{\mu\nu}\gamma^{\mu\nu}_{cd} = 8\delta^{(a}_{(c}\delta^{b)}_{d)}; \\ \epsilon^{abcd} &= 3I^{[ab}I^{cd]}; \quad \epsilon^{abcd}I_{cd} = 2I^{ab}; \qquad \epsilon^{abcd}\gamma^{\mu}_{cd} = -2\gamma^{\mu ab}; \qquad \gamma^{[ab}_{\mu}\gamma^{cd]}_{\nu} = \frac{1}{3}\eta_{\mu\nu}\epsilon^{abcd}. \end{split}$$
(3.25)

Here,  $\epsilon^{abcd}$  is the totally antisymmetric symbol with inverse  $\epsilon_{abcd} = 3I_{[ab}I_{cd]}$ , such that  $\epsilon_{abcd}\epsilon^{abcd} = 4!$ . The metric  $I_{ab}$  has unit determinant with respect to  $\epsilon^{abcd}$ . We use  $\epsilon^{abcd}$  to define a measure on twistor space via:

$$d^4U \equiv \frac{\epsilon_{abcd}}{4!(2\pi)^2} \, dU^a dU^b dU^c dU^d \,. \tag{3.26}$$

Here and elsewhere, we include  $2\pi$  factors in the measure, in such a way that they will not appear explicitly in our Fourier and Gaussian integrals. Note that our choice for the overall sign of  $\epsilon^{abcd}$  is the opposite from that in [28], and indeed, in the basis (3.20), we get  $\epsilon^{1234} = -1$ . This choice will end up being more convenient for relations such as (3.36).

# 3.2.1 Index-free notation

In order to streamline the formulas below, we now introduce some index-free notation for products in  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$  and in twistor space.  $x \cdot x$  will represent the scalar product  $x_{\mu}x^{\mu}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$ . The twistor matrices  $\delta_a^b$  and  $(\gamma_{\mu})^a{}_b$  will be written in index-free notation as 1 and  $\gamma_{\mu}$ . Combined with the index conversion (3.23), this means that the matrix  $(x^{\mu}\gamma_{\mu})^a{}_b$  for a vector  $x^{\mu} \in \mathbb{R}^{1,4}$  will be written simply as x (this is just the Feynman slash convention, without the slash). Products in the index-free notation imply bottom-to-top index contractions. So, e.g. for two twistors  $U^a, V^a$  and two vectors  $\ell^{\mu}, x^{\mu}$ , we have:

$$UV \equiv U_a V^a = -I_{ab} U^a V^b; \qquad \ell \cdot x \equiv \ell_\mu x^\mu = -\frac{1}{4} \operatorname{tr}(\ell x); \qquad (3.27)$$
$$(xU)^a \equiv x^a{}_b U^b; \qquad \qquad U\ell x U \equiv U_a \ell^a{}_b x^b{}_c U^c = -\ell_\mu x_\nu \gamma^{\mu\nu}_{ab} U^a U^b.$$

A product  $U\Gamma_1 \ldots \Gamma_n V$ , where U and V are twistors and the matrices  $\Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_n$  are either symmetric or antisymmetric, can be reversed as follows:

$$V\Gamma_n \dots \Gamma_1 U = (-1)^{n_{\text{sym}}+1} (U\Gamma_1 \dots \Gamma_n V), \qquad (3.28)$$

where  $n_{\text{sym}}$  is the number of symmetric matrices among the  $\Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_n$ .

#### 3.2.2 Twistor integrals

In calculations below, we will need to evaluate integrals over twistor space, as well as over various spinor subspaces. These integrals are somewhat delicate, because the relevant spaces are complex, and one has to worry about appropriate integration contours. To some extent, this is a result of our choice of signature: in Lorentzian  $AdS_4$ , the twistors and boundary spinors (but not the bulk spinors) have a natural real structure. However, this real structure doesn't necessarily help, because the natural real contours may not be the ones along which the integrals converge. Luckily, the only integrals we will need explicitly are of delta functions and Gaussians. These can be defined by analytical continuation from appropriate real-line integrals.

The first integral formula that we'll need is:

$$\int d^4 U d^4 V f(U) \, e^{iUV} = f(0) \,. \tag{3.29}$$

This can equivalently be written as:

$$\int d^4 U \,\delta(U) f(U) = f(0) \,, \tag{3.30}$$

where the twistor delta function is defined as:

$$\delta(U) = \int d^4 V e^{iVU} \,. \tag{3.31}$$

The second twistor integral that we will use is the Gaussian:

$$\int d^4 U \, e^{(UAU)/2} = \frac{\pm 1}{\sqrt{\det A}} \,; \quad \det A = \frac{1}{8} \left( \operatorname{tr} A^2 \right)^2 - \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{tr} A^4 \,, \tag{3.32}$$

where  $A_{ab}$  is a symmetric twistor matrix, and we use its tracelessness for the last expression in (3.32). Note that the  $2\pi$  factors are already taken care of by the definition (3.26) of the measure.

The sign in (3.32) is ambiguous due to the square root, and in general will depend on how exactly we analytically continue from the case of a real contour and real negativedefinite  $A_{ab}$ . In fact, we'll see that in the context of the HS symmetry group, this sign ambiguity is crucial, and cannot be globally fixed. Specifically, within the HS group, the subgroup SO(1, 4) of ordinary spacetime symmetries is represented by twistor Gaussians, and its topology is only consistent when the sign ambiguity (3.32) is taken into account.

Finally, we note that the sign ambiguity in Gaussian integrals also reflects on the delta function (3.31). The integral in (3.31) can be regularized and evaluated by inserting a broad Gaussian into the integrand. However, the result of this Gaussian integral is only defined up to sign. Therefore, while the integral (3.30) involving  $\delta(U)$  is well-defined,  $\delta(U)$ itself is defined as a limit of ordinary functions only up to sign. An alternative way to see this is to define  $\delta(U)$  as the limit of a series of ever-narrowing Gaussians, which are constrained to have a unit integral. Since these integrals are only defined up to sign, the same is true for the series that limits to  $\delta(U)$ .

#### 3.3 Bulk spinors

When we choose a point  $x \in EAdS_4$ , the Dirac representation of SO(1,4) becomes identified with the Dirac representation of the rotation group SO(4) at x. It then decomposes into left-handed and right-handed Weyl spinor representations, corresponding to SO(4) = SO(3)<sub>L</sub> × SO(3)<sub>R</sub>. The decomposition is accomplished by a pair of projectors:

$$P_{L}{}^{a}{}_{b}(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \delta^{a}_{b} - x^{\mu} \gamma_{\mu}{}^{a}{}_{b} \right) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \delta^{a}_{b} - x^{a}{}_{b} \right) ;$$
  

$$P_{R}{}^{a}{}_{b}(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \delta^{a}_{b} + x^{\mu} \gamma_{\mu}{}^{a}{}_{b} \right) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \delta^{a}_{b} + x^{a}{}_{b} \right) .$$
(3.33)

These serve as an x-dependent version of the familiar chiral projectors in  $\mathbb{R}^4$ . We note that  $P_L$  and  $P_R$  get interchanged under the "antipodal map"  $x^{\mu} \to -x^{\mu}$ . In the Euclidean AdS context, this is a formal operation that takes us away from the hyperboloid (3.1) and into its  $x^0 < 0$  counterpart.

Given a twistor  $U^a$ , we denote its left-handed and right-handed components at x as  $u_{L/R}^a(x) = (P_{L/R})^a{}_b(x)U^b$ . As in our treatment of tensors, it is possible to use the (a, b, ...) indices for both SO(4, 1) and SO(4) Dirac spinors. The projectors  $P_{ab}^L(x)$  and  $P_{ab}^R(x)$  serve as the spinor metrics for the left-handed and right-handed Weyl spinor spaces. For a 2d spinor space, a symplectic metric also acts as a measure, i.e. we can define:

$$d^{2}u_{L} \equiv \frac{P_{ab}^{L}(x)}{2(2\pi)} dU^{a} dU^{b}; \quad d^{2}u_{R} \equiv \frac{P_{ab}^{R}(x)}{2(2\pi)} dU^{a} dU^{b}.$$
(3.34)

Alternatively, the measures can be defined as the inverses of  $P_L^{ab}$  and  $P_R^{ab}$ , as in:

$$\frac{du_L^a du_L^b}{2\pi} \equiv P_L^{ab}(x) \, d^2 u_L \,; \quad \frac{du_R^a du_R^b}{2\pi} \equiv P_R^{ab}(x) \, d^2 u_R \,. \tag{3.35}$$

The two chiral spinor measures combine to form the twistor measure (3.26), via:

$$d^4 U = d^2 u_L d^2 u_R \,. \tag{3.36}$$

The power of this formalism for describing spinors is that the twistors, i.e. the spinors of  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$ , are flat: we can transport them freely from one point in EAdS<sub>4</sub> to another. What changes from point to point is the twistor's decomposition into left-handed and right-handed spinors. In particular, the covariant derivative for Weyl spinors in EAdS<sub>4</sub> can be constructed by embedding the spinor inside a twistor, taking the flat  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$  derivative, and projecting back into the appropriate spinor space. For e.g. a left-handed spinor field  $\psi_L^a(x)$ , this can be written as:

$$\nabla_{\mu}\psi_{L}^{a}(x) = q_{\mu}^{\nu}(x)P_{L}{}^{a}{}_{b}(x)\,\partial_{\nu}\psi_{L}^{b}(x)\,.$$
(3.37)

An important special case is the covariant derivative of the left-handed and right-handed components  $y_L(x), y_R(x)$  of a spacetime-independent twistor Y:

$$\nabla_{\mu} y_{L}^{a} = -\frac{1}{2} (\gamma_{\mu})^{a}{}_{b} y_{R}^{b}; \quad \nabla_{\mu} y_{R}^{a} = \frac{1}{2} (\gamma_{\mu})^{a}{}_{b} y_{L}^{b}.$$
(3.38)

This is just Penrose's twistor equation, in the presence of a cosmological constant.

A vector  $\xi^{\mu} \in \mathbb{R}^{1,4}$ , when evaluated at a point  $x \in \text{EAdS}_4$ , decomposes into an O(4) scalar (the radial component, encoded by the scalar product  $\xi \cdot x$ ) and an O(4) vector (the tangential component, encoded by the vector  $\xi^{\mu} + (\xi \cdot x)x^{\mu}$  or the bivector  $\xi^{[\mu}x^{\nu]}$ ). For the twistor matrix  $\xi = \xi^{\mu}\gamma_{\mu}$ , this decomposition can be expressed in terms of chiral projections of the twistor indices:

$$O(4) \text{ scalar:} \qquad P_L \xi P_L = (\xi \cdot x) P_L; \qquad P_R \xi P_R = -(\xi \cdot x) P_R; \qquad (3.39)$$

$$O(4) \text{ vector:} \quad P_L \xi P_R + P_R \xi P_L = \xi + (\xi \cdot x)x; \quad P_L \xi P_R - P_R \xi P_L = \frac{1}{2}(\xi x - x\xi).$$
(3.40)

In particlar, displacements  $dx^{\mu}$  along the EAdS<sub>4</sub> hyperboloid have only mixed-chirality components, as in (3.40).

# 3.4 Boundary spinors

At a boundary point  $\ell^{\mu}$ , the decomposition of twistor space is somewhat different. While the 4d bulk has two Weyl spinor spaces at each point, the 3d boundary has a single (2component) Dirac spinor space. Let us now describe how this spinor space arises from the  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$ , twistorial perspective.

In the asymptotic limit (3.6), both the left-handed and right-handed projectors degenerate into multiples of  $\ell^{ab}$ :

$$P_L^{ab}(x) \to -\frac{1}{z} P^{ab}(\ell); \quad P_R^{ab}(x) \to \frac{1}{z} P^{ab}(\ell),$$
 (3.41)

where we've defined:

$$P^{ab}(\ell) \equiv \frac{1}{2}\ell^{ab} \,. \tag{3.42}$$

Thus, the two subspaces  $P_L(x)$  and  $P_R(x)$  degenerate into a single subspace  $P(\ell)$ , spanned by the bitwistor  $P^{ab}(\ell) \sim \ell^{ab}$ . Equivalently,  $P(\ell)$  is the subspace annihilated by the matrix  $\ell^a{}_b$ :

$$u^{a} \in P(\ell) \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \ell^{[ab}u^{c]} = 0 \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \ell^{a}{}_{b}u^{b} = 0.$$
(3.43)

The subspace  $P(\ell)$  can be identified as the spinor space on the 3d boundary. Though  $P(\ell)$  is null under the twistor metric  $I_{ab}$ , one can use the inverse of the matrix (3.42) to define a metric and a measure  $d^2u$  on  $P(\ell)$ , in analogy with the bulk definition (3.35):

$$\frac{du^a du^b}{2\pi} \equiv P^{ab}(\ell) \, d^2 u = \frac{1}{2} \ell^{ab} d^2 u \,. \tag{3.44}$$

The measure  $d^2u$  scales inversely with the null vector  $\ell^{\mu}$ , i.e. it has conformal weight  $\Delta = 1$ . We should therefore think of  $P(\ell)$  as the space of boundary *cospinors*, i.e. the square roots of boundary covectors.

The space of *contravariant* boundary spinors, i.e. the square roots of boundary vectors, is the space  $P^*(\ell)$  dual to  $P(\ell)$  under the twistor metric. It is easy to see that this is the *quotient space* of twistors modulo terms in  $P(\ell)$ :

$$(u^*)^a \cong (u^*)^a + u^a, \quad u^a \in P(\ell).$$
 (3.45)

 $P^*(\ell)$  can be equipped with a metric and measure inversely related to that of (3.44), i.e. given simply by the matrix (3.42):

$$d^{2}u^{*} \equiv \frac{P_{ab}(\ell)}{2(2\pi)} (du^{*})^{a} (du^{*})^{b} = \frac{\ell_{ab}}{8\pi} (du^{*})^{a} (du^{*})^{b}, \qquad (3.46)$$

with conformal weight  $\Delta = -1$ . Multiplication by the matrix (3.42) defines a mapping between  $P(\ell)$  and  $P^*(\ell)$ , via:

$$(u^*)^a \in P^*(\ell) \quad \longleftrightarrow \quad P^a{}_b(\ell)(u^*)^b = \frac{1}{2}\ell^a{}_b(u^*)^b \in P(\ell).$$
 (3.47)

This mapping is consistent with the measures (3.44), (3.46). It can be viewed as the map between boundary spinors and cospinors via the spinor metric (3.46). It should be stressed that the spinor spaces  $P(\ell)$  and  $P^*(\ell)$  depend only on the *direction* of  $\ell^{\mu}$ , which corresponds to the choice of boundary point. However, the measures (3.44), (3.46) and the mapping (3.47) depend also on the *scaling* of  $\ell^{\mu}$ , which corresponds to a choice of conformal frame.

Note that for *bulk* spinors, there was no need for such subtleties. There, we have no arbitrary rescaling of the spinor metrics, and the chiral spinor spaces  $P_L(x)$ ,  $P_R(x)$  are the same as their duals under the twistor metric  $P_L^*(x)$ ,  $P_R^*(x)$ . In particular, the measure (3.46) can be viewed as the boundary limit of the bulk spinor measures (3.34).

At a bulk point x, an arbitrary twistor U has a well-defined decomposition  $U = u_L + u_R$ . This is no longer true at a boundary point  $\ell$ : here, U has a well-defined projection  $u^* \in P^*(\ell)$ , but its " $P(\ell)$  component" is ambiguous. However, one can *span* the twistor space by first choosing  $u^*$ , and then spanning the equivalence class (3.45) by varying  $u \in P(\ell)$ . In this context, the two spinor measures (3.44), (3.46) can be combined into the global twistor measure. From the identity  $\epsilon_{abcd}\ell^{cd} = -2\ell_{ab}$ , one can derive the explicit formula:

$$d^4U = -d^2u \, d^2u^* \,. \tag{3.48}$$

#### 3.4.1 Boundary currents in spinor form

The spinor language is especially well-suited for describing boundary currents of arbitrary spin and their conservation laws. A spin-s boundary object (i.e. a rank-s totally traceless and symmetric tensor) can be described by a totally symmetric rank-2s spinor  $j_{\ell}$  with indices in  $P(\ell)$ :

$$\ell^b{}_{a_1} j^{a_1 a_2 \dots a_{2s}}_{\ell} = 0, \qquad (3.49)$$

or a totally symmetric rank-2s spinor  $j_*$  with indices in  $P^*(\ell)$ :

$$j_*^{a_1 a_2 \dots a_{2s}} \cong j_*^{a_1 a_2 \dots a_{2s}} + \ell^{(a_1}{}_c \,\lambda^{a_2 \dots a_{2s})c} \quad \text{for any} \quad \lambda^{a_2 \dots a_{2s}c} \,. \tag{3.50}$$

These two representations are related by the mapping (3.47), i.e. by the spinor metric at  $\ell$ :

$$j_{\ell}^{a_1\dots a_{2s}} = \frac{1}{4^s} \,\ell^{a_1}{}_{b_1}\dots \ell^{a_{2s}}{}_{b_{2s}} j_*^{b_1\dots b_{2s}} \,. \tag{3.51}$$

Note that neither  $j_{\ell}$  nor  $j_*$  is the direct translation into twistor indices of the boundary tensor  $j^{\mu_1...\mu_s}$  from section 3.1.2:

$$j^{a_1b_1...a_sb_s} = \gamma^{a_1b_1}_{\mu_1} \dots \gamma^{a_sb_s}_{\mu_s} j^{\mu_1...\mu_s} \,. \tag{3.52}$$

As opposed to  $j_{\ell}^{a_1...a_{2s}}$  and  $j_*^{a_1...a_{2s}}$ , the twistor indices on  $j^{a_1b_1...a_sb_s}$  are not totally symmetric. One can see from eqs. (3.13)–(3.14) that j is a sort of intermediate between  $j_{\ell}$  and  $j_*$ , with one index in every  $a_k b_k$  pair lying in  $P(\ell)$ , and the other in  $P^*(\ell)$ . The dictionary between  $j_{\ell}$ , j and  $j_*$  can be viewed as two successive applications of the mapping (3.47):

$$j^{a_1b_1\dots a_sb_s} = \frac{1}{2^s} \delta^{[a_1}_{c_1} \ell^{b_1]}_{c_2} \dots \delta^{[a_s}_{c_{2s-1}} \ell^{b_s]}_{c_{2s}j_*} j^{c_1c_2\dots c_{2s-1}c_{2s}}_{c_{2s}j_*};$$
(3.53)

$$j_{\ell}^{a_1 a_2 \dots a_{2s-1} a_{2s}} = \ell^{a_1}{}_{c_1} \dots \ell^{a_{2s-1}}{}_{c_s} j^{c_1 a_2 \dots c_s a_{2s}}, \qquad (3.54)$$

or, restoring j into tensor form:

$$j^{\mu_1\dots\mu_s} = \frac{1}{8^s} \ell_{\nu_1} \gamma_{c_1 c_2}^{\nu_1\mu_1} \dots \ell_{\nu_s} \gamma_{c_{2s-1} c_{2s}}^{\nu_s\mu_s} j_*^{c_1 c_2 \dots c_{2s-1} c_{2s}}; \qquad (3.55)$$

$$j_{\ell}^{a_1 a_2 \dots a_{2s-1} a_{2s}} = \ell^{\nu_1} \gamma_{\nu_1 \mu_1}^{a_1 a_2} \dots \ell^{\nu_s} \gamma_{\nu_s \mu_s}^{a_{2s-1} a_{2s}} j^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_s} .$$
(3.56)

One can also translate  $j_{\ell}$  rather than j into tensor indices. This yields the tensor:

$$j_{\ell}^{\mu_1\nu_1\dots\mu_s\nu_s} = \frac{1}{4^s} \gamma_{a_1a_2}^{\mu_1\nu_1}\dots\gamma_{a_{2s-1}a_{2s}}^{\mu_s\nu_s} j_{\ell}^{a_1a_2\dots a_{2s-1}a_{2s}} = 2^s \ell^{[\mu_1} \delta_{\rho_1}^{\nu_1]}\dots\ell^{[\mu_s} \delta_{\rho_s}^{\nu_s]} j^{\rho_1\dots\rho_s} , \qquad (3.57)$$

which is invariant under (3.14).

If j has conformal weight  $\Delta$ , then  $j_{\ell}$  and  $j_*$  have weights  $\Delta - s$  and  $\Delta + s$ , respectively. The conformally covariant divergence (3.15), which is well-defined for  $\Delta = s + 1$ , is best expressed in spinor language in terms of  $j_*$ :

$$(\operatorname{div} j_*)^{a_1 \dots a_{2s-2}} = \frac{1}{8} \gamma_{bc}^{\mu\nu} \ell_\mu \frac{\partial}{\partial \ell^\nu} j_*^{a_1 \dots a_{2s-2}bc} \,. \tag{3.58}$$

When  $j_*$  has the correct conformal weight  $\Delta + s = 2s + 1$ , one can show that this operation is consistent with the equivalence relation (3.50). With the particular numerical factor in (3.58), div  $j_*$  is related to the tensorial expression (3.15) via the spin-(s - 1) version of the map (3.55).

#### 3.4.2 More on the bulk-to-boundary limit

It is instructive to flesh out the limit (3.41) in some more detail. For this purpose, we will need to know the *direction* from which the bulk point x approaches the boundary point  $\ell$ . This direction can be encoded by a second boundary point n, where we normalize  $\ell \cdot n = -1/2$  for convenience. We can then define the approach  $x^{\mu} \to \ell^{\mu}/z$  as:

$$x^{\mu} = \frac{1}{z}\ell^{\mu} + zn^{\mu}, \qquad (3.59)$$

such that  $x \cdot x = -1$  is maintained throughout. The trajectory (3.59) is just the geodesic from the boundary point *n* to the boundary point  $\ell$ , which approaches  $\ell$  as  $z \to 0$ . The spacelike unit tangent to the trajectory (3.59) reads:

$$t^{\mu} = \frac{1}{z}\ell^{\mu} - zn^{\mu}.$$
 (3.60)

For simplicity, let us choose a frame such that:

$$\ell^{\mu} = \left(\frac{1}{2}, \mathbf{0}, \frac{1}{2}\right); \quad n^{\mu} = \left(\frac{1}{2}, \mathbf{0}, -\frac{1}{2}\right).$$
 (3.61)

Then the trajectory (3.59) is just the geodesic of changing z at constant  $\mathbf{r} = 0$  in the Poincare coordinates (3.4). In the frame (3.61), using the explicit gamma matrices (3.20), we can now observe the following. The spinor spaces  $P(\ell)$  and  $P_{L/R}(x)$  and are spanned by twistors of the form:

$$P(\ell): U_{\ell} = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}; \quad P_L(x): U_L = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ zu \end{pmatrix}; \quad P_R(x): U_R = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ -zu \end{pmatrix}, \quad (3.62)$$

where u is a 2-component spinor. This explicitly shows how  $P_{L/R}(x)$  both converge towards  $P(\ell)$ .

It will be useful to identify the three twistors (3.62) for given u as representing "asymptotically the same" boundary spinor. They can be mapped explicitly onto each other using the following operators:

$$U_R = -tU_L = txU_L = (\ell n - n\ell)U_L;$$
(3.63)

$$U_L = +tU_R = txU_R = (\ell n - n\ell)U_R;$$
(3.64)

$$U_{\ell} = \frac{1}{2}(1+tx)U_{L/R} = \ell n U_{L/R} \,. \tag{3.65}$$

Thus, the operator  $tx = \ell n - n\ell$  asymptotically maps spinors in  $P_L(x)$  to their "asymptotically equal" counterparts in  $P_R(x)$  and vise versa, while the operator  $(1 + tx)/2 = \ell n$  maps them both to their "asymptotically equal" counterpart in  $P(\ell)$ . In other words, the projection  $U \to \ell n U \in P(\ell)$  defines the "boundary limit" of a twistor U. In the language of section 6 below, the projector  $\ell n$  can be interpreted as an infinite boost in the  $\ell \wedge n$  plane.

Finally, let us work out the action  $\Gamma \to \ell n \Gamma n \ell$  of the projector  $\ell n$  on a complete basis of twistor matrices  $\Gamma$ :

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
1 \to 0; & \ell \to \ell; & n \to 0; & \gamma_i \to 0; \\
\ell n - n\ell \to 0; & \ell \gamma_i \to \ell \gamma_i; & n \gamma_i \to 0; & \gamma_{ij} \to 0.
\end{array}$$
(3.66)

Here, we defined  $\gamma_i = e_i^{\mu} \gamma_{\mu}$ , where the indices (i, j, ...) run over the values 1, 2, 3, and the basis  $e_i^{\mu}$  spans the 3d subspace orthogonal to both  $\ell$  and n. Using a basis with  $\{x, t\}$  in place of  $\{\ell, n\}$ , eqs. (3.66) become:

$$1 \to 0; \qquad x \to \frac{1}{z}\ell; \qquad t \to \frac{1}{z}\ell; \qquad \gamma_i \to 0; tx \to 0; \qquad x\gamma_i \to \frac{1}{z}\ell\gamma_i; \qquad t\gamma_i \to \frac{1}{z}\ell\gamma_i; \qquad \gamma_{ij} \to 0.$$
(3.67)

#### 3.5 Bulk and boundary spinor spaces on an equal footing

For some purposes, in particular for the higher-spin two-point functions of section 4.4 below, one can avoid the distinction between bulk and boundary points. This feature is linked to covariance under the O(1,5) group of bulk conformal transformations, though we will not pursue that angle explicitly.

Let us consider a 2-component spinor space, which may be either a boundary spinor space  $P(\ell)$  or a bulk spinor space  $P_L(x)$  or  $P_R(x)$ . This spinor space is spanned by a twistor matrix, which in index-free notation is again simply  $P(\ell)$ ,  $P_L(x)$  or  $P_R(x)$ . These can all be treated as special cases of:

$$P(\xi) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \sqrt{-\xi \cdot \xi} + \xi \right) , \qquad (3.68)$$

where the matrix  $P^{ab}(\xi)$  is determined by a timelike or null vector  $\xi^{\mu} \in \mathbb{R}^{1,4}$ . The special cases of bulk and boundary spinor spaces correspond to:

$$\xi^{\mu} = \ell^{\mu} \Rightarrow P(\xi) = P(\ell); \quad \xi^{\mu} = \pm x^{\mu} \Rightarrow P(\xi) = P_{R/L}(x).$$
 (3.69)

Unifying eqs. (3.35) and (3.44), we can define a metric and measure on the spinor space  $P(\xi)$  via:

$$\frac{du^a du^b}{2\pi} \equiv P^{ab}(\xi) \, d^2 u \,. \tag{3.70}$$

We note the identity:

$$\epsilon_{abcd} P^{cd}(\xi) = 2P_{ab}(-\xi), \qquad (3.71)$$

which implies in particular that  $P(-\xi)$  is the subspace orthogonal to  $P(\xi)$ . In other words, the space  $P^*(\xi)$ , i.e. the dual to  $P(\xi)$  under the twistor metric, is just the quotient space of twistors modulo terms in  $P(-\xi)$ . For a boundary point, this reproduces the dual spinor space (3.45), since the spaces  $P(\ell)$  and  $P(-\ell)$  coincide (with a factor of -1 between the corresponding matrices). For a bulk point, this means that the space  $P^*_{L/R}(x)$  dual to  $P_{L/R}(x)$  is the space of twistors modulo terms in  $P_{R/L}(x)$ , which can be identified with  $P_{L/R}(x)$  itself.

Consider now a pair of spinor spaces  $P(\xi)$  and  $P(\xi')$ , associated with a pair of bulk or boundary points. The relationship between these spaces is governed by two invariants:

$$P_{ab}(\xi)P^{ab}(\xi') = \operatorname{tr}\left(P(\xi)P(\xi')\right) = \sqrt{(\xi\cdot\xi)(\xi'\cdot\xi')} - \xi\cdot\xi'; \qquad (3.72)$$

$$\frac{1}{2}\epsilon_{abcd}P^{ab}(\xi)P^{cd}(\xi') = \operatorname{tr}\left(P(\xi)P(-\xi')\right) = \sqrt{(\xi\cdot\xi)(\xi'\cdot\xi')} + \xi\cdot\xi'.$$
(3.73)

An arbitrary twistor U can be decomposed along  $P(\xi)$  and  $P(\xi')$  as follows:

$$U = u + u'; \quad u = \frac{2P(\xi)P(-\xi')U}{\operatorname{tr}(P(\xi)P(-\xi'))} \in P(\xi); \quad u' = \frac{2P(\xi')P(-\xi)U}{\operatorname{tr}(P(\xi')P(-\xi))} \in P(\xi'), \quad (3.74)$$

where the scalar product of the two components u, u' reads:

$$uu' = \frac{U\xi\xi'U}{2\left(\sqrt{(\xi\cdot\xi)(\xi'\cdot\xi')} + \xi\cdot\xi'\right)}.$$
(3.75)

The twistor measure decomposes under (3.74) as:

$$d^{4}U = \frac{1}{4} \epsilon_{abcd} P^{ab}(\xi) P^{cd}(\xi') d^{2}u d^{2}u' = \frac{1}{2} \left( \sqrt{(\xi \cdot \xi)(\xi' \cdot \xi')} + \xi \cdot \xi' \right) d^{2}u d^{2}u'.$$
(3.76)

The chiral decomposition  $U = u_L + u_R$  at a single bulk point x can be viewed as a special case of (3.74), with eqs. (3.75)–(3.76) reproducing the identities  $u_L u_R = 0$  and  $d^4 U = d^2 u_L d^2 u_R$ .

# 3.5.1 Integrals over spinor spaces

In calculations below, we will need the 2-component spinor versions of the 4-component twistor integrals (3.29)–(3.32). Consider a general (bulk or boundary) spinor space  $P(\xi)$  as above. A Gaussian integral over  $P(\xi)$  can be calculated as:

$$\int_{P(\xi)} d^2 u \, e^{uAu/2} = \frac{\pm 1}{\sqrt{\det_{P(\xi)}(A)}}; \quad \det_{P(\xi)}(A) = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left(P(\xi)A\right)^2. \tag{3.77}$$

Here, A is a symmetric twistor matrix, while  $\det_{P(\xi)}(A)$  is the determinant of A, viewed as a  $2 \times 2$  quadratic form over the spinor space  $P(\xi)$ .

The generic analog of the delta-function-type integral (3.29) involves a pair of spinor spaces  $P(\xi), P(\xi')$ . The integral reads:

$$\int_{P(\xi)} d^2 u \int_{P(\xi')} d^2 u' f(u) e^{iuu'} = \frac{2}{P_{ab}(\xi) P^{ab}(\xi')} f(0) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{(\xi \cdot \xi)(\xi' \cdot \xi')} - \xi \cdot \xi'} f(0).$$
(3.78)

In addition, at a single boundary point  $\ell$ , one can write the following delta-function-type integrals over the spinor space  $P(\ell)$  and its dual space  $P^*(\ell)$ :

$$\int_{P(\ell)} d^2 u \int_{P^*(\ell)} d^2 u^* f(u) \, e^{iuu^*} = f(0) \, ; \quad \int_{P(\ell)} d^2 u \int_{P^*(\ell)} d^2 u^* f(u^*) \, e^{iuu^*} = f(0) \, . \quad (3.79)$$

The integral (3.78) can be written explicitly in terms of a delta function as follows:

$$\int_{P(\xi)} d^2 u \,\delta_{\xi'}(u) f(u) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{(\xi \cdot \xi)(\xi' \cdot \xi')} - \xi \cdot \xi'} \,f(0)\,, \tag{3.80}$$

where the spinor delta function is defined as:

$$\delta_{\xi}(U) = \int_{P(\xi)} d^2 v \, e^{ivU} \,. \tag{3.81}$$

In the particular cases (3.69) of bulk and boundary spinor spaces, we denote these delta functions as:

$$\xi^{\mu} = \ell^{\mu} \Rightarrow \delta_{\xi}(U) = \delta_{\ell}(U); \quad \xi^{\mu} = \pm x^{\mu} \Rightarrow \delta_{\xi}(U) \equiv \delta_{x}^{R/L}(U).$$
(3.82)

The notation is meant to signify that  $\delta_{\xi}(U)$  is a delta function with respect to U, with support on a 2d spinor space determined by  $\xi$ . Specifically, it has support on the subspace  $P(-\xi)$  which is orthogonal to  $P(\xi)$ . For a boundary point, this means that  $\delta_{\ell}(U)$  has support on  $P(\ell)$ , forcing the  $P^*(\ell)$  component of U to vanish. For a bulk point, it means that  $\delta_x^{R/L}(U)$  has support on  $P_{L/R}(x)$ , forcing the  $P_{R/L}(x)$  component to vanish. The boundary delta function  $\delta_{\ell}(U)$  has conformal weight  $\Delta = 1$ , and can be used to rewrite the second integral in (3.79) as:

$$\int_{P^*(\ell)} d^2 u^* \,\delta_\ell(u^*) \,f(u^*) = f(0) \,. \tag{3.83}$$

The comments from section 3.2.2 regarding sign ambiguities in twistor integrals apply equally well to the spinor case. Gaussians are well-defined functions, but their integrals have a sign ambiguity that cannot be globally fixed. Conversely, delta functions have welldefined integrals, but they themselves are defined as limits of ordinary functions only up to sign. An additional subtlety arises when adding or comparing integrals over different spinor spaces, associated with different spacetime points. In that case, one must make a separate contour choice for every integral, and this choice may fail to be consistent across a large enough spacetime region.

# 4 Higher-spin algebra

# 4.1 Spacetime-independent structure

In higher-spin theory, one introduces (spacetime-independent) twistor coordinates  $Y^a$ , which are acted on by the non-commutative star product:

$$Y^a \star Y^b = Y^a Y^b + i I^{ab} \,. \tag{4.1}$$

By associativity, this extends into a product on polynomials in Y:

$$f(Y) \star g(Y) = f \exp\left(iI^{ab} \overleftarrow{\frac{\partial}{\partial Y^a}} \overrightarrow{\frac{\partial}{\partial Y^b}}\right) g.$$
(4.2)

In practical calculations, it is convenient to use the index-free notation of section 3.2.1, where some twistors are implicitly lower-index and some are upper-index. One can then use the formulas:

$$I^{ab} \frac{\overleftarrow{\partial}}{\partial Y^{a}} \frac{\overrightarrow{\partial}}{\partial Y^{b}} = \frac{\overleftarrow{\partial}}{\partial Y^{a}} \frac{\overrightarrow{\partial}}{\partial Y_{a}} = -\frac{\overleftarrow{\partial}}{\partial Y_{a}} \frac{\overrightarrow{\partial}}{\partial Y^{a}}, \qquad (4.3)$$

where it is important that  $\partial/\partial Y_a$  is *minus* the raised-index version of  $\partial/\partial Y^a$ . Together with rearrangements of the form (3.28), one can reduce calculations to convenient index-free expressions such as:

$$U\Gamma_{1}...\Gamma_{m}Y\left(I^{ab}\frac{\overleftarrow{\partial}}{\partial Y^{a}}\overrightarrow{\partial Y^{b}}\right)Y\Gamma_{m+1}...\Gamma_{n}V = U\Gamma_{1}...\Gamma_{n}V;$$

$$Y\Gamma_{1}...\Gamma_{m}\left(I^{ab}\frac{\overleftarrow{\partial}}{\partial Y^{a}}\overrightarrow{\partial Y^{b}}\right)\Gamma_{m+1}...\Gamma_{n}Y = -\operatorname{tr}(\Gamma_{1}...\Gamma_{n}).$$

$$(4.4)$$

The star product also extends to non-polynomial functions, where one must resort to an integral formula:

$$f(Y) \star g(Y) = f \exp\left(iI^{ab} \overleftarrow{\partial}_{Y^a} \overrightarrow{\partial}_{Y^b}\right) g = \int d^4U d^4V f(Y+U) g(Y+V) e^{-iUV} \,. \tag{4.5}$$

The higher-spin symmetry algebra is the infinite-dimensional Lie algebra of even (i.e. integer-spin) functions f(Y) with the associative product (4.5). It contains as a subalgebra the generators of the EAdS<sub>4</sub> isometry group O(1, 4):

$$M_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{i}{8} Y \gamma_{\mu\nu} Y \quad ; \quad [M^{\mu\nu}, M_{\rho\sigma}]_{\star} = 4\delta^{[\mu}_{[\rho} M^{\nu]}{}_{\sigma]} \,. \tag{4.6}$$

The product (4.5) respects a trace operation, defined simply by evaluating f(Y) at Y = 0:

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\star} f(Y) = f(0); \quad \operatorname{tr}_{\star}(f \star g) = \operatorname{tr}_{\star}(g \star f) = \int d^4 U d^4 V f(U) g(V) e^{-iUV}.$$
 (4.7)

Here, the equality  $\operatorname{tr}_{\star}(f \star g) = \operatorname{tr}_{\star}(g \star f)$  relies on f(Y), g(Y) being even functions. The  $\operatorname{tr}_{\star}$  operation is usually denoted in the literature by "str", since in certain generalizations of the algebra (4.5), the trace (4.7) becomes a supertrace.

Another important object is the delta function (3.31):

$$\delta(Y) = \int d^4 U \, e^{iUY} \,. \tag{4.8}$$

A star product with  $\delta(Y)$  implements the Fourier transform:

$$f(Y) \star \delta(Y) = \int d^4 U f(U) \, e^{iUY} \, ; \quad \delta(Y) \star f(Y) = \int d^4 U f(U) \, e^{-iUY} \, . \tag{4.9}$$

The following properties establish  $\delta(Y)$  as a Klein operator of the algebra (4.5):

$$\delta(Y) \star \delta(Y) = 1; \quad \delta(Y) \star f(Y) \star \delta(Y) = f(-Y), \qquad (4.10)$$

i.e.  $\delta(Y)$  (anti)commutes with even (odd) functions f(Y). This implies that  $\delta(Y)$  is invariant in the adjoint representation of the higher-spin symmetry group (recall that the symmetry includes only integer spins, i.e. only generators even in Y).

The star product  $f \star g$ , the trace  $\operatorname{tr}_{\star} f$  and the invariant Klein operator  $\delta(Y)$  are the only allowed ingredients in an expression that preserves (undeformed) higher-spin symmetry. The role of  $\delta(Y)$  in this list is somewhat subtle. The issue is the contour ambiguity of the integral formula (4.5), which arises whenever we do higher-spin algebra with nonpolynomial functions. As discussed in section 3.2.2, even the simplest cases - delta functions and Gaussians - are associated with a sign ambiguity. In particular, one should be careful with assigning meaning to the sign of  $\delta(Y)$  and its star products. While this sign ambiguity may not look like much, there is a sense in which it is the *only* information carried in star products with  $\delta(Y)$ . Indeed, since  $\delta(Y)$  squares to unity, one may think of decomposing the space of functions f(Y) into eigenspaces with eigenvalues  $\pm 1$  under star-multiplication by  $\delta(Y)$ . Formally, this decomposition is accomplished by the pair of projectors:

$$\mathcal{P}_{\pm}(Y) = \frac{1 \pm \delta(Y)}{2}.$$
 (4.11)

Conceptually, these projectors play an important role in the theory: as we will see, they are related to bulk antipodal symmetry, as well as to the two types of asymptotic boundary data (Neumann vs. Dirichlet or magnetic vs. electric). However, since the sign of  $\delta(Y)$  is a priori ambiguous, one shouldn't take the projectors (4.11) too seriously. In particular, in section 5.4, we will see in detail how they fail to be well-defined linear operators. In the present section, we will continue to list useful formal identities involving  $\delta(Y)$ . Later in the paper, we will make use of  $\delta(Y)$  and the projectors  $\mathcal{P}_{\pm}(Y)$ , but with a dose of care and self-consciousness.

# 4.2 Structure at a bulk point

Choosing a bulk point  $x \in EAdS_4$  picks out a preferred rotation group  $SO(4) = SO(3)_L \times SO(3)_R$  out of the isometry group SO(1, 4). In the star-product language, the two chiral

SO(3)'s are generated by bilinears  $y_L^a y_L^b$  and  $y_R^a y_R^b$ , where we used the chiral decomposition  $Y = y_L + y_R$  of the twistor Y into Weyl spinors at x. Each of the chiral SO(3)'s can be extended into its own higher-spin subalgebra, given respectively by chiral functions  $f(y_L)$  and  $f(y_R)$ . Since left-handed and right-handed spinors are orthogonal under the twistor metric, the two subalgebras commute. Explicitly, the chiral decomposition of the star product (4.1) reads:

$$y_{L}^{a} \star y_{L}^{b} = y_{L}^{a} y_{L}^{b} + i P_{L}^{ab}; \quad y_{R}^{a} \star y_{R}^{b} = y_{R}^{a} y_{R}^{b} + i P_{R}^{ab}; \quad y_{L}^{a} \star y_{R}^{b} = y_{R}^{b} \star y_{L}^{a} = y_{L}^{a} y_{R}^{b}, \quad (4.12)$$

where we must keep in mind that the projectors  $P_{L/R}$  and the Weyl spinors  $y_{L/R}$  depend on the bulk point x.

Analogously to the role of  $\delta(Y)$ , delta functions with respect to  $y_L$  and  $y_R$  play the role of Klein operators for the left-handed and right-handed higher-spin subalgebras. We've already encountered these spinor delta functions in eqs. (3.81)–(3.82):

$$\delta_x^L(Y) = \int_{P_L(x)} d^2 u_L \, e^{iu_L Y} \, ; \quad \delta_x^R(Y) = \int_{P_R(x)} d^2 u_R \, e^{iu_R Y} \, . \tag{4.13}$$

The delta function  $\delta_x^{L/R}(Y)$  depends on the twistor Y only through the spinor component  $y_{L/R}$ . These delta functions have star-product properties [15] analogous to eqs. (4.9)–(4.10):

$$f(y_L + y_R) \star \delta_x^L(y_L) = \int d^2 u_L f(u_L + y_R) e^{iu_L y_L};$$
  

$$\delta_x^L(y_L) \star f(y_L + y_R) = \int d^2 u_L f(u_L + y_R) e^{-iu_L y_L};$$
  

$$\delta_x^L(y_L) \star f(y_L + y_R) \star \delta_x^L(y_L) = f(-y_L + y_R),$$
  
(4.14)

and similarly for  $\delta_x^R(y_R)$ . These can be written more covariantly as:

$$f(Y) \star \delta_x^{L/R}(Y) = \int d^2 u_{L/R} f(Y + u_{L/R}) e^{iu_{L/R}Y}; \qquad (4.15)$$

$$\delta_x^{L/R}(Y) \star f(Y) = \int d^2 u_{L/R} f(Y + u_{L/R}) e^{-iu_{L/R}Y}; \qquad (4.16)$$

$$\delta_x^L(Y) \star f(Y) \star \delta_x^L(Y) = f(xY); \quad \delta_x^R(Y) \star f(Y) \star \delta_x^R(Y) = f(-xY).$$
(4.17)

As a special case, we have:

$$\delta_x^{L/R}(Y) \star \delta(Y) = \delta(Y) \star \delta_x^{L/R}(Y) = \delta_x^{R/L}(Y).$$
(4.18)

The products of the chiral delta functions are x-independent:

$$\delta_x^L(Y) \star \delta_x^L(Y) = \delta_x^R(Y) \star \delta_x^R(Y) = 1;$$
  

$$\delta_x^L(Y) \star \delta_x^R(Y) = \delta_x^R(Y) \star \delta_x^L(Y) = \delta_x^L(Y) \delta_x^R(Y) = \delta(Y).$$
(4.19)

Finally, it will be helpful to explicitly express the x-dependence of  $\delta_x^L(Y)$  and  $\delta_x^R(Y)$ . Taking x derivatives of integrals such as (4.13) is subtle, since the subspace over which we are integrating is itself a function of x. A useful workaround (e.g. for the  $d^2u_L$  integral) is to perform a change of variables  $u_L = P_L(x)u'_L$ , where  $u'_L$  can now be integrated over the left-handed spinor space  $P_L(x')$  at an arbitrary *fixed* point x'. After taking the desired x derivatives, we can replace  $x' \to x$ . By this method, we find:

$$\nabla_{\mu}\delta_{x}^{L} = -\frac{1}{2}(\gamma_{\mu})^{a}{}_{b}y_{R}^{b}\frac{\partial\delta_{x}^{L}}{\partial y_{L}^{a}} = -\frac{i}{2}(y_{L}\gamma_{\mu}y_{R})\star\delta_{x}^{L} = \frac{i}{2}\delta_{x}^{L}\star(y_{L}\gamma_{\mu}y_{R});$$

$$\nabla_{\mu}\delta_{x}^{R} = \frac{1}{2}(\gamma_{\mu})^{a}{}_{b}y_{L}^{b}\frac{\partial\delta_{x}^{R}}{\partial y_{R}^{a}} = -\frac{i}{2}(y_{L}\gamma_{\mu}y_{R})\star\delta_{x}^{R} = \frac{i}{2}\delta_{x}^{R}\star(y_{L}\gamma_{\mu}y_{R}),$$

$$(4.20)$$

or, in more covariant notation:

$$\nabla_{\mu}\delta_{x}^{L} = -\frac{i}{4}(Y\gamma_{\mu}xY) \star \delta_{x}^{L} = \frac{i}{4}\delta_{x}^{L} \star (Y\gamma_{\mu}xY);$$
  

$$\nabla_{\mu}\delta_{x}^{R} = -\frac{i}{4}(Y\gamma_{\mu}xY) \star \delta_{x}^{R} = \frac{i}{4}\delta_{x}^{R} \star (Y\gamma_{\mu}xY).$$
(4.21)

#### 4.3 Structure at a boundary point

Now, instead of a bulk point x, let us fix a boundary point  $\ell$ . The isometry group SO(1, 4), now viewed as the boundary conformal group, acquires three preferred subgroups, nested within each other:

- 1. Special conformal transformations around  $\ell$  (or, equivalently, translations in a frame where  $\ell$  is the point at infinity). These are generated by bilinears YAY, where the symmetric twistor matrix A satisfies  $\ell A = 0$ .
- 2. Special conformal transformations and rotations around  $\ell$ . These are generated by bilinears YAY where  $\ell A A\ell = 0$ .
- 3. Special conformal transformations, rotations and dilatations around  $\ell$ . These are generated by bilinears YAY where  $\ell A A\ell = \lambda \ell$  for some scalar  $\lambda$ .

Neither of these subgroups extends into an interesting higher-spin subalgebra. The only subgroup that extends at all is the first one. The corresponding higher-spin subalgebra  $\mathcal{A}_0(\ell)$  consists of functions f(Y) that satisfy f(Y + u) = f(Y) for any  $u \in P(\ell)$ , i.e. of functions  $f(y^*)$  over the boundary spinor space  $P^*(\ell)$ :

$$f(Y) \in \mathcal{A}_0(\ell) \quad \iff \quad f(Y+u) = f(Y) \text{ for } u \in P(\ell) \quad \iff \quad f(Y) = f(y^*).$$
(4.22)

The special conformal transformations around  $\ell$  are generated by the quadratic piece of this subalgebra. The entire subalgebra is commuting, and the star product is simply:

$$f, g \in \mathcal{A}_0(\ell) \implies f(Y) \star g(Y) = f(Y)g(Y).$$
 (4.23)

A special element of the subalgebra  $\mathcal{A}_0(\ell)$  is the delta function with respect to  $y^*$ , which we've encountered in eqs. (3.81)–(3.82):

$$\delta_{\ell}(Y) = \int_{P(\ell)} d^2 u \, e^{iuY} \,. \tag{4.24}$$

In the bulk-to-boundary limiting procedure (3.6), the delta function (4.24) can be expressed as a rescaled limit of the bulk delta functions (4.13):

$$\delta_{\ell}(Y) = \lim_{x \to \ell/z} \frac{1}{z} \,\delta_x^R(Y) = -\lim_{x \to \ell/z} \frac{1}{z} \,\delta_x^L(Y) \,. \tag{4.25}$$

However, unlike its bulk counterparts,  $\delta_{\ell}(Y)$  is *not* a Klein operator. In particular, the star product  $\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell}(Y)$  is divergent. The star product of  $\delta_{\ell}(Y)$  with the global delta function  $\delta(Y)$  reads:

$$\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta(Y) = \delta(Y) \star \delta_{\ell}(Y) = -\delta_{\ell}(Y).$$
(4.26)

From the point of view of the bulk-to-boundary limit (4.25), these identities can be viewed as a limiting case of (4.18).

The delta function  $\delta_{\ell}(Y)$  is a member not only of the subalgebra  $\mathcal{A}_0(\ell)$ , but of two additional (also degenerate) higher-spin subalgebras. These subalgebras, which we denote as  $\mathcal{A}_{\pm}(\ell)$ , consist of functions with the property:

$$f(Y) \in \mathcal{A}_{\pm}(\ell) \quad \iff \quad f(Y+u) = e^{\pm iuY} f(Y) \text{ for } u \in P(\ell),$$

$$(4.27)$$

Functions of the form (4.27) can be thought of as "twisted" functions on  $P^*(\ell)$ ; like the true functions on  $P^*(\ell)$  that make up the subalgebra  $\mathcal{A}_0(\ell)$ , they depend freely only on a single two-component spinor. The star product in the subalgebras  $\mathcal{A}_{\pm}(\ell)$  reads:

$$\begin{aligned}
f,g \in \mathcal{A}_{-}(\ell) & \Longrightarrow & f(Y) \star g(Y) = g(0)f(Y) = (\operatorname{tr}_{\star} g)f(Y); \\
f,g \in \mathcal{A}_{+}(\ell) & \Longrightarrow & f(Y) \star g(Y) = f(0)g(Y) = (\operatorname{tr}_{\star} f)g(Y).
\end{aligned} \tag{4.28}$$

The definition (4.27) of the subalgebras  $\mathcal{A}_{\pm}(\ell)$  can be expressed concisely in starproduct form:

$$f(Y) \in \mathcal{A}_{-}(\ell) \qquad \Longleftrightarrow \qquad f(Y) \star \ell Y = 0;$$
  

$$f(Y) \in \mathcal{A}_{+}(\ell) \qquad \Longleftrightarrow \qquad \ell Y \star f(Y) = 0.$$
(4.29)

From here, it follows that multiplication on the right (left) by a function in  $\mathcal{A}_{-}(\ell)$  ( $\mathcal{A}_{+}(\ell)$ ) projects *any* function into the corresponding subalgebra:

$$f \in \mathcal{A}_{-}(\ell) \Rightarrow g \star f \in \mathcal{A}_{-}(\ell); \quad f \in \mathcal{A}_{+}(\ell) \Rightarrow f \star g \in \mathcal{A}_{+}(\ell).$$
(4.30)

In particular, since  $\delta_{\ell}(Y)$  is an element of both  $\mathcal{A}_{-}(\ell)$  and  $\mathcal{A}_{+}(\ell)$ , we have, for any f(Y):

$$f(Y) \star \delta_{\ell}(Y) = \int_{P(\ell)} d^2 u \, f(Y+u) \, e^{iuY} \in \mathcal{A}_{-}(\ell) \,;$$
  

$$\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star f(Y) = \int_{P(\ell)} d^2 u \, f(Y+u) \, e^{-iuY} \in \mathcal{A}_{+}(\ell) \,,$$
(4.31)

while the product  $\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star f(Y) \star \delta_{\ell}(Y)$  is divergent. The formulas (4.31) can be recognized as boundary limits of (4.15)–(4.16). There is no boundary analog of the Fourier-transform formulas (4.14), because at a boundary point  $\ell$ , twistor space does not decompose into an orthogonal pair of spinor spaces.

# 4.4 Structure at two and more points

A key object in our analysis will be the star product of two spinor delta functions  $\delta_x^L(Y)$ ,  $\delta_x^R(Y)$  or  $\delta_\ell(Y)$  at a pair of bulk or boundary points. In this section, we will compute these products and discuss their properties. These two-point products are closely related to various propagators in the HS literature, such as the  $\mathcal{D}$ -functions of [14, 29] and the boundary-to-bulk propagators of [16], and are quite similar in spirit to propagators in ordinary field theory. However, one should keep in mind an important detail: while the products  $\delta \star \delta$  depend on two spacetime points, they depend on only *one* twistor variable Y, which is not associated with either point in particular. In section 6.3, we will discuss these two-point products from a different viewpoint, as group elements of the spacetime symmetry SO(1, 4).

# 4.4.1 The general two-point product

The different kinds of two-point products can all be computed together, using the machinery of section 3.5. Recall from (3.82) that the delta functions  $\delta_x^L(Y), \delta_x^R(Y), \delta_\ell(Y)$  are all special cases of the general spinor delta function (3.81):

$$\delta_{\xi}(Y) = \int_{P(\xi)} d^2 u \, e^{i u Y} \,. \tag{4.32}$$

The star-product formulas (4.15)–(4.16), (4.18), (4.26), (4.31) are all particular cases of the identities:

$$f(Y) \star \delta_{\xi}(Y) = \int_{P(\xi)} d^2 u \, f(Y+u) \, e^{iuY} \, ; \tag{4.33}$$

$$\delta_{\xi}(Y) \star f(Y) = \int_{P(\xi)} d^2 u \, f(Y+u) \, e^{-iuY} \, ; \tag{4.34}$$

$$\delta_{\xi}(Y) \star \delta(Y) = \delta(Y) \star \delta_{\xi}(Y) = \delta_{-\xi}(Y).$$
(4.35)

We can now compute the star product of two delta functions of the general type (4.32). First, using eq. (4.33), we get the integral expression:

$$\delta_{\xi}(Y) \star \delta_{\xi'}(Y) = \int_{P(\xi)} d^2 u \int_{P(\xi')} d^2 u' \, e^{i(uY + u'Y + uu')} \,. \tag{4.36}$$

With some work, this integral can be brought to the form (3.78). To do this, we decompose the twistor Y into a pair of spinors as in eq. (3.74):

$$Y = y + \bar{y}'; \quad y \in P(\xi); \quad \bar{y}' \in P(-\xi').$$
(4.37)

The  $\bar{y}'$  piece is identically orthogonal to  $u' \in P(\xi')$ , while the y piece can be used to shift the integration variable  $u \in P(\xi)$ . This brings the integral into the form:

$$\delta_{\xi}(Y) \star \delta_{\xi'}(Y) = \int_{P(\xi)} d^2 u \int_{P(\xi')} d^2 u' \, e^{i(uY + y\bar{y}')} e^{iuu'} = \frac{2e^{iy\bar{y}'}}{\sqrt{(\xi \cdot \xi)(\xi' \cdot \xi')} - \xi \cdot \xi'}$$

$$= \frac{2}{\sqrt{(\xi \cdot \xi)(\xi' \cdot \xi')} - \xi \cdot \xi'} \exp\left(\frac{-iY\xi\xi'Y/2}{\sqrt{(\xi \cdot \xi)(\xi' \cdot \xi')} - \xi \cdot \xi'}\right).$$

$$(4.38)$$

where we used eq. (3.78) in the first line and eq. (3.75) in the second line. For particular cases of bulk/boundary points, the result (4.38) reads:

$$\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell'}(Y) = -\frac{2}{\ell \cdot \ell'} \exp \frac{iY\ell\ell'Y}{2\ell \cdot \ell'}; \qquad (4.39)$$

$$\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{x}^{R}(Y) = -\frac{2}{\ell \cdot x} \exp \frac{iY\ell xY}{2\ell \cdot x}; \quad \delta_{x}^{R}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell}(Y) = -\frac{2}{\ell \cdot x} \exp \frac{iYx\ell Y}{2\ell \cdot x}; \quad (4.40)$$

$$\delta_x^R(Y) \star \delta_{x'}^R(Y) = \frac{2}{1 - x \cdot x'} \exp \frac{iYxx'Y}{2(x \cdot x' - 1)}, \qquad (4.41)$$

where one can substitute  $\delta_x^R(Y) \to \delta_x^L(Y)$  via the antipodal map  $x \to -x$ , and likewise for x'.

#### 4.4.2 Properties of the boundary-boundary product

We now focus on the boundary-boundary two-point product (4.39), which possesses some remarkable properties. First, if we multiply (4.39) by  $\sqrt{-\ell \cdot \ell'}$ , the result has the conformal weight  $\Delta = 1/2$  of a 3d free massless scalar with respect to both boundary points. We can then evaluate the 3d conformal Laplacian (3.11), only to find that the massless wave equation is satisfied:

$$\sqrt{-\ell \cdot \ell'} \,\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell'}(Y) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{-\ell \cdot \ell'}} \exp \frac{iY\ell\ell'Y}{2\ell \cdot \ell'} \,; \tag{4.42}$$

$$\Box_{\ell}\left(\sqrt{-\ell \cdot \ell'}\,\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell'}(Y)\right) = \Box_{\ell'}\left(\sqrt{-\ell \cdot \ell'}\,\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell'}(Y)\right) = 0 \quad \forall \ell \neq \ell'.$$
(4.43)

At  $\ell = \ell'$ , the two-point product has a singularity, and the wave equation (4.43) picks up a source term. Moreover, since this is an *essential* singularity, the source term will contain not just a delta distribution, but also an infinite tower of its derivatives. Thus, upon integration over  $\ell$  or  $\ell'$ , the source will *not* appear localized at  $\ell = \ell'$ , as we will see explicitly in section 7.4.3.

Upon taking the higher-spin trace (4.7), the essential singularity in (4.42) becomes a simple pole. In fact, up to a numerical factor, this trace is just the  $\Delta = 1/2$  boundary-to-boundary propagator, which satisfies the wave equation with a point source:

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\star}\left(\sqrt{-\ell \cdot \ell'}\,\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell'}(Y)\right) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{-\ell \cdot \ell'}}\,;\tag{4.44}$$

$$\Box_{\ell} \operatorname{tr}_{\star} \left( \sqrt{-\ell \cdot \ell'} \,\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell'}(Y) \right) = -8\pi \sqrt{2} \,\delta^{5/2,1/2}(\ell,\ell') \,. \tag{4.45}$$

Here, the superscripts on the boundary delta function  $\delta(\ell, \ell')$  denote its conformal weight with respect to each argument. To derive the wave equation (4.45), we recall that in the flat frame (3.7),  $\sqrt{-\ell \cdot \ell'}$  is just the 3d Euclidean distance  $|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r'}|/\sqrt{2}$ . The full Gaussian (4.42) can now be understood as a Taylor series of derivatives of the propagator (4.44). This can be seen explicitly by converting the coefficients of different powers of Y into boundary tensors, or more abstractly from eqs. (6.24), (6.26) below.

Another feature of the boundary-boundary product (4.39) is that it belongs simultaneously to the higher-spin subalgebras  $\mathcal{A}_+(\ell)$  and  $\mathcal{A}_-(\ell')$ . As we can see from (4.31), the same is true for the more general product  $\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star f(Y) \star \delta_{\ell'}(Y)$ , where f(Y) is an arbitrary function. On the other hand, it's clear from the definition (4.27) or (4.29) that the intersection  $\mathcal{A}_{+}(\ell) \cap \mathcal{A}_{-}(\ell')$  is one-dimensional. Therefore, for any function f(Y), we must have:

$$\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star f(Y) \star \delta_{\ell'}(Y) = \lambda \,\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell'}(Y) \,, \tag{4.46}$$

for some Y-independent coefficient  $\lambda$ . Taking the higher-spin trace of both sides, we can express this coefficient as:

$$\lambda = -\frac{\ell \cdot \ell'}{2} \operatorname{tr}_{\star} \left( \delta_{\ell}(Y) \star f(Y) \star \delta_{\ell'}(Y) \right) \,. \tag{4.47}$$

Eq. (4.46) is the underlying root of the "forgetful property" [16] of higher-spin propagators. As a special case of (4.46), we evaluate the three-point product:

$$\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell'}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell''}(Y) = \pm i \sqrt{-\frac{\ell \cdot \ell''}{2(\ell \cdot \ell')(\ell' \cdot \ell'')}} \,\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell''}(Y) \,. \tag{4.48}$$

The sign ambiguity is due to a Gaussian integration of the form (3.77). An efficient way to derive eq. (4.48) is to use the result (4.39) for the product of two delta functions, and then factor in the third delta function via (4.31); thanks to eq. (4.46), it suffices to evaluate the result at Y = 0.

# 5 Linearized higher-spin gravity

In this section, we formulate linearized higher-spin gravity on EAdS<sub>4</sub>, along with its solution via the Penrose transform. The formulas that appear here will receive a more geometric interpretation in section 6. In section 5.1, we describe free massless fields of arbitrary integer spin. In section 5.2, we review the Penrose transform in (A)dS<sub>4</sub>. In section 5.3, we introduce the unfolded formulation, which recasts both the field equations and the Penrose transform into HS-covariant star-product expressions. Finally, in section 5.4, we discuss antipodal symmetry  $x^{\mu} \leftrightarrow -x^{\mu}$  and its analogue in the twistor language.

# 5.1 Free massless fields in EAdS<sub>4</sub>

Our starting point is a set of free massless fields, one for each integer spin. A field with spin s > 0 is described by the self-dual and anti-self-dual parts of its field strength (i.e. the higher-spin generalization of the Maxwell tensor and the linearized Weyl tensor). These are encoded by purely left-handed and purely right-handed totally symmetric spinors with 2s indices. The field content is thus:

Spin 0: 
$$C^{(0,0)}$$
, Spin 1:  $C^{(2,0)}_{\alpha\beta}, C^{(0,2)}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}$ , Spin 2:  $C^{(4,0)}_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}, C^{(0,4)}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}\dot{\gamma}\dot{\delta}}$ , etc., (5.1)

where the numbers in parentheses signify the number of left-handed and right-handed spinor indices. We are temporarily introducing designated indices  $(\alpha, \beta, ...)$  and  $(\dot{\alpha}, \dot{\beta}, ...)$ respectively for left-handed and right-handed Weyl spinors at a bulk point x. These are the same as twistor indices (a, b, ...), but with  $P_{L/R}(x)$  chiral projections implied. The spinor fields (5.1) can also be expressed in tensor form, using the convention (3.24) for converting a symmetric pair of twistor indices into an antisymmetric pair of tensor indices. The left-handed and right-handed parts of the spin-s field strength combine into a single tensor, via:

$$C_{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}...\mu_{s}\nu_{s}} = C_{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}...\mu_{s}\nu_{s}}^{L} + C_{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}...\mu_{s}\nu_{s}}^{R};$$

$$C_{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}...\mu_{s}\nu_{s}}^{L} = \frac{1}{4^{s}}\gamma_{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}}^{\alpha_{1}\beta_{1}} \dots \gamma_{\mu_{s}\nu_{s}}^{\alpha_{s}\beta_{s}}C_{\alpha_{1}\beta_{1}...\alpha_{s}\beta_{s}}^{(2s,0)};$$

$$C_{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}...\mu_{s}\nu_{s}}^{R} = \frac{1}{4^{s}}\gamma_{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}}^{\dot{\alpha}_{1}\dot{\beta}_{1}} \dots \gamma_{\mu_{s}\nu_{s}}^{\dot{\alpha}_{s}\dot{\beta}_{s}}C_{\dot{\alpha}_{1}\dot{\beta}_{1}...\dot{\alpha}_{s}\dot{\beta}_{s}}^{(0,2s)}.$$
(5.2)

The tensor field  $C_{\mu_1\nu_1...\mu_s\nu_s}$  has the symmetries of a generalized Weyl tensor: it is totally traceless, antisymmetric within each  $\mu_k\nu_k$  index pair, symmetric under the exchange of any two such pairs, and vanishes when antisymmetrized over any three indices. The righthanded and left-handed parts of  $C_{\mu_1\nu_1...\mu_s\nu_s}$  are distinguished by their eigenvalues  $\pm 1$  under a Hodge dualization of any  $\mu_k\nu_k$  index pair:

$$-\frac{1}{2}\epsilon_{\mu_1\nu_1}{}^{\lambda\rho\sigma}x_{\lambda}C^{R/L}_{\rho\sigma\mu_2\nu_2\dots\mu_s\nu_s} = \pm C^{R/L}_{\rho\sigma\mu_2\nu_2\dots\mu_s\nu_s},$$
(5.3)

where the minus sign on the l.h.s. arises from the fact that the time component of  $x_{\lambda}$  is negative.

Let us now write the field equations satisfied by the field strengths (5.1). The scalar field  $C^{(0,0)}$  satisfies the wave equation for a conformally coupled massless scalar:

$$\nabla_{\mu}\nabla^{\mu}C^{(0,0)} = -2C^{(0,0)}, \qquad (5.4)$$

while the fields with spin s > 0 satisfy the free massless equations:

$$\nabla^{\alpha_1}{}_{\dot{\beta}} C^{(2s,0)}_{\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \dots \alpha_{2s}} = 0; \quad \nabla_{\beta}{}^{\dot{\alpha}_1} C^{(0,2s)}_{\dot{\alpha}_1 \dot{\alpha}_2 \dots \dot{\alpha}_{2s}} = 0.$$
(5.5)

# 5.2 The Penrose transform

The Penrose transform [6, 7] is a closed-form general solution to the field equations (5.4)–(5.5) in terms of an even (but otherwise unconstrained) twistor function F(Y). It is important that F(Y) is a holomorphic function, i.e. without additional dependence on the complex-conjugate variable  $\overline{Y}$ ; throughout this paper, we are taking this property of twistor functions for granted.

More specifically, each of the individual fields (5.1), i.e. each separate helicity, is captured by a twistor function F(Y) of a particular *degree of homogeneity*  $-2 \pm 2s$ . A general even function can be decomposed into eigenfunctions of the homogeneity operator  $Y^a(\partial/\partial Y^a)$ , with even integer eigenvalues. In this way, a general even function F(Y) contains a single free massless field of each helicity, i.e. precisely the higher-spin multiplet (5.1).

In the notations of this paper, the Penrose transform for each of the fields (5.1) reads:

$$C^{(2s,0)}_{\alpha_1...\alpha_{2s}}(x) = i \int_{P_R(x)} d^2 u_R \left. \frac{\partial^s F_R(u_L + u_R)}{\partial u_L^{\alpha_1} \dots \partial u_L^{\alpha_{2s}}} \right|_{u_L = 0} ;$$
(5.6)

$$C_{(0,2s)}^{\dot{\alpha}_1\dots\dot{\alpha}_{2s}}(x) = i(-1)^s \int_{P_R(x)} d^2 u_R \, u_R^{\dot{\alpha}_1}\dots u_R^{\dot{\alpha}_{2s}} F_R(u_R) \,, \tag{5.7}$$

where  $F_R(Y)$  is an arbitrary even twistor function, and the factors of *i* and  $(-1)^s$  are for later convenience. The spin-0 field  $C^{(0,0)}$  is contained in (5.6)–(5.7) a shared special case:

$$C^{(0,0)}(x) = i \int_{P_R(x)} d^2 u_R F_R(u_R) \,.$$
(5.8)

The R subscript in  $F_R(Y)$  is to indicate that the integrals in (5.6)–(5.8) are over the 2d spinor subspace  $P_R(x)$ . An alternative transform, using  $P_L(x)$  instead, reads:

$$C^{\alpha_1...\alpha_{2s}}_{(2s,0)}(x) = -i(-1)^s \int_{P_L(x)} d^2 u_L \, u_L^{\alpha_1} \dots u_L^{\alpha_{2s}} F_L(u_L) \,; \tag{5.9}$$

$$C^{(0,2s)}_{\dot{\alpha}_1\dots\dot{\alpha}_{2s}}(x) = -i \int_{P_L(x)} d^2 u_L \left. \frac{\partial^s F_L(u_L + u_R)}{\partial u_R^{\dot{\alpha}_1}\dots\partial u_R^{\dot{\alpha}_{2s}}} \right|_{u_R = 0},$$
(5.10)

where  $F_L(Y)$  is again an arbitrary even twistor function, and we introduced an extra sign factor for later convenience. The transforms (5.6)–(5.10) can also be written in Dirac-spinor (i.e. twistor) indices, as:

$$C_{a_{1}...a_{2s}}^{(2s,0)}(x) = i \int_{P_{R}(x)} d^{2}u \, \frac{\partial^{s} F_{R}(U)}{\partial U^{a_{1}} \dots \partial U^{a_{2s}}} \bigg|_{U=u} = -i(-1)^{s} \int_{P_{L}(x)} d^{2}u \, u_{a_{1}} \dots u_{a_{2s}} F_{L}(u);$$

$$C_{a_{1}...a_{2s}}^{(0,2s)}(x) = i(-1)^{s} \int_{P_{R}(x)} d^{2}u \, u_{a_{1}} \dots u_{a_{2s}} F_{R}(u) = -i \int_{P_{L}(x)} d^{2}u \, \frac{\partial^{s} F_{L}(U)}{\partial U^{a_{1}} \dots \partial U^{a_{2s}}} \bigg|_{U=u}.$$
(5.11)

Here, the integrals automatically project the Dirac indices into the correct Weyl subspace in each case.

Proving that the fields (5.6)-(5.10) indeed satisfy the field equations (5.4)-(5.5) is rather straightforward. The main subtlety is the *x*-dependence of the spinor integration range, which must be taken into account when taking spacetime derivatives. This can be dealt with by same method as when deriving eq. (4.21), i.e. by performing a change of variables that shifts the *x*-dependence into the integrand. The details, in a slightly different language, can be found e.g. in [28].

The above presentation of the Penrose transform differs somewhat from the one normally given in a twistor-theory textbook. The first difference is that we're starting in (A)dS spacetime, and treating twistors as the spinors of the isometry group SO(1, 4). Normally, one starts instead in flat spacetime, and treats twistors as the spinors of the conformal group SO(2, 4) (which, with our EAdS<sub>4</sub> signature, would actually be SO(1, 5)). As far as the Penrose transform is concerned, this difference is merely superficial: both the transform and the free massless field equations are conformally covariant, so that Minkowski and (A)dS are equally good starting points. That being said, the unfolded, star-product-based formalism of the next subsection is *not* covariant under the 4d conformal group; there, the non-vanishing cosmological constant will be crucial.

Another difference between our presentation and the standard one is that the integrals in (5.6)–(5.10) are over  $\mathbb{C}^2$  spinor subspaces (with measure  $d^2u$ ), as opposed to their projective  $\mathbb{CP}^1$  versions (with measure udu). Thus, we are using the (well-known, but not as common) "non-projective" version of the transform. The projective vs. non-projective integrals are very closely related. In particular, the non-projective integrals (5.6)–(5.7) pick out the component of the twistor function  $F_R(Y)$  with homogeneity  $-2\pm 2s$  respectively, as one can show by rescaling the integration variable. This is the already-mentioned relation between helicity and the homogeneity of the twistor function. For a function  $F_R(Y)$  of the "correct" homogeneity, the projective integral  $u_R du_R$  will agree with the non-projective one up to numerical factors; essentially, the extra 1d integral in the non-projective case can be treated as  $\int d\alpha/\alpha = \pm 2\pi i$ . For a function  $F_R(Y)$  of the "wrong" homogeneity, the projective integral is ill-defined, while the non-projective one evaluates to zero. Thus, the non-projective Penrose transform (5.6)–(5.10) is the same as the projective one, except that it allows us not to worry about mixing different spins/homogeneities in the integrand.

Finally, as we repeatedly discuss in this paper, integrals of the form (5.6)–(5.10) suffer from contour ambiguities. From the HS point of view, these are directly related to the analogous ambiguity in the integral definition (4.5) of the star product. Due to these contour ambiguities, the Penrose transform is more properly defined in terms of sheaf cohomology. However, in keeping with the HS literature, we do not follow that more rigorous path, and instead continue working with ordinary functions, while keeping the ambiguity in mind. The advantage of this "naive" approach is that it allows us to treat  $F_{L/R}(Y)$  and C(x; Y) on an equal footing, as ordinary functions of the Y variable.

# 5.3 Unfolded formulation and the higher-spin-covariant perspective

The next step is to rephrase the dynamics of our free massless fields in unfolded form. Let us introduce the full set of on-shell-inequivalent derivatives of the fields  $C^{(2s,0)}, C^{(0,2s)}$  for  $s \ge 0$ :

$$(C^{(2s+k,k)})_{\alpha_1...\alpha_{2s}\beta_1...\beta_k}{}^{\dot{\beta}_1...\dot{\beta}_k} = i^k \nabla_{(\beta_1}{}^{(\dot{\beta}_1} \dots \nabla_{\beta_k}{}^{\dot{\beta}_k)} C^{(2s,0)}_{\alpha_1...\alpha_{2s})}; (C^{(k,2s+k)})^{\beta_1...\beta_k}{}_{\dot{\beta}_1...\dot{\beta}_k\dot{\alpha}_1...\dot{\alpha}_{2s}} = i^k \nabla^{(\beta_1}{}_{(\dot{\beta}_1}\dots\nabla^{\beta_k)}{}_{\dot{\beta}_k} C^{(0,2s)}_{\dot{\alpha}_1...\dot{\alpha}_{2s})},$$

$$(5.12)$$

where the factors of *i* are for later convenience. We now have a field  $C^{(m,n)}$  for every pair of integers *m*, *n* such that m + n is even, i.e. one field for every integer-spin representation of the bulk rotation group SO(4). We can neatly package these into a single scalar master field C(x; Y), which is an even function of the twistor coordinate Y:

$$C(x;Y) = \sum_{m,n} \frac{1}{m!n!} C^{(m,n)}_{\alpha_1...\alpha_m \dot{\alpha}_1...\dot{\alpha}_n} y_L^{\alpha_1} \dots y_L^{\alpha_m} y_R^{\dot{\alpha}_1} \dots y_R^{\dot{\alpha}_n};$$
(5.13)

$$C^{(m,n)}_{\alpha_1\dots\alpha_m\dot{\alpha}_1\dots\dot{\alpha}_n} = (P_L)^{a_1}{}_{\alpha_1}\dots(P_L)^{a_m}{}_{\alpha_m}(P_R)^{a_{m+1}}\dot{\alpha}_1\dots(P_R)^{a_{m+n}}\dot{\alpha}_n \left.\frac{\partial^{m+n}C}{\partial Y^{a_1}\dots\partial Y^{a_{m+n}}}\right|_{Y=0},$$

where  $y_{L/R} = P_{L/R}(x)Y$  are the chiral components of Y at the point x. The field equations (5.4)–(5.5) and the definitions (5.12) are all encapsulated in the following unfolded equation:

$$\nabla_{\mu}C = \frac{i}{2}C \star (y_L \gamma_{\mu} y_R), \qquad (5.14)$$

or, expressing  $y_L$  and  $y_R$  explicitly in terms of Y and x:

$$\nabla_{\mu}C = \frac{i}{4}C \star (Y\gamma_{\mu}xY). \qquad (5.15)$$

The star product in (5.15) breaks down into three terms of the form CYY,  $(\partial C/\partial Y)Y$  and  $\partial^2 C/\partial Y^2$ . Among these, the  $(\partial C/\partial Y)Y$  piece accounts for the x dependence of the chiral decomposition  $Y = y_L + y_R$  in (5.13), while the other two account for the x dependence of the component fields  $C^{(m,n)}$  themselves. Specifically, the  $\partial^2 C/\partial Y^2$  term encodes the flat-spacetime version of eqs. (5.4)–(5.12), while the CYY term corrects the second derivatives to account for the curvature of EAdS<sub>4</sub>.

Having written the unfolded equation in the form (5.15), we recognize from (4.21) that it is solved by the chiral delta functions  $\delta_x^{L/R}(Y)$ . Moreover, we see that the general solution can be expressed as:

$$C(x;Y) = F_R(Y) \star i\delta_x^R(Y) = i \int_{P_R(x)} d^2 u_R F_R(Y+u_R) e^{iu_R Y}, \qquad (5.16)$$

or, equivalently:

$$C(x;Y) = -F_L(Y) \star i\delta_x^L(Y) = -i \int_{P_L(x)} d^2 u_L F_R(Y+u_L) e^{iu_L Y}, \qquad (5.17)$$

where the  $\pm i$  factors are chosen for later convenience, and we used eqs. (4.15)–(4.16) to obtain the explicit integral expressions. The spacetime-independent functions  $F_{L/R}(Y)$  are Fourier transforms of each other:

$$F_R(Y) = -F_L(Y) \star \delta(Y).$$
(5.18)

Moreover, using the decomposition (5.13), one can see that these functions are the same as the  $F_{L/R}(Y)$  from section 5.2. Thus, we recognize eqs. (5.16)–(5.17) as the unfolded, HS-covariant formulation of the Penrose transform!

It may seem strange that the unfolded equation (5.15) prefers  $C \star (Y\gamma_{\mu}xY)$  over  $(Y\gamma_{\mu}xY) \star C$ . It turns out that the second possibility is in fact realized, if we replace  $i \to -i$  in the definition (5.12) of the unfolded fields. Equivalently, we can define an alternative master field  $\tilde{C}$  as:

$$\tilde{C}(x;Y) = \sum_{m,n} \frac{(-1)^m}{m!n!} C^{(m,n)}_{\alpha_1 \dots \alpha_m \dot{\alpha}_1 \dots \dot{\alpha}_n} y_L^{\alpha_1} \dots y_L^{\alpha_m} y_R^{\dot{\alpha}_1} \dots y_R^{\dot{\alpha}_n} = C(x;y_R - y_L) = C(x;xY) ,$$
(5.19)

for which the field equation and its solution read:

$$\nabla_{\mu}\tilde{C} = -\frac{i}{4}(Y\gamma_{\mu}xY)\star\tilde{C}\,; \qquad (5.20)$$

$$\tilde{C}(x;Y) = -i\delta_x^R(Y) \star F_R(Y) = i\delta_x^L(Y) \star F_L(Y).$$
(5.21)

In fact, it follows from (4.17) that the Penrose transform  $F_{L/R}(Y)$  is the same as in (5.16)–(5.17).

Since  $\delta_x^R(Y)$  and  $\delta_x^L(Y)$  square to unity, we can explicitly solve for the master field at a point x' in terms of the master field at a point x via:

$$C(x';Y) = C(x;Y) \star \delta_x^R(Y) \star \delta_{x'}^R(Y) , \qquad (5.22)$$

where the two-point product  $\delta_x^R \star \delta_{x'}^R = \delta_x^L \star \delta_{x'}^L$  is given by the Gaussian (4.41):

$$\delta_x^R(Y) \star \delta_{x'}^R(Y) = \delta_x^L(Y) \star \delta_{x'}^L(Y) = \frac{2}{1 - x \cdot x'} \exp \frac{iYxx'Y}{2(x \cdot x' - 1)}.$$
 (5.23)

It is simultaneously a solution to the unfolded equation (5.15) in x' and to the "flipped" equation (5.20) in x. The fact that the master field at x' can be deduced from its value at a *single* point x is a feature of the unfolded formalism.

Note that in all of the above, we did not require a higher-spin gauge connection. Instead, we directly wrote the linear field equations and their solutions in terms of gaugeinvariant field strengths on the background  $\operatorname{EAdS}_4$  geometry. HS symmetry appears only as a global symmetry of the equations, parameterized by a spacetime-independent even function  $\varepsilon(Y)$ . The Penrose transform  $F_R(Y)$  transforms under this symmetry in the adjoint:

$$\delta F_R = \varepsilon \star F_R - F_R \star \varepsilon, \qquad (5.24)$$

and likewise for  $F_L(Y)$ . The master field C(x; Y) transforms in the "twisted adjoint":

$$\delta C = \varepsilon \star C - C \star \delta_x^R \star \varepsilon \star \delta_x^R \,, \tag{5.25}$$

where the product  $\delta_x^R \star \varepsilon \star \delta_x^R = \delta_x^L \star \varepsilon \star \delta_x^L$  can be evaluated as in (4.17).

In section 7, we will similarly describe the free U(N) vector model (with external sources) in a language that renders global higher-spin symmetry manifest, while avoiding any gauge redundancy.

# 5.4 Antipodal symmetry

A special role is played by solutions with the antipodal symmetry:

$$C(-x;Y) = \pm C(x;Y),$$
 (5.26)

The antipodal map  $x^{\mu} \to -x^{\mu}$  is the central element of the spacetime symmetry group O(1, 4). Under this map, the EAdS<sub>4</sub> hyperboloid (3.1) is sent into its  $x^0 < 0$  counterpart. Thus, strictly speaking, C(-x; Y) is an analytic continuation of the solution C(x, Y) into the antipodal EAdS<sub>4</sub>. In the Poincare coordinates (3.4), the antipodal map corresponds to the operation  $z \to -z$ , which was invoked in the discussion [30] of higher-spin holography. Indeed, as we will see in section 8.2, the two antipodal parities in (5.26) directly correspond to the two types of asymptotic boundary data for each of the component fields in C(x; Y) [30]. A detailed analysis of this relation in the language of individual fields was carried out in [31, 32] (see also [33]). The antipodal symmetry is also of significance in the de Sitter context [32], as we will review in section 9. Let us now see how the symmetry (5.26) is expressed at the level of spacetimeindependent twistor functions. Plugging the identity  $\delta_x^L(Y) = \delta_{-x}^R(Y)$  into the Penrose transform (5.16)–(5.18), we obtain that (5.26) is equivalent to any of the following:

$$F_L(Y) = \mp F_R(Y) \iff F_R(Y) \star \delta(Y) = \pm F_R(Y) \iff F_L(Y) \star \delta(Y) = \pm F_L(Y) . \quad (5.27)$$

Taking the Penrose transform of (5.27), we can also express (5.26) as a star-product symmetry of C(x; Y) at a single point x:

$$C(x;Y) \star \delta(Y) = \pm C(x;Y). \qquad (5.28)$$

An arbitrary bulk solution C(x; Y) can be decomposed into antipodally even and odd pieces in the sense of (5.26)–(5.28). For the twistor functions  $F_{L/R}(Y)$ , as well as for C(x; Y)viewed as a function of Y at fixed x, the corresponding decomposition is accomplished by the projectors  $\mathcal{P}_{\pm}(Y)$  from (4.11).

That being said, we must emphasize that conditions such as (5.27)-(5.28), as well as the projectors  $\mathcal{P}_{\pm}(Y)$ , should be handled with caution, due to contour ambiguities in the star product, as well as in the delta functions  $\delta(Y)$ ,  $\delta_x^{L/R}(Y)$  themselves. When in doubt, it is helpful to look back to the original condition (5.26) in spacetime. We will now present a simple example that shows how (5.27)–(5.28) can fail to be well-defined linear properties, or, equivalently, how  $\mathcal{P}_{\pm}(Y)$  can fail to be well-defined projectors.

Consider a conformally-coupled massless scalar field, with field equation (5.4). An important solution to this field equation is the boundary-to-bulk propagator  $1/(\ell \cdot x)$ . For  $x^{\mu}$  timelike, i.e. on EAdS<sub>4</sub> and its antipodal image, this propagator is non-singular, and is odd under the antipodal map  $x \to -x$ . Now, consider a superposition of such propagators, obtained by integrating  $\ell^{\mu}$  over an  $S_3$  section of the  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$  lightcone, i.e. over the 3-sphere  $(\ell \cdot \ell = 0, \ \ell \cdot x_0 = -1)$ , where  $x_0$  is some future-pointing unit vector. This can be expressed as a conformally covariant  $d^3\ell$  integral by inserting  $1/(\ell \cdot x_0)^2$  into the integrand. The result reads:

$$\int \frac{d^3\ell}{(\ell \cdot x_0)^2} \frac{1}{(\ell \cdot x)} = 4\pi^2 \times \begin{cases} 1/(x \cdot x_0 - 1) & x \text{ future-pointing} \\ 1/(x \cdot x_0 + 1) & x \text{ past-pointing} \end{cases},$$
(5.29)

where we recall that future-pointing vs. past-pointing  $x^{\mu}$  correspond to points on the original EAdS<sub>4</sub> vs. the antipodal one. The key property of the bulk solution (5.29) is that it's still odd under  $x \to -x$ , but this is accomplished non-analytically: if we were to analytically continue the solution from future-pointing x to past-pointing x, the result wouldn't have a definite antipodal parity. As an aside, note that the r.h.s. of (5.29) is just a bulk-to-bulk propagator between  $x_0$  and x. Therefore, (5.29) is a simple example of the split representation [34] of bulk-to-bulk propagators as boundary integrals.

Now, let us upgrade the statement (5.29) to the master-field level. The master field for the boundary-to-bulk propagator  $1/(\ell \cdot x)$  reads:

$$C_{\ell}(x;Y) = \frac{1}{2} \,\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_x^L(Y) = -\frac{1}{2} \,\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_x^R(Y) = \frac{1}{\ell \cdot x} \exp \frac{iY \ell xY}{2\ell \cdot x} \,. \tag{5.30}$$

This is clearly antipodally odd, both in the spacetime sense of (5.26) and in the star-product sense of (5.28):

$$C_{\ell}(x;Y) \star \delta(Y) = C_{\ell}(-x;Y) = -C_{\ell}(x;Y).$$
 (5.31)

However, taking the linear superposition (5.29), we find:

$$\int \frac{d^3\ell}{(\ell \cdot x_0)^2} C_{\ell}(x;Y) = 4\pi^2 \times \begin{cases} C_{x_0}^{(-)}(x;Y) & x \text{ future-pointing} \\ C_{x_0}^{(+)}(x;Y) & x \text{ past-pointing} \end{cases},$$
(5.32)

where  $C_{x_0}^{(\pm)}(x;Y)$  is the master field corresponding to the bulk-to-bulk propagator  $1/(x \cdot x_0 \pm 1)$ , which we encountered in (5.23):

$$C_{x_0}^{(-)}(x;Y) = -\frac{1}{2} \,\delta_{x_0}^L(Y) \star \delta_x^L(Y) = -\frac{1}{2} \,\delta_{x_0}^R(Y) \star \delta_x^R(Y) = \frac{1}{x \cdot x_0 - 1} \exp \frac{iY x_0 x Y}{2(x \cdot x_0 - 1)};$$

$$C_{x_0}^{(+)}(x;Y) = +\frac{1}{2} \,\delta_{x_0}^R(Y) \star \delta_x^L(Y) = +\frac{1}{2} \,\delta_{x_0}^L(Y) \star \delta_x^R(Y) = \frac{1}{x \cdot x_0 + 1} \exp \frac{iY x_0 x Y}{2(x \cdot x_0 + 1)}.$$
(5.33)

We now see that while the spacetime antipodal symmetry C(-x; Y) = -C(x; Y) is preserved by the superposition (5.32), its star-product analogue  $C(x; Y) \star \delta(Y) = -C(x; Y)$ is not. We also see exactly why this happens: the master field  $C_{x_0}^{(\pm)}(x; Y)$  on each branch contains only the local Taylor series of the bulk solution. Therefore, the master field at each x "sees" the analytic continuation of the bulk solution from the neighborhood of x, which does *not* have definite antipodal parity, instead of seeing the antipodally odd, but nonanalytic, global superposition (5.32)–(5.33).

# 6 Higher-spin representation of spacetime symmetries and the Penrose transform

As we've seen in eq. (4.6), the quadratic elements  $Y_a Y_b$  of the higher-spin algebra generate the spacetime symmetry group SO(1,4). In this section, we consider the finite group elements that arise by exponentiating these generators (the completion of SO(1,4) into O(1,4) will be addressed in section 6.2.1). In the process, we will clarify the role of the delta functions  $\delta(Y)$ ,  $\delta_x^{L/R}(Y)$ ,  $\delta_\ell(Y)$  with respect to spacetime symmetries. This in turn will lead us to the geometric interpretation (2.2)–(2.3) of the Penrose transform as a square root of CPT.

#### 6.1 Clifford algebra

As mentioned in eq. (2.1), HS algebra is just a simple variation on Clifford algebra, where the vector  $\gamma_{\mu}$  subject to anticommutation relations is replaced with a twistor  $Y_a$  subject to commutation relations. Correspondingly, our analysis below will closely mirror the well-known geometric properties of Clifford algebra (for a particularly spirited review of these, see [35]). In Clifford algebra, commutation with the infinitesimal generators  $\gamma_{[\mu}\gamma_{\nu]}/2$  realizes the standard action of the orthogonal group — in our case, SO(1, 4):

$$\left\lfloor \frac{1}{2}\gamma_{[\nu}\gamma_{\rho]},\gamma^{\mu_1}\dots\gamma^{\mu_n}\right\rfloor = 2\left(\delta^{\mu_1}_{[\nu}\gamma_{\rho]}\gamma^{\mu_2}\dots\gamma^{\mu_n}+\dots+\gamma^{\mu_1}\dots\gamma^{\mu_{n-1}}\delta^{\mu_n}_{[\nu}\gamma_{\rho]}\right).$$
(6.1)

Alternatively, instead of starting with infinitesimal generators, one can construct SO(1,4) out of some fundamental *finite* transformations. In particular, the adjoint action of  $x = x^{\mu}\gamma_{\mu}$  is a reversal of the subspace orthogonal to a unit vector  $x^{\mu}$ . In our conventions, with  $x^{\mu}$  timelike, this reads explicitly as:

$$x \gamma^{\mu_1} \dots \gamma^{\mu_n} x = \tilde{\gamma}^{\mu_1} \dots \tilde{\gamma}^{\mu_n}, \quad \text{where} \quad \tilde{\gamma}^{\mu} \equiv -(\delta^{\mu}_{\nu} + 2x^{\mu} x_{\nu}) \gamma^{\nu}.$$
 (6.2)

By combining two such reversals with respect to a pair of axes x, x', one obtains a finite rotation (or boost) by *twice the angle* between x and x':

$$xx'\gamma^{\mu_1}\dots\gamma^{\mu_n}x'x = \tilde{\gamma}^{\mu_1}\dots\tilde{\gamma}^{\mu_n}, \quad \text{where} \quad \tilde{\gamma}^{\mu} \equiv \left(\delta^{\mu}_{\nu} + 2x^{\mu}x_{\nu} + 2x'^{\mu}x'_{\nu} + 4(x\cdot x')x^{\mu}x'_{\nu}\right)\gamma^{\nu}.$$
(6.3)

In particular, a rotation by  $\pi$  (in a spacelike plane) can be represented by xx' with x' perpendicular to x. A rotation by  $2\pi$ , represented by the algebra element xx' = -1, is obtained via x' = -x. The infinitesimal generators  $\gamma_{[\mu}\gamma_{\nu]}/2$  can be obtained by expanding (6.3) around x = x'.

In odd dimensions, such as our case with the embedding space  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$ , one can also go in the opposite direction, and derive the reflection (6.2) by exponentiating the infinitesimal generators. The way to do this in  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$  is to rotate by  $\pi$  in a pair of planes orthogonal both to  $x^{\mu}$  and to each other. If the rotation is performed in both planes at once, then, depending on the planes' orientation, it will belong to either the left-handed or the righthanded subgroup of the 4d rotations  $\mathrm{SO}(4) = \mathrm{SO}(3)_L \times \mathrm{SO}(3)_R$  around  $x^{\mu}$ . We then obtain either x or -x as the reflection operator. When used in the adjoint, both x and -x produce the same reflection (6.2).

For comparison with the higher-spin case below, let us perform this calculation explicitly. We choose a frame such that  $x^{\mu} = e_0^{\mu}$ , and use the representation (3.21) for the gamma matrices. Now, consider e.g. a right-handed rotation along the bivector  $e_1 \wedge e_2 + e_3 \wedge e_4$ . A rotation by an infinitesimal angle  $\varepsilon$  in each of the two planes  $e_1 \wedge e_2$  and  $e_3 \wedge e_4$  is represented in Clifford algebra by:

$$1 + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}(\gamma_1\gamma_2 + \gamma_3\gamma_4) = 1 - i\varepsilon \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0\\ 0 & \sigma_3 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.4)

Exponentiating, we obtain the operator for rotation by a finite angle  $\theta$ :

$$g_{\theta} = \exp\left(-i\theta \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma_3 \end{pmatrix}\right) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \cos\theta - i\sin\theta\sigma_3 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.5)

In particular, for  $\theta = \pi$ , we get the operator:

$$g_{\pi} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} = -\gamma_0 = -x.$$
 (6.6)

Similarly, a left-handed rotation along the bivector  $e_1 \wedge e_2 - e_3 \wedge e_4$  will produce +x as the reflection operator. Note that  $g_{2\pi} = 1$ , as it should be: while a single  $2\pi$  rotation need not take us back to the identity, a combination of  $2\pi$  rotations in a *pair* of planes must always do so.

So far, we considered the *adjoint* action  $g\Gamma g^{-1}$  in Clifford algebra, where g represents an SO(1, 4) group element. As we saw in (6.1) or (6.2), this realizes the standard action of SO(1, 4) on the algebra element  $\Gamma$ , which consists of spin-0 and spin-1 pieces. The next natural question is what happens if one acts instead in the fundamental, i.e. simply via  $g\Gamma$ . The answer, of course, is that this transformation law describes spinors (or, in our case, twistors). In particular, the reflection (6.2) is realized on twistors as  $U \to \pm xU$ .

When describing spinors from within the Clifford algebra itself (as Cartan had done originally), the geometric structure of SO(1,4) becomes obscured. That is why it's better to introduce separate indices for spinors, and to develop geometric intuition about spinor space in its own right. As we will see below, the situation in higher-spin algebra is different: there, the SO(1,4) can be made manifest not only in the algebra's adjoint representation, but also in the fundamental. In both the Clifford and HS cases, while the adjoint action of SO(1,4) can be formulated on the individual vector  $\gamma_{\mu}$  or twistor  $Y_a$ , the fundamental action mixes different powers of these objects.

# 6.2 Higher-spin algebra

Let us now perform the analogous analysis for HS algebra in place of Clifford algebra. Since infinitesimal SO(1,4) rotations are generated by  $Y_a Y_b$ , finite rotations will be generated, via exponentiation, by Gaussian functions. In addition, we will find that various reflections are represented by delta functions.

As a first step, let us identify the higher-spin analog of  $x^{\mu}\gamma_{\mu}$  — the reflection that reverses the subspace orthogonal to  $x^{\mu}$ . As discussed above, we can construct this group element from the infinitesimal generators by performing a left-handed or right-handed rotation by  $\pi$  in a pair of totally orthogonal planes. In the higher-spin algebra, such rotations are generated by the bilinears  $y_L^a y_L^b$  or  $y_R^a y_R^b$ , respectively. As before, we fix  $x^{\mu} = e_0^{\mu}$ , and use the representation (3.21) for the gamma matrices. A twistor  $Y^a$  can now be decomposed as:

$$Y^{a} = \begin{pmatrix} y_{L}^{0} \\ y_{L}^{1} \\ y_{R}^{0} \\ y_{R}^{1} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (6.7)$$

where the top and bottom halves correspond to the left-handed and right-handed parts of  $Y^a$  at  $x^{\mu}$ . Now, consider again a right-handed rotation along the bivector  $e_1 \wedge e_2 + e_3 \wedge e_4$ . In our chosen basis, we read off from eq. (4.6) that a rotation by an infinitesimal angle  $\varepsilon$  in each of the two planes  $e_1 \wedge e_2, e_3 \wedge e_4$  is represented in HS algebra by  $1 + (\varepsilon/2)y_R^0y_R^1$ . Exponentiating with the star product, we obtain the operator for rotation by a finite angle  $\theta$ :

$$R_{\theta}(Y) = \exp_{\star}\left(\frac{\theta}{2} y_R^0 y_R^1\right) = \frac{1}{\cos(\theta/2)} \exp\left(\tan\frac{\theta}{2} y_R^0 y_R^1\right).$$
(6.8)

One can verify this formula for the star-exponential by differentiating both sides with respect to  $\theta$ . Note the appearance of  $\theta/2$  in eq. (6.8), as opposed to  $\theta$  in its Clifford-algebra analog (6.5). In particular, for  $\theta = 2\pi$ , we get:

j

$$R_{2\pi}(Y) = -1. (6.9)$$

This signals a problem: even in a spinor representation, a  $2\pi$  rotation in a *pair* of planes must return the identity. To resolve this contradiction, we must recall from section 3.2.2 that the star product of Gaussians is only defined *up to sign*. Now that we understand Gaussians as Spin(1,4) elements, eq. (6.9) is teaching us that there is *no globally consistent way* to fix this sign ambiguity. For instance, one attempt to fix the sign ambiguity may be to define "the" Gaussian representing a Spin(1,4) element as the one obtained by the shortest direct route from the identity, i.e. by exponentiating a generator through the smallest possible angle. However, this definition would break down for precisely the case we're interested in: the reversal  $-(\delta^{\mu}_{\nu} + 2x^{\mu}x_{\nu})$  of a 4d subspace in  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$ , which may be realized as a rotation (6.8) with  $\theta = \pi$ .

Consider, then, the rotation (6.8) with  $\theta = \pi$ . In this limit, the coefficients both outside and inside the exponent diverge, and the Gaussian becomes a delta function over the  $y_R$  spinor space:  $R_{\pi}(Y) \sim \delta_x^R(Y)$ . To find the normalization, we integrate (6.8) over  $y_R$  using eq. (3.77):

$$\int R_{\theta}(y_R) \, d^2 y_R = \frac{\pm i}{\sin(\theta/2)} \,. \tag{6.10}$$

Thus, in the limit  $\theta = \pi$ , the integral is  $\pm i$ , and we identify the reflection operator as:

$$R_{\pi}(Y) = \pm i \delta_x^R(Y) \,. \tag{6.11}$$

As we will shortly see, the sign ambiguity here cannot be fixed. If we were to construct the reflection  $-(\delta^{\mu}_{\nu} + 2x^{\mu}x_{\nu})$  via a left-handed rotation, we would instead get  $\pm i\delta^{L}_{x}(Y)$  as the reflection operator. In other words,  $\pm i\delta^{L}_{x}(Y)$  and  $\pm i\delta^{R}_{x}(Y)$  in higher-spin algebra play the same geometric role as do x and -x in Clifford algebra. In fact, we've already seen in (4.17) that the adjoint action of  $\pm i\delta^{L/R}_{x}(Y)$  directly realizes the reflection  $Y \to \pm xY$ :

$$(\pm i\delta_x^L(Y)) \star f(Y) \star (\pm i\delta_x^L(Y))_{\star}^{-1} = \delta_x^L(Y) \star f(Y) \star \delta_x^L(Y) = f(xY); (\pm i\delta_x^R(Y)) \star f(Y) \star (\pm i\delta_x^R(Y))_{\star}^{-1} = \delta_x^R(Y) \star f(Y) \star \delta_x^R(Y) = f(-xY).$$

$$(6.12)$$

As with eq. (6.2) in Clifford algebra, we can now take the reflection (6.12) as the fundamental geometric operation in place of the infinitesimal generators  $Y_a Y_b$ . In particular, the product (4.41) of two reflections with respect to the unit vectors x, x' gives a rotation in the corresponding plane by twice the angle between x and x':

$$\left(\pm i\delta_x^L(Y)\right) \star \left(\mp i\delta_{x'}^L(Y)\right) = \left(\pm i\delta_x^R(Y)\right) \star \left(\mp i\delta_{x'}^R(Y)\right) = \frac{2}{1 - x \cdot x'} \exp \frac{iYxx'Y}{2(x \cdot x' - 1)}.$$
(6.13)

Note that in order to recover the identity in the limit x = x', we must choose opposite signs for the two reflection operators. This demonstrates that the sign ambiguity (6.11) cannot be fixed consistently.

As we can see, HS algebra is a kind of square root of Clifford algebra. In a sense, this is already clear from the definitions (2.1), since spinors are the "square roots" of vectors. However, the "square root" relationship between the algebras is more concrete than that. Indeed, we see e.g. in (6.12) that the *adjoint* action of HS algebra realizes the *fundamental* action of Clifford algebra on the twistor Y. We also saw the angle  $\theta/2$  appearing in (6.8) as opposed to  $\theta$  in (6.5), which led to a sign ambiguity on top of the ordinary double cover  $SO(1, 4) \rightarrow Spin(1, 4)$ .

We are now ready to apply this section's geometric viewpoint to linearized higherspin gravity. We recognize immediately that while the adjoint action (6.12) of  $\pm i\delta^{L/R}(Y)$ directly realizes the reflection  $-(\delta^{\mu}_{\nu} + 2x^{\mu}x_{\nu})$  on Y, the fundamental action (5.16)–(5.17) realizes the Penrose transform. In this sense, the Penrose transform is the "square root" of a reflection. While the adjoint reflection (6.12) acts on the argument Y, the Penrose transform acts on functions f(Y) as a whole. This must be the case, since the SO(1,4) transformation of an individual twistor does not have a square root: twistors are *already* a square root of  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$  vectors.

For the final touch to our interpretation of the Penrose transform, we should spell out the spacetime significance of the reflection  $-(\delta^{\mu}_{\nu} + 2x^{\mu}x_{\nu})$ . So far, the vector  $x^{\mu}$  has been timelike, representing a radius vector on the EAdS<sub>4</sub> hyperboloid. However, eventually, the more physical case is Lorentzian dS<sub>4</sub> spacetime, given in  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$  by *spacelike* unit vectors  $x^{\mu}$ . There, the subspace orthogonal to  $x^{\mu}$  is the dS<sub>4</sub> tangent space at the point x, and the reflection  $-(\delta^{\mu}_{\nu} + 2x^{\mu}x_{\nu})$  is the de Sitter analog of CPT, with x as the origin. Our statement (2.3) now follows: the Penrose transform is a square root of CPT.

#### 6.2.1 Rotations by $2\pi$ and the antipodal map

So far in this section, we've been careful to distinguish SO(1, 4) from the full O(1, 4). The geometric transformations we've constructed up to now only cover SO(1, 4), i.e the even elements of O(1, 4). This includes the CPT reflections (6.2), (6.12), since they reverse an even number of axes. To enlarge our scope to the full O(1, 4), we must add to our menu its central element: the antipodal map  $x^{\mu} \to -x^{\mu}$ , which reverses all 5 axes in  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$ . On a single twistor  $Y^a$ , the only way to represent this transformation non-trivially is by complex conjugation, which we will not consider here. With that option closed, we must resort, as with the Penrose transform, to acting on whole functions f(Y). In fact, in section 5.4, we've already seen how this happens — the antipodal map on bulk master fields C(x; Y) is realized by multiplying either C(x; Y) itself or its Penrose transform by  $\delta(Y)$ :

$$F_{L/R}(Y) \to F_{L/R}(Y) \star \delta(Y) \iff C(x;Y) \to C(-x;Y) = C(x;Y) \star \delta(Y).$$
 (6.14)

This follows from decomposing  $\delta(Y) = \delta_x^L(Y) \star \delta_x^R(Y)$ , which can be interpreted as the Penrose transform at x followed by the inverse transform at -x. Thus, while SO(1, 4) is manifestly realized by the adjoint action of HS algebra, the antipodal map is realized by acting with  $\delta(Y)$  in the fundamental.

To complete the picture, it remains to understand the geometric role of  $\delta(Y)$  when acting in the adjoint. As we can see from (4.10), the answer is simply a  $2\pi$  rotation:

$$\delta(Y) \star f(Y) \star \delta(Y) = f(-Y). \tag{6.15}$$

This can again be understood in terms of the decomposition  $\delta(Y) = \delta_x^L(Y) \star \delta_x^R(Y)$ : the product of two  $\pi$  rotations along e.g. the bivectors  $e_1 \wedge e_2 + e_3 \wedge e_4$  and  $e_1 \wedge e_2 - e_3 \wedge e_4$  is simply a  $2\pi$  rotation along  $e_1 \wedge e_2$ .

In light of the above two roles of  $\delta(Y)$ , one can rephrase the  $\sqrt{\text{CPT}}$  nature of the Penrose transform as follows: the Penrose transform is to CPT as the antipodal map is to a  $2\pi$  rotation.

#### 6.3 The null limit

So far, we've considered spacetime symmetries through the lens of reflections around timelike (or spacelike) vectors  $x^{\mu}$ . As we've seen, this geometry relates naturally to the bulk higher-spin theory. To discuss the boundary theory, we must take the limit (3.6), where the reflection vector  $x^{\mu}$  becomes null. The reflection matrix  $-(\delta^{\mu}_{\nu} + 2x^{\mu}x_{\nu})$  then becomes:

$$-(\delta^{\mu}_{\nu} + 2x^{\mu}x_{\nu}) \longrightarrow \frac{2}{z^2} \left(-\ell^{\mu}\ell_{\nu} + O(z^2)\right).$$
(6.16)

The leading-order part of this matrix, renormalized so as to make it finite, is the degenerate "reflection matrix"  $-\ell^{\mu}\ell_{\nu}$ , which projects any vector onto  $\ell^{\mu}$ . Combining two such "reflections" with respect to a pair of null vectors  $\ell, \ell'$ , we get the matrix:

$$(-\ell^{\mu}\ell_{\rho})(-\ell^{\prime\rho}\ell_{\nu}^{\prime}) \sim -\ell^{\mu}\ell_{\nu}^{\prime}.$$
(6.17)

Treating  $\ell, \ell'$  as the null limits of highly boosted timelike vectors x, x', we recognize the matrix (6.17) as a boost by an infinite angle in the  $\ell \wedge \ell'$  plane (again, renormalized for finiteness). This boost shrinks  $\ell'^{\mu}$  to zero, stretches  $\ell^{\mu}$  to infinity, and leaves untouched the subspace orthogonal to both. As a result, the renormalized matrix  $-\ell^{\mu}\ell'_{\nu}$  leaves the  $\ell^{\mu}$  component finite, while annihilating both the  $\ell'^{\mu}$  and orthogonal components.

The degenerate "reflections"  $-\ell^{\mu}\ell_{\nu}$  and "infinite boosts"  $-\ell^{\mu}\ell'_{\nu}$  satisfy a "forgetful property": any linear operation sandwiched between two reflections is reduced to the corresponding boost (6.17). Explicitly, for any matrix  $M^{\mu}_{\nu}$ , we trivially have:

$$(-\ell^{\mu}\ell_{\rho})M^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}(-\ell^{\prime\sigma}\ell^{\prime}_{\nu}) \sim -\ell^{\mu}\ell^{\prime}_{\nu}.$$

$$(6.18)$$

In Clifford algebra, the analog of the matrix  $-\ell^{\mu}\ell_{\nu}$  is the algebra element  $\ell = \ell^{\mu}\gamma_{\mu}$ ; in higher-spin algebra, the corresponding element is the boundary spinor delta function  $\delta_{\ell}(Y)$ . These algebra elements and their products do not quite represent SO(1, 4) transformations, but renormalized limiting cases thereof. In fact, the renormalization is different in the different algebras:  $-\ell^{\mu}\ell_{\nu}$ ,  $\ell$  and  $\delta_{\ell}(Y)$  all scale differently with  $\ell^{\mu}$ . Thus, it is tempting to apply the geometry of (6.16)–(6.18) in the context of Clifford or HS algebra, but one must be mindful that not every property might carry over. It turns out that the HS algebra element  $\delta_{\ell}(Y)$  closely resembles in its properties the "null reflection" matrix  $-\ell^{\mu}\ell_{\nu}$ , while the Clifford algebra element  $\ell$  does not. In Clifford algebra, the analog of the "forgetful property" (6.18) does not hold: the products  $\ell\Gamma\ell'$ are not all proportional to each other, but span a 4d subspace, parameterized by varying  $\Gamma$  over the Clifford algebra of the 3d hyperplane orthogonal to  $\ell, \ell'$ . In contrast, in HS algebra, the "forgetful property" does hold, as we've seen in eq. (4.46): all products of the form  $\delta_{\ell} \star f \star \delta_{\ell'}$  are proportional to each other, since they must lie in the intersection of the subalgebras  $\mathcal{A}_{+}(\ell) \cap \mathcal{A}_{-}(\ell')$ . In particular, the product of three "null reflections" behaves similarly in spacetime and in HS algebra:

$$(-\ell^{\mu}\ell_{\rho})(-\ell'^{\rho}\ell'_{\sigma})(-\ell''^{\sigma}\ell''_{\nu}) = -(\ell \cdot \ell')(\ell' \cdot \ell'')\ell^{\mu}\ell''_{\nu}$$
vs.
$$\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell'}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell''}(Y) = \pm i\sqrt{-\frac{\ell \cdot \ell''}{2(\ell \cdot \ell')(\ell' \cdot \ell'')}}\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell''}(Y),$$
(6.19)

where the different proportionality coefficients arise from the different scaling properties of  $-\ell^{\mu}\ell_{\nu}$  and  $\delta_{\ell}(Y)$ .

#### 6.4 Manifest SO(1,4) in the higher-spin fundamental

We are now ready to understand the geometric action (2.5) of CPT — and thus of the entire SO(1, 4) — on the boundary two-point product (2.4) in the higher-spin fundamental. In other words, we wish to calculate the action  $\delta_{\ell} \star \delta_{\ell'} \star \delta_x^R$  of the CPT operator  $\delta_x^R(Y)$  on the boundary two-point product  $\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell'}(Y)$ . The first step is to notice that the boundary-bulk product  $\delta_{\ell'} \star \delta_x^R$  can be reduced to a boundary-boundary product. Specifically, we can read off from (4.39)–(4.40) the identity (switching temporarily from  $\ell'$  to  $\ell$  to simplify notations):

$$\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_x^R(Y) = -2(\ell \cdot x) \,\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{\tilde{\ell}}(Y) \,, \tag{6.20}$$

where  $\tilde{\ell}^{\mu}$  is the result of the CPT reflection  $-(\delta^{\mu}_{\nu} + 2x^{\mu}x_{\nu})$  acting on the null vector  $\ell^{\mu}$ :

$$\tilde{\ell}^{\mu} = -\ell^{\mu} - 2(\ell \cdot x)x^{\mu} \,. \tag{6.21}$$

In the context of EAdS<sub>4</sub> geometry,  $\tilde{\ell}$  is the second boundary endpoint of the geodesic that begins at  $\ell$  and passes through x.

Within the geometric framework of this section, the equality (6.20) is not surprising. Up to renormalization, the product  $\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_x^R(Y)$  represents an infinite boost in the timelike plane  $\ell \wedge x$ . The same boost can also be represented by  $\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{\tilde{\ell}}(Y)$ , where  $\tilde{\ell}$  is the second null vector in this plane. That is precisely the statement of eqs. (6.20)–(6.21). Returning now to the task of calculating  $\delta_{\ell} \star \delta_{\ell'} \star \delta_x^R$ , we use (6.20) and then (4.48) to find:

$$\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell'}(Y) \star \delta_{x}^{R}(Y) = -2(\ell' \cdot x) \,\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell'}(Y) \star \delta_{\tilde{\ell}'}(Y) = \pm i \sqrt{\frac{\ell \cdot \tilde{\ell}'}{\ell \cdot \ell'}} \,\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{\tilde{\ell}'}(Y) \,. \tag{6.22}$$

We have thus confirmed the first equation in (2.5):

$$K(\ell, \ell'; Y) \star i\delta_x^R(Y) = \pm K(\ell, \tilde{\ell}'; Y), \qquad (6.23)$$

where:

$$K(\ell, \ell'; Y) \sim \sqrt{-\ell \cdot \ell'} \,\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell'}(Y) \,. \tag{6.24}$$

For multiplication on the left, we similarly derive:

4

$$i\delta_x^R(Y) \star K(\ell, \ell'; Y) = \pm K(\hat{\ell}, \ell'; Y), \qquad (6.25)$$

and identical formulas hold for  $\delta_x^L(Y)$  in place of  $\delta_x^R(Y)$ . Note that the sign ambiguities in (6.23), (6.25) cannot be consistently resolved. If we insisted on choosing a particular sign, then applying e.g. eq. (6.23) twice, we would find a contradiction with the identity  $\delta_x^R \star \delta_x^R = +1.$ 

As promised, we see that the CPT reflection operators  $\pm i \delta_x^{R/L}(Y)$ , acting on  $K(\ell, \ell'; Y)$ in the higher-spin fundamental, have the effect of applying CPT to *one* of the two boundary points  $\ell, \ell'$ . Thus, when acting on these bilocals, the Penrose transform is manifestly a square root of CPT. Furthermore, since all of SO(1, 4) can be constructed by combining reflections around different points x, we conclude that the same is true for a *general* SO(1, 4) operator g: acting with g on  $K(\ell, \ell'; Y)$  in the higher-spin fundamental will result in the corresponding SO(1, 4) transformation of one of the two points  $\ell, \ell'$ . We can verify this directly by applying the SO(1, 4) generators (4.6) to find the result quoted in (2.6):

$$M_{\mu\nu} \star K(\ell, \ell'; Y) = \ell_{\mu} \frac{\partial K}{\partial \ell^{\nu}} - \ell_{\nu} \frac{\partial K}{\partial \ell^{\mu}};$$
  
-K(\ell, \ell'; Y) \times M\_{\mu\nu} = \ell'\_{\mu} \frac{\partial K}{\partial \ell^{\prime \nu}} - \ell'\_{\nu} \frac{\partial K}{\partial \ell^{\prime \mu}}. (6.26)

Note that in this case, there are no sign ambiguities in the star products, since  $M_{\mu\nu} \sim Y \gamma_{\mu\nu} Y$  is polynomial in Y.

# 7 The CFT in higher-spin-covariant twistor language

#### 7.1 Overview

In this section, we express the 3d free U(N) vector model in twistor language, making its higher-spin conformal invariance manifest. We represent the conformal 3-sphere on which the CFT lives as the projective lightcone ( $\ell_{\mu}\ell^{\mu} = 0$ ,  $\ell^{0} > 0$ ,  $\ell^{\mu} \cong \lambda \ell^{\mu}$ ) in  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$ . Thus, we are using the "embedding-space formalism" for CFT (see e.g. [36]). In section 7.2, we express our CFT in the standard language of local operators and sources. In section 7.3, as a first step towards the twistor formalism, we express the theory and its correlators at separated points in a *bilocal* language. For the very special case of a free vector model, this language is more natural than the standard local one, because all single-trace operators are quadratic in the fundamental fields. Our bilocal formalism is inspired by the one in [21]. However, unlike the authors of [21], we do not treat the bilocal operators as a new "fundamental" field. Instead, we treat them straightforwardly as composite operators, coupled to bilocal sources. Of course, these quadratic CFT operators do become fundamental fields once we switch to the bulk description. In this sense, the CFT is a "square root" of the bulk theory. The results of the present section can be viewed as a consequence of this "square root" relation, combined with the "square root" relation (2.2)–(2.3) between the Penrose transform and CPT.

The local and bilocal languages for the CFT share some qualitative features. The bilocal sources, like the local gauge potentials, are gauge-redundant (in fact, their gauge redundancy is even larger). Conversely, the bilocal operators, like the local conserved currents, satisfy constraints. Finally, as discussed in section 2.3, in a region with non-vanishing (either local or bilocal) sources, one would need contact terms to obtain finite and conserved expectation values for the local currents.

In section 7.4, having established the bilocal language, we use it as a springboard towards a fully nonlocal, twistorial formulation of the CFT. In this formulation, the sources are no longer gauge-redundant, while the single-trace "currents" are constraint-free. At the same time, the theory's global higher-spin symmetry becomes manifest. Our transform between the twistor and bilocal formulations is a boundary version of the bulk Penrose transform. Since the CFT is free even when the bulk is interacting, this boundary/twistor transform allows us to express the full partition function in the twistor language. Finally, as we discuss in section 8.5, the twistor language appears to automatically include all the necessary contact terms, so that we end up with conserved currents even at finite sources.

# 7.2 Local language

We begin with the action of N free massless scalars in the fundamental representation of an internal U(N) symmetry:

$$S_{\rm CFT} = -\int d^3\ell \,\bar{\phi}_I \Box \phi^I \,. \tag{7.1}$$

Here, I = 1, ..., N is an internal index;  $\phi^I$  and their complex conjugates  $\bar{\phi}_I$  are dynamical fields with conformal weight  $\Delta = 1/2$ . We consider only U(N) singlets to be observable (for example, one might imagine that the U(N) is gauged with a very weak coupling). The single-trace primaries of the theory (7.1) consist of an infinite tower of conserved currents  $j^{(s)}$ , one for each spin s. To write these out explicitly, we can use a flat 3d frame as in (3.7), with 3d spatial indices (i, j, k, ...). Then the spin-s current  $j^{(s)}$  reads [37, 38]:

$$j_{k_1\dots k_s}^{(s)} = \frac{1}{(2i)^s} \,\overline{\phi}_I\left(\sum_{m=0}^s (-1)^m \binom{2s}{2m} \overleftarrow{\partial}_{(k_1}\dots \overleftarrow{\partial}_{k_m} \overrightarrow{\partial}_{k_{m+1}}\dots \overrightarrow{\partial}_{k_s)} - \text{traces}\right) \phi^I \,. \tag{7.2}$$

Here, the  $1/i^s$  prefactor ensures that  $j^{(s)}$  is real, while the  $1/2^s$  prefactor is chosen for agreement with the bulk asymptotics in section 8.4. We include in (7.2) also the case s = 0, i.e. the scalar "current"  $j^{(0)} = \bar{\phi}_I \phi^I$ . The spin-1 current  $j_i^{(1)}$  is 1/2 times the ordinary charge current for the U(1) component of U(N):

$$j_i^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2i} \,\bar{\phi}_I \overleftrightarrow{\partial}_i \phi^I \,, \tag{7.3}$$

while the spin-2 current  $j_{ij}^{(2)}$  is 2 times the theory's stress-energy tensor:

$$j_{ij}^{(2)} = 2T_{ij}; \quad T_{ij} = -\frac{1}{8} \left( \bar{\phi}_I \partial_i \partial_j \phi^I + \phi^I \partial_i \partial_j \bar{\phi}_I - 6 \partial_{(i} \bar{\phi}_I \partial_{j)} \phi^I + 2g_{ij} \partial_k \bar{\phi}_I \partial^k \phi^I \right).$$
(7.4)

For the stress tensor and the conserved currents of spin s > 2, there are various related definitions that all satisfy a conservation law. The definition (7.2) is the unique one that is totally symmetric and traceless. In particular, the stress tensor (7.4) is the one derived by varying the metric in a theory of free massless scalars with conformal coupling.

When we're not using the explicit formula (7.2) with its flat 3d derivatives, we can use  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$  indices  $(\mu, \nu, ...)$  for the currents  $j^{(s)}$ , as in section 3.1.2. Introducing sources  $A^{(s)}_{\mu_1...\mu_s}$  for the single-trace operators (7.2), the free action (7.1) becomes:

$$S_{\rm CFT} = -\int d^3\ell \,\bar{\phi}_I \Box \phi^I - \int d^3\ell \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} A^{(s)}_{\mu_1...\mu_s}(\ell) \,j^{\mu_1...\mu_s}_{(s)}(\ell) \,. \tag{7.5}$$

The sources  $A_{\mu_1...\mu_s}^{(s)}$  are spin-s gauge potentials. In particular,  $A_{\mu}^{(1)}$  is an ordinary U(1) gauge potential (times 2), while  $A_{\mu\nu}^{(2)}$  is a metric perturbation (times 1/2).

# 7.3 Bilocal language

Having formulated our theory in the ordinary language of local operators and sources, let us now present its much simpler formulation in terms of bilocals. The idea is to notice that the local primaries  $j_{\mu_1...\mu_s}^{(s)}(\ell)$  are just a complicated-looking Taylor expansion of the two-point inner product  $\phi^I(\ell)\bar{\phi}_I(\ell')$ . Note that before imposing the free field equations  $\Box\phi^I = 0$ , there is not enough information in the totally symmetric and traceless  $j_{\mu_1...\mu_s}^{(s)}(\ell)$ to encode all possible configurations of  $\phi^I(\ell)\bar{\phi}_I(\ell')$ . However, after imposing the field equations, there is too much information. The currents  $j_{\mu_1...\mu_s}^{(s)}(\ell)$  then satisfy constraints, i.e. conservation laws. In this situation, we might as well directly use the bilocal  $\phi^I(\ell)\bar{\phi}_I(\ell')$ as our basic single-trace operator. The role of current conservation laws is then played by the field equations themselves. Coupling a bilocal source  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$  to the bilocal operator  $\phi^I(\ell)\bar{\phi}_I(\ell')$ , we write the CFT action in the form:

$$S_{\rm CFT}[\Pi(\ell',\ell)] = -\int d^3\ell \,\bar{\phi}_I \Box \phi^I - \int d^3\ell' d^3\ell \,\bar{\phi}_I(\ell') \Pi(\ell',\ell) \phi^I(\ell) \,. \tag{7.6}$$

The "conservation laws" (actually, just field equations) on  $\phi^{I}(\ell)\bar{\phi}_{I}(\ell')$  induce a gauge redundancy on  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$ :

$$\Pi(\ell',\ell) \to \Pi(\ell',\ell) + \Box_{\ell} f(\ell',\ell) + \Box_{\ell'} g(\ell',\ell) .$$
(7.7)

In the large-N limit, there are no constraints on  $\phi^{I}(\ell)\bar{\phi}_{I}(\ell')$  other than the field equations, and thus (7.7) captures the full gauge redundancy of  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$ . For finite N, this is not the case: for example, for N = 1, the product  $\phi(\ell)\bar{\phi}(\ell')$  is determined by two functions  $\phi(\ell), \bar{\phi}(\ell)$  of a single point  $\ell$ . Thus, for finite N, the redundancy in  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$  is greater. However, even then, this redundant parameterization of the single-trace sources remains legitimate.



Figure 1. The Feynman diagram for a single-trace contribution  $tr(G\Pi)^n$  to the CFT partition function, drawn for n = 4. Dashed lines represent the bilocal sources  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$ . Solid lines represent propagators  $G(\ell, \ell')$ . Note that the diagram is in coordinate space rather than momentum space, and there is no loop integration involved.

The partition function of the theory (7.6) is very easy to write down in the bilocal language. First, we write the action in a "matrix" notation:

$$S_{\rm CFT}[\Pi(\ell',\ell)] = -\bar{\phi}_I(\Box + \Pi)\phi^I, \qquad (7.8)$$

where  $\phi(\ell)$  is viewed as an infinite-dimensional vector,  $\bar{\phi}(\ell)$  as a dual vector, and  $\Box, \Pi$  as matrices/operators. The Gaussian path integral over  $\phi$  and  $\bar{\phi}$  immediately gives the partition function in the form:

$$Z_{\rm CFT}[\Pi(\ell',\ell)] \sim (\det(\Box+\Pi))^{-N} \sim (\det(1+G\Pi))^{-N} = \exp(-N\operatorname{tr}\ln(1+G\Pi)), \quad (7.9)$$

where  $G = \Box^{-1}$  is the boundary-to-boundary propagator:

$$G(\ell, \ell') = -\frac{1}{4\pi\sqrt{-2\ell \cdot \ell'}},$$
(7.10)

i.e.  $G(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}') = -1/(4\pi |\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'|)$  in the flat frame (3.7).

The partition function (7.9) is a combination of single-trace pieces of the form  $tr(G\Pi)^n$ , which can be represented by "1-loop" Feynman diagrams as in figure 1. The U(N) "color" factor is taken into account by the N in the exponent in eq. (7.9).

Any UV divergences in the CFT's Feynman diagrams (such as the diagram in figure 1) are associated with the short-distance divergence of the propagator (7.10), i.e. with the limit where some of the "external legs" of the  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$  factors coincide. As long as we are only interested in the bilocal source couplings (7.6) and partition function (7.9), these short-distance singularities don't seem to require any special treatment: the propagator (7.10) behaves as ~ 1/r, which is integrable under the 3d volume measure ~  $r^2 dr$ . Thus, the partition function (7.9) is well-defined without any contact-term corrections.

In contrast, the conserved local currents (7.2), the local source couplings (7.5) and the bilocal gauge symmetry (7.7) are all given up to contact terms, i.e. assuming separated points. We will not investigate these contact terms directly here. Instead, we will now switch to twistor language, where the need for contact terms, even for calculating local currents, seems to disappear entirely.

#### 7.4 Twistor language

#### 7.4.1 From bilocals to twistor functions

So far, we've made manifest the conformal O(1, 4) symmetry of the theory (7.6), but not its higher-spin extension. To this end, we will now employ the HS algebra of section 4. The boundary two-point products of section 4.4 will play a central role. First, let us package the bilocal source  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$  into a twistor function  $\Pi(Y)$ :

$$F(Y) = \int d^{3}\ell \, d^{3}\ell' K(\ell, \ell'; Y) \,\Pi(\ell', \ell) \,, \tag{7.11}$$

where the bilocal kernel  $K(\ell, \ell'; Y)$  is given by:

$$K(\ell, \ell'; Y) = -\frac{\sqrt{-2\ell \cdot \ell'}}{4\pi} \,\delta_{\ell}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell'}(Y) = -\frac{1}{\pi\sqrt{-2\ell \cdot \ell'}} \exp\frac{iY\ell\ell'Y}{2\ell \cdot \ell'} \,. \tag{7.12}$$

The kernel  $K(\ell, \ell'; Y)$  is an even function of Y, and has conformal weight  $\Delta = 1/2$  with respect to each of the boundary points  $\ell, \ell'$ .

The transform (7.11) involves a loss of information: the original bilocal  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$  is a function of 6 coordinates, while F(Y) only depends on 4. Nevertheless, we will see that F(Y) is sufficient to express the partition function, i.e. it is a *complete* encoding of the "physically relevant" data in  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$ . In fact, our transform can be viewed as stripping away the gauge redundancy in  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$ . Indeed, we see from eq. (4.43) that  $K(\ell, \ell'; Y)$ satisfies, up to contact terms, the same field equations  $\Box_{\ell}K = \Box_{\ell'}K = 0$  as the bilocal operator  $\phi^{I}(\ell)\bar{\phi}_{I}(\ell')$ . Therefore, F(Y) is invariant under the gauge symmetry (7.7). Thus, at large N, F(Y) constitutes a *non-redundant* parameterization of the theory's sources (recall that at finite N, there is additional redundancy in  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$ , which is not captured by eq. (7.7)). What's more, while the gauge redundancy is lost, the true global HS symmetry can now be made manifest. Indeed, we will see below that the partition function in terms of F(Y) is manifestly HS-invariant, with F(Y) transforming in the adjoint.

The remaining question is whether F(Y) constructed through (7.11) is an *arbitrary* even function of Y, i.e. whether the functions  $K(\ell, \ell'; Y)$  form a spanning set for the HS algebra. Skipping slightly ahead in the narrative, the answer is essentially yes. Specifically, there's a one-to-one correspondence between F(Y) and linearized bulk solutions (via the Penrose transform), and a one-to-one correspondence between linearized bulk solutions and allowed configurations of the linearized expectation values of the local currents  $j^{(s)}_{\mu_1...\mu_s}(\ell)$ . More precisely, the above statements are *almost* true, due to a pair of related subtleties. First, the Penrose transform involves contour ambiguities. Second, the one-to-one mapping between expectation values  $\langle j^{(s)}_{\mu_1...\mu_s}(\ell) \rangle$  and bulk solutions involves a requirement of regularity on EAdS<sub>4</sub>, without which one loses the relationship between the boundary data corresponding to  $\langle j^{(s)}_{\mu_1...\mu_s}(\ell) \rangle$  and the boundary data corresponding to the sources  $A^{(s)}_{\mu_1...\mu_s}(\ell)$ . This regularity on EAdS<sub>4</sub> can be enforced by an  $i\epsilon$  prescription on boundary-to-bulk propagators, i.e. it is yet another contour issue. Again related to the above is the question of how F(Y) behaves under the "antipodal map"  $F(Y) \to F(Y) \star \delta(Y)$ . As we can see from (4.26),  $K(\ell, \ell'; Y)$  is odd under this map, at least for  $\ell \neq \ell'$ :

$$K(\ell, \ell'; Y) \star \delta(Y) = -K(\ell, \ell'; Y) \quad \forall \ell \neq \ell'.$$
(7.13)

However, as we've seen in section 5.4, one cannot conclude the same for a linear superposition such as (7.11), and in fact  $F(Y) \star \delta(Y)$  cannot be defined consistently for generic functions F(Y).

To summarize, the encoding (7.11) of the CFT sources into a twistor function F(Y) is 1) complete, 2) free of the infinite-dimensional HS gauge redundancy, 3) capturing all the gauge-invariant information, 4) making global HS symmetry manifest, and 5) constraintfree, up to a set of closely related subtleties regarding contour choices, analiticity and discrete symmetries.

#### 7.4.2 The partition function in twistor language

In this section, we express the CFT partition function in terms of F(Y). Remarkably, this can be done by rewriting each individual element in the CFT Feynman diagrams as an HS-covariant operation. The mechanism is captured by the following pair of identities:

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\star} K(\ell, \ell'; Y) = 4G(\ell, \ell');$$
 (7.14)

$$K(\ell_1, \ell'_1; Y) \star K(\ell_2, \ell'_2; Y) = G(\ell_2, \ell'_1) K(\ell_1, \ell'_2; Y).$$
(7.15)

Here, the trace identity (7.14) is just a restatement of eq. (4.44). The star-product identity (7.15) follows from applying the three-point product formula (4.48) twice:

$$\delta_{\ell_1}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell'_1}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell_2}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell'_2}(Y) = \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{(\ell_1 \cdot \ell'_2)}{(\ell_1 \cdot \ell'_1)(\ell'_1 \cdot \ell_2)(\ell_2 \cdot \ell'_2)}} \,\delta_{\ell_1}(Y) \star \delta_{\ell'_2}(Y) \,. \tag{7.16}$$

Here, we fix the sign ambiguity by considering the divergent limit where  $\ell'_1 = \ell_2$ , which we regularize via  $\ell'^{\mu}_1 = \ell^{\mu}_2 = zx^{\mu}$ , with  $x^{\mu}$  a highly boosted timelike unit vector, and  $z \to 0$ . The positive sign in (7.16) then follows from the identity  $\delta^R_x \star \delta^R_x = +1$ . Note that this choice of sign in (7.16) is incompatible with any global fixing of the original sign ambiguity in (4.48); indeed, any such fixing would have given us a factor of  $(\pm i)^2 = -1$ . This is yet another example where certain sign ambiguities in the star product must be maintained for overall consistency.

Having established the identity (7.15), we note that the star product there radically alters the spatial dependence of the K's. Indeed, the K factors on the l.h.s. have essential singularities at  $\ell_1 = \ell'_1$  and  $\ell_2 = \ell'_2$ , while the r.h.s. has an essential singularity at  $\ell'_1 = \ell_2$ and a simple pole at  $\ell'_1 = \ell_2$ . This is an example of how the star product's nonlocality in twistor space can get translated into nonlocality in spacetime.

We are now ready to employ eqs. (7.14)–(7.15) to compute the CFT partition function. The single-trace products that form the building blocks of  $Z_{CFT}$ , i.e. the one-loop Feynman diagrams from figure 1, can be rewritten as:

$$\operatorname{tr}(G\Pi)^{n} = \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{tr}_{\star} \left( \underbrace{F(Y) \star F(Y) \star \dots \star F(Y)}_{n \text{ times}} \right).$$
(7.17)

Thus, the CFT Feynman diagrams make equally good sense in both the bilocal and higherspin languages. In fact, the correspondence is at the level of individual diagram elements: via the identities (7.14)-(7.15), every individual star product or higher-spin trace can be identified with a  $G(\ell, \ell')$  propagator in the Feynman diagram.

The entire partition function (7.9) can now be written in HS language, yielding the result (2.9):

$$Z_{\rm CFT}[F(Y)] \sim \exp\left(-\frac{N}{4}\operatorname{tr}_{\star}\ln_{\star}[1+F(Y)]\right) = \left(\operatorname{det}_{\star}[1+F(Y)]\right)^{-N/4}.$$
 (7.18)

Here,  $\ln_{\star}[1 + F(Y)]$  is defined by substituting star products in the Taylor expansion of  $\ln(1+x)$ , and we introduce the "star determinant"  $\det_{\star} f \equiv \exp(\operatorname{tr}_{\star} \ln_{\star} f)$ .

The partition function (7.18) is manifestly invariant under global HS symmetry, with the source F(Y) transforming in the adjoint:

$$\delta F(Y) = \varepsilon(Y) \star F(Y) - F(Y) \star \varepsilon(Y); \quad \delta Z_{\rm CFT} = 0.$$
(7.19)

Conversely, the symmetry (7.19) completely fixes the invariant traces (7.17) as the only possible ingredient in the partition function (up to a possible  $\delta(Y)$  factor inside the trace; however, see eq. (7.13) and the surrounding discussion). For this reason, the traces (7.17) were introduced from a bulk perspective in [16, 39] as the unique expressions for the *n*-point functions, with only their coefficients left undetermined. Here, we derived the traces (7.17) directly from the boundary CFT, allowing us to fix their coefficients by writing down the full partition function (7.18).

#### 7.4.3 The single-trace currents in twistor space

We can construct a "current" operator conjugate to the source F(Y) as an HS-covariant variational derivative:

$$\Phi(Y) = \frac{D}{DF(Y)},\tag{7.20}$$

where the derivative D/Df(Y) a functional  $\Theta[f(Y)]$  is defined via:

$$\delta\Theta = \operatorname{tr}_{\star} \left( \frac{D\Theta}{Df(Y)} \star \delta f(Y) \right) \,. \tag{7.21}$$

As we can see from (4.7), this implies that D/Df(Y) is actually a Fourier transform of the ordinary variational derivative:

$$\frac{D}{Df(Y)} = \int d^4 U e^{iYU} \frac{\delta}{\delta f(U)} \,. \tag{7.22}$$

The expectation value  $\langle \Phi(Y) \rangle$  reads:

$$\langle \Phi(Y) \rangle = \frac{D \ln Z_{\text{CFT}}}{DF(Y)} = -\frac{N}{4} [1 + F(Y)]_{\star}^{-1} = \frac{N}{4} \left( -1 + F(Y) + O(F^2) \right) .$$
(7.23)

In particular, the linear piece of  $\langle \Phi(Y) \rangle$  is just a constant multiple of F(Y). There is in fact no other possibility compatible with HS symmetry (again, with the subtle exception of multiplication by  $\delta(Y)$ , which we will touch on again in section 8).

For comparison, in the original bilocal language of eqs. (7.6)–(7.9), the current conjugate to  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$  is simply the bilocal operator  $\phi^I(\ell)\bar{\phi}_I(\ell')$ :

$$\phi^{I}(\ell)\bar{\phi}_{I}(\ell') = \frac{\delta}{\delta\Pi(\ell',\ell)}; \qquad (7.24)$$

$$\langle \phi^{I}(\ell)\bar{\phi}_{I}(\ell')\rangle = \frac{\delta \ln Z_{\rm CFT}}{\delta \Pi(\ell',\ell)} = -N(1+G\Pi)^{-1}G = N\left(-G(\ell,\ell') + \int d^{3}\ell_{1}d^{3}\ell_{2} G(\ell,\ell_{1}) \Pi(\ell_{1},\ell_{2}) G(\ell_{2},\ell') + O(\Pi^{2})\right).$$
(7.25)

The currents  $\Phi(Y)$  and  $\phi^{I}(\ell)\bar{\phi}_{I}(\ell')$  are related via the chain rule for variational derivatives:

$$\phi^{I}(\ell)\bar{\phi}_{I}(\ell') = \int d^{4}Y \frac{\delta F(Y)}{\delta \Pi(\ell',\ell)} \frac{\delta}{\delta F(Y)} = \int d^{4}Y K(\ell,\ell';Y) \int d^{4}U e^{-iYU} \Phi(U)$$
  
= tr<sub>\*</sub> ( $\Phi(Y) \star K(\ell,\ell';Y)$ ). (7.26)

Equivalently, the perturbation of F(Y) that couples to the operator  $\phi^{I}(\ell)\bar{\phi}_{I}(\ell')$  is simply:

$$\frac{\delta F(Y)}{\delta \Pi(\ell',\ell)} = \frac{\delta \left(\phi^I(\ell)\bar{\phi}_I(\ell')\right)}{\delta \Phi(Y)} = K(\ell,\ell';Y).$$
(7.27)

Since the source F(Y) is gauge-invariant (at large N) and constraint-free, we conclude that the operator  $\Phi(Y)$  is constraint-free (at large N) and gauge-invariant. In contrast, the bilocal  $\phi^{I}(\ell)\bar{\phi}_{I}(\ell')$ , which depends on 6 rather than 4 coordinates, is constrained by field equations. In regions where the source  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$  vanishes,  $\phi^{I}(\ell)\bar{\phi}_{I}(\ell')$  inherits from  $K(\ell, \ell'; Y)$  the source-free wave equation (4.43) at  $\ell \neq \ell'$ . The same is *not* true in regions with non-vanishing  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$ , even though this is not evident from eq. (7.26). The important subtlety here is that the star product has the power to reshuffle the singularity structure in the  $\ell, \ell'$  dependence, as in (7.15). The true spatial dependence of  $\phi^{I}(\ell)\bar{\phi}_{I}(\ell')$  in regions where  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$  is non-vanishing can be seen from the expansion (7.25).

# 8 Holography

We are now ready to tie together our treatments of the bulk and boundary. Normally in AdS/CFT, one thinks in terms of local bulk fields, each of which is associated with asymptotic boundary data of two types, i.e. two complementary conformal weights. For massless fields in AdS<sub>4</sub>, these conformal weights are integers, and the corresponding boundary data takes on an additional layer of meaning. For the conformally coupled massless scalar, the conformal weights are  $\Delta = 1, 2$ ; we refer to the corresponding boundary data as Dirichlet and Neumann, since that is their precise nature under a bulk conformal transformation that turns the asymptotic boundary into an ordinary hypersurface. For gauge fields with spin  $s \geq 1$ , the two different conformal weights arise for the gauge potential; in terms of the field strength, they correspond to its electric and magnetic parts, which have the same conformal weight but different parities.

In different setups, HS gravity is dual to a variety of vector models. The free vector model (7.5) is the simplest case, which, from the bulk point of view, relies on two choices.

First, one must choose the bulk interactions to be those of the type-A (i.e. parity-even) model; this will not make an explicit appearance in the present paper, since we only consider the bulk interactions indirectly, through the CFT. Second, one must choose Neumann boundary conditions for the scalar, and magnetic boundary conditions for the gauge fields of spin  $s \ge 1$ , i.e. treat the Neumann & magnetic boundary data as external sources, while the Dirichlet & electric boundary data will correspond to the CFT operators. As discussed in [30], this is the choice of boundary data that preserves (global) HS symmetry, which is then reflected in the CFT.

In the present section, we will describe the HS/free-CFT holography from the twistorial perspective of sections 5, 7. We will then make contact with the standard language of bulk fields vs. local CFT operators by comparing the bulk fields' Dirichlet/electric boundary data with the expectation values of the CFT currents.

#### 8.1 The basic dictionary

The fundamental entry in our holographic dictionary is to identify the twistor function F(Y) that encodes the CFT sources in (7.11) with either of the two functions  $F_{R/L}(Y)$  that define the linearized bulk solution in (5.16)–(5.17):

$$F(Y) = F_R(Y)$$
 or  $F(Y) = F_L(Y)$ . (8.1)

In terms of the bulk master fields C(x; Y), this implies:

$$F(Y) = -iC(x;Y) \star \delta_x^R(Y) \quad \text{or} \quad F(Y) = iC(x;Y) \star \delta_x^L(Y) \,. \tag{8.2}$$

With the substitution (8.2), the CFT partition function (7.18) becomes a nonlinear functional of the linearized bulk solution, as envisaged in [16, 39]:

$$Z \sim \left(\det_{\star}[1 - iC(x;Y) \star \delta_x^R(Y)]\right)^{-N/4} \text{ or } Z \sim \left(\det_{\star}[1 + iC(x;Y) \star \delta_x^L(Y)]\right)^{-N/4}.$$
(8.3)

As in [16, 39], the partition function (8.3) is given in terms of the master field at *any single* bulk point x, which, by virtue of the unfolded formulation, encodes the entire linearized bulk solution. In this way, having placed the bulk and boundary on a common footing via twistor functions, we are able to express the full partition function, including the effects of bulk interactions, in bulk terms.

To establish the relation (8.1), we will calculate on both sides the linearized expectation values of the local HS currents  $j_{\mu_1...\mu_s}^{(s)}(\ell)$ , as induced by the bilocal source  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$  at separated points. On the bulk side, this means calculating the electric field strengths at infinity. The distinction between  $F_R(Y)$  and  $F_L(Y)$  in (8.1) does not affect these expectation values. This distinction is instead related to the value of the boundary gauge fields  $A_{\mu_1...\mu_s}^{(s)}(\ell)$ , as well as to the contour issues discussed in section 7.4.1. This is because the two choices (8.1) are related by  $F(Y) \to -F(Y) \star \delta(Y)$ , or, in terms of the bulk fields, by  $C(x;Y) \to -C(-x;Y)$ . The electric field strengths at infinity and the CFT currents are unaffected by this transformation, since they are associated [30, 31] with the antipodally odd part of the bulk solution. In a sense, an explicit calculation of  $\langle j_{\mu_1...\mu_s}^{(s)}(\ell) \rangle$  on both sides of the duality is actually unnecessary. The results are guaranteed to agree, simply because the higher-spin algebra contains every spin exactly once (actually twice for  $s \geq 1$ , corresponding to the two helicities; however, we can then use parity to distinguish their "electric" combination from the "magnetic" one). This is as it should be: since the higher-spin/free-CFT duality is in a sense the simplest of all holographic models, it *should* appear trivial — as trivial as eq. (8.1) — once the correct language has been identified.

Thus, in practice, our calculation of the boundary currents will serve two aims: to provide a consistency check for the formalism, and to fix the proportionality coefficients between the boundary currents and the bulk electric fields at infinity.

#### 8.2 Asymptotics of the bulk fields

In this section, we express the asymptotic boundary data of a bulk solution C(x; Y) in terms of the twistor function  $F_R(Y)$  (a similar analysis applies for  $F_L(Y)$ , with some sign changes). In accordance with the standard AdS/CFT prescription, we will focus on the asymptotics of the "fundamental" massless bulk fields (5.1), as opposed to the unfolded tower of derivatives (5.12). As a result, our expressions will generally not be HS-covariant, i.e. they will contain spinor integrals that cannot be reduced to star products.

#### 8.2.1 Spin 0

The conformally-coupled massless scalar  $C^{(0,0)}(x) = C(x;0)$  admits boundary data of two types: "Dirichlet data"  $\varphi(\ell)$  with conformal weight  $\Delta = 1$  and "Neumann data"  $\pi(\ell)$  with weight  $\Delta = 2$ . At a bulk point x, the value of the scalar field can be found from the Penrose transform (5.16) or (5.8) as:

$$C(x;0) = i \operatorname{tr}_{\star} \left( F_R(Y) \star \delta_x^R(Y) \right) = i \int_{P_R(x)} d^2 u_R F_R(u_R) \,. \tag{8.4}$$

The Dirichlet boundary data can be read off directly from the bulk-to-boundary limit (3.6), (4.25):

$$\varphi(\ell) = \lim_{x \to \ell/z} \frac{1}{z} C(x; 0) = i \operatorname{tr}_{\star} \left( F_R(Y) \star \delta_\ell(Y) \right) = i \int_{P(\ell)} d^2 u \, F_R(u) \,. \tag{8.5}$$

The Neumann boundary data will be given by the second term in the Taylor series in z:

$$C(x;0) = z\varphi(\ell) + z^2\pi(\ell) + O(z^3).$$
(8.6)

To extract it, we must take the bulk-to-boundary limit more carefully, as in (3.59), using a second boundary point n to define the direction from which x approaches  $\ell$ . Under (3.59), the chiral projector  $P_R(x)$  takes the form:

$$P_R(x) = \frac{1}{2z}(\ell + z + z^2 n) = \frac{1}{z}P(\ell) + \frac{1}{2}(1+zn).$$
(8.7)

We can now rewrite the  $P_R(x)$  integral in (8.4) as an integral over  $P(\ell)$ , via the change of variables:

$$u_R = 2P_R(x)u = (1+zn)u.$$
(8.8)

The measures  $d^2u$  and  $d^2u_R$  turn out to be related by a factor of z:

$$d^{2}u_{R} = \frac{P_{ab}^{R}(x) du_{R}^{a} du_{R}^{b}}{2(2\pi)} = \frac{2P_{ab}^{R}(x) du^{a} du^{b}}{2\pi} = \frac{zn_{ab} du^{a} du^{b}}{2\pi} = zd^{2}u.$$
(8.9)

Here, in the third equality, we used  $du_a du^a = 0$  for  $u \in P(\ell)$ , while the fourth equality follows from contracting eq. (3.44) with  $n_{ab}$ . The bulk scalar (8.4) thus becomes:

$$C(x;0) = iz \int_{P(\ell)} d^2 u \, F_R((1+zn)u) = z\phi(\ell) + iz^2 n^{ab} \int_{P(\ell)} d^2 u \, u_a \left. \frac{\partial F_R(U)}{\partial U^b} \right|_u + O(z^3) \,,$$
(8.10)

from which we extract:

$$\pi(\ell) = i n^{\mu} \gamma_{\mu}^{ab} \int_{P(\ell)} d^2 u \, u_a \left. \frac{\partial F_R(U)}{\partial U^b} \right|_u \,. \tag{8.11}$$

Now, recall that  $n^{\mu}$  is an arbitrary null vector satisfying  $\ell \cdot n = -1/2$ . Since the result (8.11) should not depend on the choice of n, we can rewrite it as:

$$\pi(\ell)\ell_{\mu} = -\frac{i}{2}\gamma_{\mu}^{ab} \int_{P(\ell)} d^2 u \, u_a \left. \frac{\partial F_R(U)}{\partial U^b} \right|_u \,. \tag{8.12}$$

One can verify explicitly, using integration by parts, that the antisymmetric traceless part of the integral in (8.12) is indeed proportional to  $\ell_{ab}$  (or, equivalently, that it vanishes upon contraction with  $\ell_c^b$ ).

Finally, let us point out the relation between the Dirichlet/Neumann boundary data and antipodal symmetry [30, 31, 33]. The Dirichlet data  $\varphi(\ell)$  and the Neumann data  $\pi(\ell)$ are associated with antipodally odd and even solutions respectively, in the sense that odd solutions have only  $\varphi(\ell)$  non-vanishing, and even solutions have only  $\pi(\ell)$  non-vanishing. As discussed in [32], this property can be deduced from the fact that the conformal weight of  $\varphi(\pi)$  is an odd (even) positive integer. In our present language, the antipodal symmetry of  $\varphi$  and  $\pi$  can be seen in two ways. First, one can read off from (8.5), (8.12) the properties:

$$\varphi(-\ell) = -\varphi(\ell); \quad \pi(-\ell) = \pi(\ell), \quad (8.13)$$

where we used the fact that the measure (3.44) is odd under  $\ell^{\mu} \to -\ell^{\mu}$ . Second, we can apply the antipodal map to the bulk solution via  $F_R(Y) \to F_R(Y) \star \delta(Y)$ , which again results in:

$$\varphi(\ell) \to -\varphi(\ell); \quad \pi(\ell) \to \pi(\ell).$$
 (8.14)

In deriving this result, it is crucial to keep track of the sign factor in (3.48).

# 8.2.2 Spin $\geq$ 1: chiral field strengths

The asymptotics for all the gauge fields with spin  $s \ge 1$  can be described in a unified way using master fields. From the Penrose transform (5.16), we extract two generating functions for the field strengths at a bulk point x:

$$C(x;y_L) = i \int_{P_R(x)} d^2 u_R F_R(y_L + u_R); \quad C(x;y_R) = i \int_{P_R(x)} d^2 u_R F_R(u_R) e^{iu_R y_R}.$$
(8.15)

Here,  $y_L(y_R)$  is a left-handed (right-handed) spinor at x. The Taylor coefficients of  $C(x; y_L)$ and  $C(x; y_R)$  with respect to their spinor variables encode respectively the left-handed and right-handed field strengths  $C^{(2s,0)}_{\alpha_1...\alpha_{2s}}(x)$ ,  $C^{(0,2s)}_{\dot{\alpha}_1...\dot{\alpha}_{2s}}(x)$  via eq. (5.13). The zeroth-order Taylor coefficient in both  $C(x; y_L)$  and  $C(x; y_R)$  is the spin-0 field C(x; 0).

As a step towards taking the boundary limit, let us note that the integrals in (8.15) do not change if we add to  $y_L$  or  $y_R$  a spinor of the opposite chirality. In other words, the chiral master fields (8.15) can be extended trivially into functions of an entire twistor Y:

$$C_L(x;Y) = C(x;P_L(x)Y) = i \int_{P_R(x)} d^2 u_R F_R(Y+u_R);$$
  

$$C_R(x;Y) = C(x;P_R(x)Y) = i \int_{P_R(x)} d^2 u_R F_R(u_R) e^{iu_R Y}.$$
(8.16)

In the bulk-to-boundary limit (3.6), the left-handed and right-handed fields (8.16) become:

$$C_L(x;Y) = z \,\mathcal{C}_L(\ell;Y) + O(z^2); \qquad \mathcal{C}_L(\ell;Y) = i \int_{P(\ell)} d^2 u \,F_R(Y+u); \qquad (8.17)$$

$$C_R(x;Y) = z C_R(\ell;Y) + O(z^2); \qquad C_R(\ell;Y) = i \int_{P(\ell)} d^2 u F_R(u) e^{iuY}, \qquad (8.18)$$

where the factor of z arises from the ratio of the measures  $d^2u_R$  and  $d^2u$ . The boundary master fields  $\mathcal{C}_{L/R}(\ell; Y)$  have conformal weight  $\Delta = 1$ , and depend only on the  $P^*(\ell)$  spinor component  $y^*$  of the twistor Y:

$$\mathcal{C}_{L/R}(\ell, Y+u) = \mathcal{C}_{L/R}(\ell; Y) \qquad \forall u \in P(\ell).$$
(8.19)

The Taylor expansion of  $C_{L/R}(\ell; y^*)$  in powers of  $y^*$  generates the individual lefthanded/right-handed field strengths of various spins. The fields defined in this way have spinor indices in  $P(\ell)$ , as in the  $j_{\ell}$  representation of boundary currents from section 3.4.1.

The asymptotic field strengths  $\mathcal{C}_{L/R}(\ell; y^*)$  satisfy a Gauss law, i.e. each of the component fields with spin  $s \geq 1$  has a vanishing divergence. To express and verify this fact explicitly, we must first use eq. (3.47) or (3.51) to convert the component fields into spinors with indices in  $P^*(\ell)$ . This is equivalent to converting  $\mathcal{C}_{L/R}(\ell; y^*)$  into a function of  $y \in P(\ell)$ :

$$\mathcal{C}_{L/R}(\ell;Y) = \mathcal{C}_{L/R}^*(\ell;P(\ell)Y), \qquad (8.20)$$

where  $\mathcal{C}^*_{L/R}(\ell, y)$  can be given explicitly as:

$$C_{L}^{*}(\ell; y) = -i \int d^{4}V F_{R}(V) \int_{P^{*}(\ell)} d^{2}u^{*} e^{iu^{*}(P(\ell)V-y)};$$
  

$$C_{R}^{*}(\ell; y) = i \int_{P^{*}(\ell)} d^{2}u^{*} F_{R}(P(\ell)u^{*}) e^{iu^{*}y}.$$
(8.21)

The vanishing of the divergence (3.58) for each of the component field strengths can now be expressed as:

$$\ell_{\mu}\gamma_{ab}^{\mu\nu} \frac{\partial^{3}\mathcal{C}_{L/R}^{*}(\ell;y)}{\partial\ell^{\nu}\partial y_{a}\partial y_{b}} = 0, \qquad (8.22)$$

and one can easily check that this constraint is in fact satisfied by the expressions (8.21). Taking the  $\partial/\partial \ell$  derivative of an integral over  $P^*(\ell)$  requires some care, due to the  $\ell$ -dependence of the integration domain. The trick is to fix the integration range to some arbitrary 2d subspace of twistor space, which may then represent  $P^*(\ell)$  for different values of  $\ell$ . One should keep track, however, of the  $\ell$ -dependence (3.46) of the integration measure.

Finally, let us show how the boundary fields encoded in  $C_{L/R}(\ell; Y)$  can be arrived at through tensor language. We approach the boundary as in section 3.4.2, moving the bulk point x along towards the boundary point  $\ell$  along the outwards-pointing tangent vector  $t^{\mu}$ . In the orthonormal tangent frame  $t^{\mu}, e_i^{\mu}$ , the components of the field strengths  $C_{\mu_1\nu_1...\mu_s\nu_s}^{L/R}$ will scale as  $z^{s+1}$  (this can be derived e.g. from the 4d conformal invariance of the free massless field equations). On the other hand, in a fixed frame in  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$ , the basis vector  $t^{\mu}$ behaves asymptotically as  $t^{\mu} \to \ell^{\mu}/z$ , while the other basis vectors  $e_i^{\mu}$  remain constant. Thus, in the fixed frame,  $C_{\mu_1\nu_1...\mu_s\nu_s}^{L/R}$  will be dominated by components where the largest possible number of indices is pointing along  $t^{\mu}$ . This leaves us with the asymptotics:

$$C_{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}...\mu_{s}\nu_{s}}^{L/R}(x) = z^{s+1} \left( 2^{s} t_{[\mu_{1}} \delta_{\nu_{1}]}^{\rho_{1}} \dots t_{[\mu_{s}} \delta_{\nu_{s}]}^{\rho_{s}} \mathcal{C}_{\rho_{1}...\rho_{s}}^{L/R}(\ell) + O(z) \right)$$

$$= z \left( 2^{s} \ell_{[\mu_{1}} \delta_{\nu_{1}]}^{\rho_{1}} \dots \ell_{[\mu_{s}} \delta_{\nu_{s}]}^{\rho_{s}} \mathcal{C}_{\rho_{1}...\rho_{s}}^{L/R}(\ell) + O(z) \right) .$$
(8.23)

Here, in the first line, we insist on keeping the leading-order term within the tangent space of EAdS<sub>4</sub> at x; in the second line, we drop this requirement and substitute  $t^{\mu} \rightarrow \ell^{\mu}/z$ . The tensors  $C_{\mu_1...\mu_s}^{L/R}(\ell)$  are totally symmetric and traceless, with indices along  $e_i^{\mu}$ . More covariantly, these are boundary tensors in the sense of (3.13)–(3.14), with conformal weight  $\Delta = s + 1$ . The equivalence (3.14) is associated with the different directions from which we could approach the boundary point  $\ell$ . Converting (8.23) into spinor form as in (5.2), we get:

$$C_{a_1\dots a_{2s}}^{(2s,0)}(x) = z \,\mathcal{C}_{a_1\dots a_{2s}}^L(\ell) + O(z^2) \,; \quad C_{a_1\dots a_{2s}}^{(0,2s)}(x) = z \,\mathcal{C}_{a_1\dots a_{2s}}^R(\ell) + O(z^2) \,, \tag{8.24}$$

where  $C_{a_1...a_{2s}}^L(\ell)$  are totally symmetric boundary spinors with conformal weight  $\Delta = 1$  and with indices in  $P(\ell)$ :

$$\mathcal{C}_{a_1\dots a_{2s}}^{L/R}(\ell) = \gamma_{a_1 a_2}^{\mu_1 \nu_1} \dots \gamma_{a_{2s-1} a_{2s}}^{\mu_s \nu_s} \ell_{\mu_1} \dots \ell_{\mu_s} \mathcal{C}_{\nu_1\dots\nu_s}^{L/R}(\ell) \,. \tag{8.25}$$

We can now pack these into master fields, in analogy with (5.13):

$$\mathcal{C}_{L/R}(\ell;Y) = \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(2s)!} Y^{a_1} \dots Y^{a_{2s}} \mathcal{C}_{a_1\dots a_{2s}}^{L/R}(\ell) .$$
(8.26)

It is clear from eqs. (5.13) and (8.24) that the boundary master fields constructed in this way coincide with the ones in (8.17)-(8.18).

#### 8.2.3 Spin $\geq 1$ : electric and magnetic field strengths

A more standard decomposition of the asymptotic field strengths is into their electric and magnetic parts. These are given by the sum and difference of the chiral field strengths (8.17)-(8.18):

$$\mathcal{E}(\ell;Y) = \mathcal{C}_R(\ell;Y) + \mathcal{C}_L(\ell;Y); \quad \mathcal{B}(\ell;Y) = \mathcal{C}_R(\ell;Y) - \mathcal{C}_L(\ell;Y).$$
(8.27)

 $\mathcal{E}(\ell; Y)$  and  $\mathcal{B}(\ell; Y)$  again have conformal weight  $\Delta = 1$ , and depend only on the  $P^*(\ell)$  spinor component of Y. Thus, their Taylor coefficients in Y are totally symmetric spinors with indices in  $P(\ell)$ , which encode the electric and magnetic field tensors for the various spins. The (higher-spin) electric and magnetic Gauss laws follow directly from those for  $\mathcal{C}_{L/R}(\ell; Y)$ .

Let us unpack the definitions (8.27) by working out their implications in tensor language. First, we identify the spin-0 components of  $\mathcal{E}(x; Y)$  and  $\mathcal{B}(x; Y)$ :

$$\mathcal{E}(\ell;0) = 2\varphi(\ell); \quad \mathcal{B}(\ell;0) = 0.$$
(8.28)

Thus, the spin-0 component of  $\mathcal{E}$  is proportional to the Dirichlet data for the bulk scalar, while the spin-0 component of  $\mathcal{B}$  vanishes. Next, we turn to the nonzero-spin components. Consider the bulk spin-s field strength tensor (5.2). On a "time slice" (in quotes, since our bulk is Euclidean) with outward-pointing normal  $t^{\mu}$ , the field strength decomposes into electric and magnetic parts:

$$E_{\nu_1\nu_2\dots\nu_s}(x) = t^{\mu_1} t^{\mu_2} \dots t^{\mu_s} C_{\mu_1\nu_1\mu_2\nu_2\dots\mu_s\nu_s}(x); \qquad (8.29)$$

$$B_{\nu_1\nu_2...\nu_s}(x) = t^{\mu_1} t^{\mu_2} \dots t^{\mu_s} \left( -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\mu_1\nu_1}{}^{\lambda\rho\sigma} x_\lambda \right) C_{\rho\sigma\mu_2\nu_2...\mu_s\nu_s}(x) \,. \tag{8.30}$$

Thanks to the (anti)-self-duality (5.3) of the field strength's right-handed and left-handed components, this can be expressed equivalently as:

$$E_{\nu_1\dots\nu_s}(x) = t^{\mu_1}\dots t^{\mu_s} \left( C^R_{\mu_1\nu_1\dots\mu_s\nu_s}(x) + C^L_{\mu_1\nu_1\dots\mu_s\nu_s}(x) \right) ; B_{\nu_1\dots\nu_s}(x) = t^{\mu_1}\dots t^{\mu_s} \left( C^R_{\mu_1\nu_1\dots\mu_s\nu_s}(x) - C^L_{\mu_1\nu_1\dots\mu_s\nu_s}(x) \right) .$$
(8.31)

Here, we can already see the origin of eqs. (8.27). To make the relation explicit, let us work out the asymptotics of  $E_{\mu_1...\mu_s}(x)$  and  $B_{\mu_1...\mu_s}(x)$  as our "time slice" approaches the boundary. From eq. (8.23), we can read off immediately:

$$E_{\mu_1\dots\mu_s}(x) = z^{s+1} \mathcal{E}_{\mu_1\dots\mu_s}(\ell) + O(z^2); \quad B_{\mu_1\dots\mu_s}(x) = z^{s+1} \mathcal{B}_{\mu_1\dots\mu_s}(\ell) + O(z^2), \quad (8.32)$$

where:

$$\mathcal{E}_{\mu_1\dots\mu_s}(\ell) = \mathcal{C}^R_{\mu_1\dots\mu_s}(\ell) + \mathcal{C}^L_{\mu_1\dots\mu_s}(\ell); \quad \mathcal{B}_{\mu_1\dots\mu_s}(\ell) = \mathcal{C}^R_{\mu_1\dots\mu_s}(\ell) - \mathcal{C}^L_{\mu_1\dots\mu_s}(\ell).$$
(8.33)

To arrive at eqs. (8.27), all that remains is to convert the boundary tensors  $\mathcal{E}_{\mu_1...\mu_s}(\ell)$  and  $\mathcal{B}_{\mu_1...\mu_s}(\ell)$  into spinor form as in (8.25):

$$\mathcal{E}_{a_1...a_{2s}}(\ell) = \gamma_{a_1a_2}^{\mu_1\nu_1} \dots \gamma_{a_{2s-1}a_{2s}}^{\mu_s\nu_s} \ell_{\mu_1} \dots \ell_{\mu_s} \mathcal{E}_{\nu_1...\nu_s}(\ell); 
\mathcal{B}_{a_1...a_{2s}}(\ell) = \gamma_{a_1a_2}^{\mu_1\nu_1} \dots \gamma_{a_{2s-1}a_{2s}}^{\mu_s\nu_s} \ell_{\mu_1} \dots \ell_{\mu_s} \mathcal{B}_{\nu_1...\nu_s}(\ell),$$
(8.34)

and then package them into master fields as in (8.26):

$$\mathcal{E}(\ell;Y) = \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(2s)!} Y^{a_1} \dots Y^{a_{2s}} \mathcal{E}_{a_1 \dots a_{2s}}(\ell);$$
  
$$\mathcal{B}(\ell;Y) = \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(2s)!} Y^{a_1} \dots Y^{a_{2s}} \mathcal{B}_{a_1 \dots a_{2s}}(\ell).$$
  
(8.35)

Finally, we should address the antipodal symmetry of  $\mathcal{E}(\ell; Y)$  and  $\mathcal{B}(\ell; Y)$ . The antipodal map  $F_R(Y) \to F_R(Y) \star \delta(Y)$  sends each of the integrals (8.17)–(8.18) into -1 times the other:

$$C_L(\ell;Y) \to -C_R(\ell;Y); \quad C_R(\ell;Y) \to -C_L(\ell;Y)$$

$$(8.36)$$

We can therefore read off from (8.27) that the electric fields  $\mathcal{E}(\ell; Y)$  are antipodally odd, while the magnetic fields  $\mathcal{B}(x; Y)$  are antipodally even [31]:

$$\mathcal{E}(\ell;Y) \to -\mathcal{E}(\ell;Y); \quad \mathcal{B}(\ell;Y) \to \mathcal{B}(\ell;Y).$$
 (8.37)

The same conclusion can be reached by the alternative methods that we've used for the spin-0 boundary data, i.e. by sending  $\ell^{\mu} \to -\ell^{\mu}$  or examining the parity of the conformal weights of  $\mathcal{E}(\ell; Y)$  and  $\mathcal{B}(\ell; Y)$ . From this point of view, the different antipodal parities of  $\mathcal{E}(\ell; Y)$  and  $\mathcal{B}(\ell; Y)$  arise from the antipodally odd  $\epsilon_{\mu_1\nu_1}{}^{\lambda\rho\sigma}x_{\lambda}$  factor in the definition (8.30) of the magnetic fields.

#### 8.3 Electric fields at infinity from a bilocal boundary source

Now that we've defined the electric fields at infinity, let us evaluate them for the particular case of a bilocal source concentrated at a pair of points  $\ell_0, \ell'_0$ . Thus, in the language of eq. (7.11), we choose the CFT sources as:

$$\Pi(\ell',\ell) = \delta^{5/2,1/2}(\ell,\ell_0) \,\delta^{5/2,1/2}(\ell',\ell'_0) \implies F(Y) = K(\ell_0,\ell'_0;Y)\,, \tag{8.38}$$

where the superscripts on the delta functions indicate their conformal weight with respect to each argument. Now, according to our holographic dictionary (8.1), we should construct the linearized bulk solution as the (right-handed or left-handed) Penrose transform of the twistor function F(Y):

$$C(x;Y) = iK(\ell_0,\ell'_0;Y) \star \delta^R_x(Y) \quad \text{or} \quad C(x;Y) = -iK(\ell_0,\ell'_0;Y) \star \delta^L_x(Y).$$
(8.39)

As we've seen in section 6.4, the result in both cases reads:

$$C(x;Y) = \pm K(\ell_0, -\ell'_0 - 2(\ell'_0 \cdot x)x; Y)$$
  
=  $\frac{\mp 1}{\pi\sqrt{2[\ell_0 \cdot \ell'_0 + 2(\ell_0 \cdot x)(\ell'_0 \cdot x)]}} \exp \frac{iY[\ell_0\ell'_0 + 2(\ell'_0 \cdot x)\ell_0x]Y}{2[\ell_0 \cdot \ell'_0 + 2(\ell_0 \cdot x)(\ell'_0 \cdot x)]},$  (8.40)

where the overall sign is ambiguous due to an intrinsic ambiguity in the star product. The bulk solution (8.40) can be termed a "boundary-boundary-bulk" propagator. Note that one shouldn't conclude from the expression (8.40) that this propagator is even under the antipodal map  $x \to -x$ : the sign ambiguity in (8.40) can be resolved in opposite ways for future-pointing vs. past-pointing  $x^{\mu}$ . In fact, we should conclude from (7.13) that the propagator (8.40) satisfies  $C(x; Y) \star \delta(Y) = -C(x; Y)$ , i.e. that it's antipodally *odd*. This will be substantiated by our analysis of the solution's asymptotic behavior.

The next step is to extract the left-handed and right-handed field strengths, as in eq. (8.16). Substituting  $Y \to P_{L/R}(x)Y$  into the propagator (8.40), we get:

$$C_{L}(x;Y) = \frac{\mp 1}{\pi\sqrt{2[\ell_{0}\cdot\ell_{0}'+2(\ell_{0}\cdot x)(\ell_{0}'\cdot x)]}} \exp\frac{iY[\ell_{0}\ell_{0}'+(\ell_{0}'\cdot x)\ell_{0}x-(\ell_{0}\cdot x)\ell_{0}'x-\ell_{0}\ell_{0}'x]Y}{4[\ell_{0}\cdot\ell_{0}'+2(\ell_{0}\cdot x)(\ell_{0}'\cdot x)]};$$

$$C_{R}(x;Y) = \frac{\mp 1}{\pi\sqrt{2[\ell_{0}\cdot\ell_{0}'+2(\ell_{0}\cdot x)(\ell_{0}'\cdot x)]}} \exp\frac{iY[\ell_{0}\ell_{0}'+(\ell_{0}'\cdot x)\ell_{0}x-(\ell_{0}\cdot x)\ell_{0}'x+\ell_{0}\ell_{0}'x]Y}{4[\ell_{0}\cdot\ell_{0}'+2(\ell_{0}\cdot x)(\ell_{0}'\cdot x)]},$$

$$(8.41)$$

where the only difference between the two expressions is in the sign of the last term in the exponent's numerator. We can now take the bulk-to-boundary limit (3.6) as in (8.17)–(8.18), to get the asymptotic chiral field strengths:

$$\mathcal{C}_L(\ell;Y) = \mathcal{C}_R(\ell;Y) = \frac{\mp 1}{2\pi\sqrt{(\ell_0\cdot\ell)(\ell'_0\cdot\ell)}} \exp\frac{iY[(\ell'_0\cdot\ell)\ell_0\ell - (\ell_0\cdot\ell)\ell'_0\ell]Y}{8(\ell_0\cdot\ell)(\ell'_0\cdot\ell)}.$$
(8.42)

From these, we find the electric and magnetic boundary data as in (8.27):

$$\mathcal{E}(\ell;Y) = \frac{\mp 1}{\pi\sqrt{(\ell_0 \cdot \ell)(\ell'_0 \cdot \ell)}} \exp \frac{iY[(\ell'_0 \cdot \ell)\ell_0\ell - (\ell_0 \cdot \ell)\ell'_0\ell]Y}{8(\ell_0 \cdot \ell)(\ell'_0 \cdot \ell)};$$
(8.43)

$$\mathcal{B}(\ell;Y) = 0 \qquad \forall \ell \neq \ell_0, \ell'_0, \qquad (8.44)$$

where we're careful to note that the magnetic field strengths vanish away from the source points  $\ell_0, \ell'_0$ . Our analysis here doesn't capture the behavior at the source points themselves, and in fact we expect nonzero delta-function-like magnetic fields with support on  $\ell_0, \ell'_0$ . Since  $\mathcal{B}(\ell; Y)$  is associated with antipodally even solutions, its vanishing substantiates our identification of the propagator (8.39)–(8.40) as antipodally odd. The possible non-vanishing of  $\mathcal{B}(\ell; Y)$  at the source points themselves is related to the subtle interplay between antipodal symmetry and analyticity, which we discussed in section 5.4.

Let us now extract the various tensor components of the electric master field (8.43). We begin with the spin-0 Dirichlet data (8.28):

$$\varphi(\ell) = \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{E}(\ell; 0) = \frac{\mp 1}{2\pi \sqrt{(\ell_0 \cdot \ell)(\ell'_0 \cdot \ell)}} \,. \tag{8.45}$$

To extract the components with spin s > 0, we expand (8.43) into a Taylor series in Y and compare with (8.35):

$$\mathcal{E}^{a_1\dots a_{2s}}(\ell) = \frac{\mp i^s(2s)! \gamma_{\mu_1\nu_1}^{(a_1a_2}\dots\gamma_{\mu_s\nu_s}^{a_{2s-1}a_{2s})}}{8^s s! \pi \sqrt{(\ell_0 \cdot \ell)(\ell'_0 \cdot \ell)}} \left(\frac{\ell^{\mu_1}\ell_0^{\nu_1}}{\ell_0 \cdot \ell} - \frac{\ell^{\mu_1}\ell_0^{\prime\nu_1}}{\ell'_0 \cdot \ell}\right) \dots \left(\frac{\ell^{\mu_s}\ell_0^{\nu_s}}{\ell_0 \cdot \ell} - \frac{\ell^{\mu_s}\ell_0^{\prime\nu_s}}{\ell'_0 \cdot \ell}\right) \quad (8.46)$$

Next, we use (8.34) to convert from spinors to tensors:

$$\mathcal{E}^{\mu_1\dots\mu_s}(\ell) = \frac{\mp i^s(2s)!}{8^s s! \pi \sqrt{(\ell_0 \cdot \ell)(\ell'_0 \cdot \ell)}} \left(\frac{\ell_0^{\mu_1}}{\ell_0 \cdot \ell} - \frac{\ell_0'^{\mu_1}}{\ell'_0 \cdot \ell}\right) \dots \left(\frac{\ell_0^{\mu_s}}{\ell_0 \cdot \ell} - \frac{\ell_0'^{\mu_s}}{\ell'_0 \cdot \ell}\right) - \text{traces}. \quad (8.47)$$

The trace pieces that are subtracted in (8.47) can be represented using any 3d metric of the form  $\eta_{\mu\nu} + 4\ell_{(\mu}n_{\nu)}$ , where  $n^{\mu} \in \mathbb{R}^{1,4}$  is a null vector satisfying  $\ell \cdot n = -1/2$ . Different choices of this 3d metric lead to tensors  $\mathcal{E}^{\mu_1...\mu_s}(\ell)$  that are equivalent under (3.14).

Finally, let us make the boundary tensors (8.47) more concrete by translating them into flat 3d boundary coordinates. To do this, we express  $\ell_0$ ,  $\ell'_0$  and  $\ell$  in the flat conformal frame (3.7). As it stands, the tensor (8.47) is not tangential to the flat section (3.8) of the  $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$  lightcone. However, this can be fixed by adding a suitable multiple of  $\ell^{\mu}$  to each tensor factor in (8.47). The  $\ell_0^{\mu}/(\ell_0 \cdot \ell)$  factors then become:

$$\frac{\ell_0^{\mu}}{\ell_0 \cdot \ell} \cong \frac{\ell_0^{\mu} - \ell^{\mu}}{\ell_0 \cdot \ell} = \frac{1}{|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r_0}|^2} \left( r^2 - r_0^2 \,, \, 2(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r_0}) \,, \, -(r^2 - r_0^2) \right) \,, \tag{8.48}$$

and likewise for the  $\ell_0^{\mu}/(\ell_0' \cdot \ell)$  factors. Plugging these back into (8.47) and keeping only the values  $\mu = 1, 2, 3$  for each index, we end up with the 3d tensor:

$$\mathcal{E}_{k_1\dots k_s}(\mathbf{r}) = \frac{\mp i^s(2s)!}{2^{2s-1}s!\pi|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r_0}||\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r'_0}|} \times \left(\frac{(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r_0})_{k_1}}{|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r_0}|^2} - \frac{(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r'_0})_{k_1}}{|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r'_0}|^2}\right) \dots \left(\frac{(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r_0})_{k_s}}{|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r_0}|^2} - \frac{(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r'_0})_{k_s}}{|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r'_0}|^2}\right) - \text{traces}.$$
(8.49)

This time, the subtracted trace pieces can be written out unambiguously, using the flat 3d metric  $\delta_{ij}$ . For completeness, we translate into the flat frame also the scalar boundary data (8.45):

$$\varphi(\mathbf{r}) = \frac{\mp 1}{\pi |\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r_0}| |\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r'_0}|} \,. \tag{8.50}$$

Note that eqs. (8.49)–(8.50) have the same geometric structure as a 3-point function between two spin-0,  $\Delta = 1/2$  operators at  $\mathbf{r}_0, \mathbf{r}'_0$  and a spin-s,  $\Delta = s + 1$  operator at  $\mathbf{r}$ . This "coincidence" is of course predetermined by the boundary conformal symmetry.

#### 8.4 Boundary currents from a bilocal source

In this section, we calculate the linearized expectation values of the CFT currents induced by the bilocal source (8.38). First, we write the linearized expectation value of the bilocal operator (7.25):

$$\left\langle \phi^{I}(\ell)\bar{\phi}_{I}(\ell')\right\rangle_{\text{linear}} = NG(\ell,\ell'_{0})G(\ell_{0},\ell') = \frac{N}{32\pi^{2}\sqrt{(\ell'_{0}\cdot\ell)(\ell_{0}\cdot\ell')}},$$
 (8.51)

where we ignore both the zeroth order and all orders higher than 1 in the source dependence.

Translating (8.51) into the flat boundary coordinates (3.7), we get:

$$\left\langle \phi^{I}(\mathbf{r})\bar{\phi}_{I}(\mathbf{r}')\right\rangle_{\text{linear}} = \frac{N}{16\pi^{2}|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}_{0}'||\mathbf{r}'-\mathbf{r}_{0}|}.$$
(8.52)

The Taylor expansion of this around  $\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{r}'$  reads:

$$\left\langle \phi^{I}(\mathbf{r}) \overleftarrow{\partial}_{i_{1}} \dots \overleftarrow{\partial}_{i_{m}} \overrightarrow{\partial}_{j_{1}} \dots \overrightarrow{\partial}_{j_{n}} \overline{\phi}_{I}(\mathbf{r}) \right\rangle_{\text{linear}} = \frac{(-1)^{m+n} (2m)! (2n)! N}{2^{m+n+4} \pi^{2} m! n!} \times \frac{(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_{0}')_{i_{1}} \dots (\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_{0}')_{j_{1}} \dots (\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_{0})_{j_{1}} \dots (\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_{0})_{j_{n}}}{|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_{0}'|^{2m+1} |\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_{0}|^{2n+1}} + \text{trace terms},$$

$$(8.53)$$

where by "trace terms" we mean terms proportional to the flat 3d metric  $\delta_{ij}$ . We can now combine the derivatives (8.53) to obtain the spin-s currents (7.2):

$$\left\langle j_{k_{1}\dots k_{s}}^{(s)}(\mathbf{r}) \right\rangle_{\text{linear}} = \frac{(2s)!N}{4^{s+2}i^{s}\pi^{2}} \sum_{m=0}^{s} \frac{(-1)^{s-m}}{m!(s-m)!} \times \frac{(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}_{0}')_{(k_{1}}\dots(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}_{0}')_{k_{m}}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}_{0})_{k_{m+1}}\dots(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}_{0})_{k_{s})}}{|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}_{0}'|^{2m+1}|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}_{0}|^{2(s-m)+1}} - \text{traces}.$$

$$(8.54)$$

The above sum evaluates neatly into:

$$\left\langle j_{k_{1}...k_{s}}^{(s)}(\mathbf{r}) \right\rangle_{\text{linear}} = \frac{i^{s}(2s)!N}{4^{s+2}s!\pi^{2}|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r_{0}}||\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r_{0}'}|} \\ \times \left( \frac{(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r_{0}})_{k_{1}}}{|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r_{0}}|^{2}} - \frac{(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r_{0}'})_{k_{1}}}{|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r_{0}'}|^{2}} \right) \dots \left( \frac{(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r_{0}})_{k_{s}}}{|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r_{0}'}|^{2}} - \frac{(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r_{0}'})_{k_{s}}}{|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r_{0}'}|^{2}} \right) - \text{traces.}$$

$$(8.55)$$

If we had taken into account the source-independent term in the bilocal  $\langle \phi^I(\ell) \bar{\phi}_I(\ell') \rangle$ , we would have gotten an additional divergent contribution to the spin-0 "current"  $\langle j^{(0)}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = \langle \phi^I(\mathbf{r}) \bar{\phi}_I(\mathbf{r}) \rangle$ , with no change to the currents of spin s > 0.

Comparing now with the results (8.49)–(8.50) for the asymptotics of the linearized bulk fields, we find:

$$\left\langle \phi^{I}(\mathbf{r})\bar{\phi}_{I}(\mathbf{r})\right\rangle_{\text{linear}} = \mp \frac{N}{16\pi}\,\varphi(\mathbf{r})\,;\quad \left\langle j_{k_{1}\dots k_{s}}^{(s)}(\mathbf{r})\right\rangle_{\text{linear}} = \mp \frac{N}{32\pi}\,\mathcal{E}_{k_{1}\dots k_{s}}(\mathbf{r})\,.\tag{8.56}$$

where, in the second equality, we take s > 0. We've thus demonstrated the proportionality, and found the proportionality coefficients, between the Dirichlet/electric boundary data and the linearized expectations values of the corresponding single-trace operators. The *s*-independence of the coefficients in (8.56) results from the particular normalization choice in our definition (7.2) of the CFT currents.

The sign ambiguity in (8.56), which we've been carrying from eq. (8.40), can be fixed by hand by comparing with the standard dictionary in the spin-2 case, i.e. the correspondence between the bulk graviton and the CFT stress tensor. To do this, we'd have to fix a sign convention for the relation between the Weyl tensor  $C_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$  and the corresponding bulk metric perturbation. In any case, this fixing of the signs doesn't seem essential: in GR, the sign of the metric perturbation only becomes meaningful at the interacting level, where detailed analogies with HS gravity are not very useful.

# 8.5 General boundary currents and the extent of the holographic dictionary

Let us now extract the general lessons from our calculation in sections 8.3–8.4. In analogy with the bulk asymptotics  $\mathcal{E}(\ell; Y)$  and  $\mathcal{B}(\ell; Y)$ , let us define local master-field operators on the CFT side via:

$$J(\ell;Y) = \frac{i}{8\pi} \int_{P(\ell)} d^2 u \left( \Phi(u) \, e^{iuY} + \Phi(Y+u) \right) \,; \tag{8.57}$$

$$H(\ell;Y) = \frac{i}{2\pi N} \int_{P(\ell)} d^2 u \left( \Phi(u) \, e^{iuY} - \Phi(Y+u) \right) \,. \tag{8.58}$$

From eq. (7.23), we see that at first order in the sources, these operators have the expectation values:

$$\langle J(\ell;Y) \rangle_{\text{linear}} = \frac{iN}{32\pi} \int_{P(\ell)} d^2 u \left( F(u) e^{iuY} + F(Y+u) \right) ; \qquad (8.59)$$

$$\langle H(\ell;Y)\rangle_{\text{linear}} = \frac{i}{8\pi} \int_{P(\ell)} d^2 u \left(F(u) e^{iuY} - F(Y+u)\right) \,. \tag{8.60}$$

The Y dependence of these master fields is only through the spinor component  $y^* \in P^*(\ell)$ .

The implication of the result (8.56) is that, in regions where the source  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$  vanishes,  $\langle J(\ell; Y) \rangle_{\text{linear}}$  encodes the linearized currents  $\langle j_{\mu_1...\mu_s}^{(s)}(\ell) \rangle_{\text{linear}}$  in the same sense that  $\mathcal{E}(\ell; Y)$  encodes the electric boundary data  $E_{\mu_1...\mu_s}(\ell)$ , up to the sign ambiguity in the Penrose transform (8.40). At the same time, in complete analogy with  $\mathcal{E}(\ell; Y)$  and  $\mathcal{B}(\ell; Y)$ , the tensor components of the operators (8.57)–(8.58) are automatically divergence-free. Putting everything together, we see that  $J(\ell; Y)$  encodes a tower of spin-s conformal primaries  $j_{\mu_1...\mu_s}^{(s)}(\ell)$ , conserved to all orders in the source  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$ , which at linear order correctly reproduce the expectation values of the CFT currents in regions where  $\Pi(\ell', \ell)$  vanishes. The most natural conclusion, then, is that  $J(\ell; Y)$  encodes the conserved CFT currents to all orders in the source, with all the necessary contact terms automatically included.

As for the master field  $H(\ell; Y)$ , the result of section 8.3 implies that its linearized expectation value vanishes in regions with  $\Pi(\ell', \ell) = 0$ . By construction,  $\langle H(\ell; Y) \rangle_{\text{linear}}$ is proportional to the magnetic boundary data  $\mathcal{B}(\ell; Y)$ . Thus, we expect that in regions with  $\Pi(\ell', \ell) \neq 0$ , it will encode the linearized magnetic field strengths associated with the source. This is the reason for our choice of coefficient in (8.58): we wanted to emphasize that  $H(\ell; Y)$  is more closely related to the source F(Y) than to the "current"  $\Phi(Y)$ . The interpretation of the full non-linear expectation value of  $H(\ell; Y)$  is not entirely clear to us. Perhaps the most natural possibility is that it still encodes the source's magnetic field strength, but with the non-abelian structure of higher-spin symmetry taken into account.

#### 9 Discussion

In this paper, we've shown how a twistorial description underlies both bulk and boundary pictures in the higher-spin/free-CFT holography. In particular, our boundary/twistor transform (7.11), (7.26) does the same for single-trace bilocals in the free U(N) vector model as the Penrose transform has done for free massless fields in 4d.

Our main evidence that the bulk and boundary pictures as derived from twistor space are indeed holographically equivalent is the calculation of linearized boundary currents away from sources. Beyond this, much of the relationship between our twistor language and the standard local descriptions was left implicit. It should be worthwhile to explore this relationship further. In particular, one would like to express the boundary sources' local field strengths in the bilocal language, and compare to the twistorial expression (8.58). One should also understand explicitly the local currents in regions where the source doesn't vanish, and then check how (or whether) eq. (8.57) contains the necessary information about contact terms.

On the bulk side, the main missing component in our approach, as in [16], is the relation to the nonlinear Vasiliev equations. The unbroken global HS symmetry has allowed us to "cheat" by encoding the interactions as functionals of the linearized master fields. However, to make contact with the broader realm of higher-spin theory, one should understand how to go back and forth between this approach and Vasiliev's picture of nonlinear bulk master fields.

From a fundamental perspective, the picture we laid out in this paper is very appealing: all the three geometric frameworks of bulk, boundary and twistor space are manifestly unified. Furthermore, the twistor function F(Y) provides a clean diff-invariant & gaugeinvariant encoding of the physical data on both bulk and boundary. Ideally, one would like to apply this kind of picture to more realistic holographic models, which contain General Relativity in the bulk. However, at the moment, it is unclear to us how that might happen. In our construction, we relied heavily on the fact that the boundary CFT is a free vector model — that is what allowed the bilocal formulation of the single-trace operators. Similarly, in the bulk, we made crucial use of the unfolded formulation of HS theory. It is what enabled us to cleanly encode a linearized bulk solution in terms of a master field at a single point x, which we could then use as an input for the "bulk" partition function (8.3).

While there are many reasons to study HS theory, the author's personal motivation is that it provides the only known working model of  $dS_4/CFT_3$  [40]. In that context, I am pursuing a program [32] to extract the physics inside observers' cosmological horizons. A key component in this program is the idea [41] to replace  $dS_4$  with its "folded-in-half" version  $dS_4/Z_2$ , where the  $Z_2$  refers to the antipodal map  $x^{\mu} \rightarrow -x^{\mu}$ . In [32], we managed to derive the physics inside the horizon in this picture for the linearized limit of HS gravity, i.e. for free massless fields in the bulk. The motivation of the present work was to develop tools in order to translate those preliminary results into the twistor language of HS theory, and then extend them beyond the linearized limit. It is our hope that the language we developed here will prove powerful enough for the task.

# Acknowledgments

I am grateful to Eugene Skvortsov, Slava Didenko, Mikhail Vasiliev, Antal Jevicki, Maxim Grigoriev, Vasudev Shyam and Adrian David for discussions. This work was supported by the Quantum Gravity Unit of the Okinawa Institute of Science and Technology Graduate University (OIST). During early stages of the work, YN was employed at Perimeter Institute, where he was supported by the Government of Canada through Industry Canada, by the Province of Ontario through the Ministry of Research & Innovation, as well as by NSERC Discovery grants. The initial calculations were performed while attending the MIAPP Programme "Higher Spin Theory and Duality". **Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

# References

- J.M. Maldacena, The large-N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113 [hep-th/9711200] [INSPIRE].
- [2] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253 [hep-th/9802150] [INSPIRE].
- [3] O. Aharony, S.S. Gubser, J.M. Maldacena, H. Ooguri and Y. Oz, Large-N field theories, string theory and gravity, Phys. Rept. 323 (2000) 183 [hep-th/9905111] [INSPIRE].
- [4] S. Ryu and T. Takayanagi, Holographic derivation of entanglement entropy from AdS/CFT, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 181602 [hep-th/0603001] [INSPIRE].
- [5] B. Czech, L. Lamprou, S. McCandlish and J. Sully, Integral Geometry and Holography, JHEP 10 (2015) 175 [arXiv:1505.05515] [INSPIRE].
- [6] R. Penrose and W. Rindler, Spinors And Space-time. Vol. 2: Spinor And Twistor Methods In Space-time Geometry, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K. (1986), pg. 501.
- [7] R.S. Ward and R.O. Wells, *Twistor geometry and field theory*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K. (1990), pg. 520.
- [8] T. Adamo, M. Bullimore, L. Mason and D. Skinner, Scattering Amplitudes and Wilson Loops in Twistor Space, J. Phys. A 44 (2011) 454008 [arXiv:1104.2890] [INSPIRE].
- [9] D. Skinner, Twistor Strings for N = 8 Supergravity, arXiv:1301.0868 [INSPIRE].
- [10] I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, AdS dual of the critical O(N) vector model, Phys. Lett. B 550 (2002) 213 [hep-th/0210114] [INSPIRE].
- [11] M.A. Vasiliev, Higher spin gauge theories in four-dimensions, three-dimensions and two-dimensions, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 5 (1996) 763 [hep-th/9611024] [INSPIRE].
- M.A. Vasiliev, Higher spin gauge theories: Star product and AdS space, hep-th/9910096 [INSPIRE].
- [13] T. Adamo, D. Skinner and J. Williams, *Twistor methods for AdS<sub>5</sub>*, *JHEP* 08 (2016) 167 [arXiv:1607.03763] [INSPIRE].
- [14] O.A. Gelfond and M.A. Vasiliev, Sp(8) invariant higher spin theory, twistors and geometric BRST formulation of unfolded field equations, JHEP 12 (2009) 021 [arXiv:0901.2176]
   [INSPIRE].
- [15] V.E. Didenko and M.A. Vasiliev, Static BPS black hole in 4d higher-spin gauge theory, *Phys. Lett.* B 682 (2009) 305 [Erratum ibid. B 722 (2013) 389] [arXiv:0906.3898] [INSPIRE].
- [16] V.E. Didenko and E.D. Skvortsov, Exact higher-spin symmetry in CFT: all correlators in unbroken Vasiliev theory, JHEP 04 (2013) 158 [arXiv:1210.7963] [INSPIRE].
- [17] C. Iazeolla and P. Sundell, Families of exact solutions to Vasiliev's 4D equations with spherical, cylindrical and biaxial symmetry, JHEP 12 (2011) 084 [arXiv:1107.1217]
   [INSPIRE].

- [18] C. Iazeolla and P. Sundell, Biaxially symmetric solutions to 4D higher-spin gravity, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 214004 [arXiv:1208.4077] [INSPIRE].
- [19] C. Iazeolla and P. Sundell, 4D Higher Spin Black Holes with Nonlinear Scalar Fluctuations, JHEP 10 (2017) 130 [arXiv:1705.06713] [INSPIRE].
- [20] Y. Neiman, Higher-spin gravity as a theory on a fixed (anti) de Sitter background, JHEP 04 (2015) 144 [arXiv:1502.06685] [INSPIRE].
- [21] S.R. Das and A. Jevicki, Large-N collective fields and holography, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 044011 [hep-th/0304093] [INSPIRE].
- [22] O.V. Shaynkman and M.A. Vasiliev, Higher spin conformal symmetry for matter fields in (2+1)-dimensions, Theor. Math. Phys. 128 (2001) 1155 [hep-th/0103208] [INSPIRE].
- [23] C. Iazeolla and P. Sundell, A Fiber Approach to Harmonic Analysis of Unfolded Higher-Spin Field Equations, JHEP 10 (2008) 022 [arXiv:0806.1942] [INSPIRE].
- [24] O.A. Gelfond and M.A. Vasiliev, Operator algebra of free conformal currents via twistors, Nucl. Phys. B 876 (2013) 871 [arXiv:1301.3123] [INSPIRE].
- [25] X. Bekaert and M. Grigoriev, Notes on the ambient approach to boundary values of AdS gauge fields, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 214008 [arXiv:1207.3439] [INSPIRE].
- [26] V.E. Didenko and E.D. Skvortsov, Towards higher-spin holography in ambient space of any dimension, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 214010 [arXiv:1207.6786] [INSPIRE].
- [27] M.G. Eastwood, Higher symmetries of the Laplacian, Annals Math. 161 (2005) 1645
   [hep-th/0206233] [INSPIRE].
- [28] Y. Neiman, Twistors and antipodes in de Sitter space, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 063521
   [arXiv:1312.7842] [INSPIRE].
- [29] O.A. Gelfond and M.A. Vasiliev, Higher Spin Fields in Siegel Space, Currents and Theta Functions, JHEP 03 (2009) 125 [arXiv:0801.2191] [INSPIRE].
- [30] M.A. Vasiliev, Holography, Unfolding and Higher-Spin Theory, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 214013 [arXiv:1203.5554] [INSPIRE].
- [31] Y. Neiman, Antipodally symmetric gauge fields and higher-spin gravity in de Sitter space, JHEP 10 (2014) 153 [arXiv:1406.3291] [INSPIRE].
- [32] I.F. Halpern and Y. Neiman, Holography and quantum states in elliptic de Sitter space, JHEP 12 (2015) 057 [arXiv:1509.05890] [INSPIRE].
- [33] G.S. Ng and A. Strominger, State/Operator Correspondence in Higher-Spin dS/CFT, Class. Quant. Grav. 30 (2013) 104002 [arXiv:1204.1057] [INSPIRE].
- [34] M.S. Costa, V. Gonçalves and J. Penedones, Spinning AdS Propagators, JHEP 09 (2014) 064 [arXiv:1404.5625] [INSPIRE].
- [35] S. Gull, A. Lasenby and C. Doran, Imaginary numbers are not real The geometric algebra of spacetime, Found. Phys. 23 (1993) 1175.
- [36] S. Weinberg, Six-dimensional Methods for Four-dimensional Conformal Field Theories, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 045031 [arXiv:1006.3480] [INSPIRE].
- [37] N.S. Craigie, V.K. Dobrev and I.T. Todorov, Conformally Covariant Composite Operators in Quantum Chromodynamics, Annals Phys. 159 (1985) 411 [INSPIRE].

- [38] D. Anselmi, Higher spin current multiplets in operator product expansions, Class. Quant. Grav. 17 (2000) 1383 [hep-th/9906167] [INSPIRE].
- [39] N. Colombo and P. Sundell, *Higher Spin Gravity Amplitudes From Zero-form Charges*, arXiv:1208.3880 [INSPIRE].
- [40] D. Anninos, T. Hartman and A. Strominger, Higher Spin Realization of the dS/CFT Correspondence, Class. Quant. Grav. 34 (2017) 015009 [arXiv:1108.5735] [INSPIRE].
- [41] M.K. Parikh, I. Savonije and E.P. Verlinde, *Elliptic de Sitter space:*  $dS/Z_2$ , *Phys. Rev.* **D** 67 (2003) 064005 [hep-th/0209120] [INSPIRE].